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» Corporate
Profile

NCIVEN

Established in 1988 and listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in 2005,
Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited (“Tradelink”)
(Stock code: 00536) is Hong Kong’s digital efficiency
pioneer. With the mission to empower our clients with
business enabled e-solutions for their commercial and
financial activities, Tradelink have successfully brought
the benefits of smart technology to the city’s private
and public sectors.

In addition to leading Hong Kong’s business-to-
government document compliance market, Tradelink
also offers expertise in supply chain, identity
management and payment technology solutions.
Over the years, the company has earned the trust of
governments, multinationals, and small and medium
businesses spanning all industry sectors. Tradelink’s
vision is to promote a prosperous Hong Kong where
companies and people can readily achieve and enjoy
the benefits of digital efficiency.
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» Milestones

EiZE

2023 marks the 35" anniversary of Tradelink’s establishment. Let’s look
back at some key moments of Tradelink in these 35 years!

2023 FREHEMIL 35 BF RAM—ERIEESE 35 FR—EEERZ!

2023 @

Celebrated our 35" Anniversary and
launched a rebranding campaign
Tradelink celebrated its 35" Anniversary
and affirmed its commitment to maximising
digital efficiency with a striking new corporate
identity.
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2019 @

Granted the third Government Electronic
Trading Services (“GETS") licence with a term
of 6 years, extendable up to 3 more years
Tradelink was granted the third GETS licence
(2019-2024), extendable up to 2027, to continue
providing GETS.

ZREELH 6 FRABERSE
3 89 THREFE R (TGETS 1 ) iR
BB REBNEAEAN 6 F1 TRNETHES
BR#51 KRER (2019 - 2024) > MEIERE 2027 4F > U4
ERMBAIET E SR

‘ TESS renamed
Tradelink PayTech Solutions Limited
Tradelink E-Biz Secure Solutions Limited (TESS)
was renamed Tradelink PayTech Solutions Limited
to focus on solutions that facilitate electronic fund
transfer through various payment methods and a
wide range of value-adding applications.

TESS 24%#% PTS

BREEFHBEMNREMRAR (TESS) KLRBEZE
EREARHRBRAT (PTS) » EIRFREZ BRI
FANRIEERPRBRATS R  LUIEFEFEIR

2018 @

Joined the FIDO (Fast Identity Online) Alliance

Tradelink became a member of the FIDO Alliance
to support and apply standards in biometric
authentication solutions. The purpose of FIDO is
to reduce reliance on passwords, protect against
phishing, and repel attacks using stolen passwords.

A T4 ERES (95858 (FIDO) 1 EER
B5EM% FIDO BB E » LIZIBERFER FIDO 2%
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Milestones

B2

The second GETS licence
extended till end of 2018

The Government extended the second GETS
licence granted to Tradelink for 2 years till the end
of 2018.

FE THREFERRM BR

HBIER 2 5 2018

BHEREZEN BEFEFEZRT MR (2010 -
2016) & 2018 £ °

2013 @

Celebrated our 25" Anniversary

On our silver jubilee anniversary we reaffirmed our
purposes to continue serving Hong Kong's trading
community by providing the most comprehensive,
secure and reliable e-commerce services.

B5EREEE
BRI 25 BFES  RERHREE - 2
ARNETEBRS  URBEEERATE o

‘ Established Tradelink E-Biz
Secure Solutions Limited (TESS)

TESS was established with the objective of
developing and providing secure online and mobile
payment solutions.

i8S EEFEHENRERAE
IS BEFHHENRERABTIERRIEM
WL | REBZE(RRFE -

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

From right to left: Dr. Harry Lee, Chairman of Tradelink,
Mr. Andrew Wong, Permanent Secretary for Commerce
and Economic Development (Commerce, Industry and
Tourism) and Mr. Michael Wu, CEO of Tradelink officiated
the ceremony.
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2010 @

2005 @

2004 @

Granted the second GETS licence with a
term of 7 years (extendable for 2 more years)

The seven-year GETS licence enabled Tradelink
to continue providing GETS from 2010 to 2016
extendable up to 2018.

ERAHH T M THREFE SRS B (7]
EER 2 %)

EAR T EN TBIFEFE SRR MR » LS 2010 &£
ZF 2016 F » MHERZE 2018 FRREBIFEFE SRS ©

Listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Our shares started trading on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong on 28 October 2005
under the stock code: 00536.

HERAMESZZREIRLS
FAFIRs 2005 €F 10 B 28 HESAMAEXEAER L
™ (BRI 4R5E © 00536)

Granted a six-year licence to provide GETS

After the expiry of our exclusive franchise, Government
granted Tradelink a six-year GETS licence enabling us
to continue providing the service from 2004 to 2009.

EEAM 6 F1Y THFETE MR

R LA TR TR T F 5 5 AR 3%

REERENE B TRNETERRE BE A
HA 6 £F (2004 - 2009) > EERMBINEFE R RES

Established Digital Trade and
Transportation Network Limited (DTTNCo)

DTTNCo was set up to operate a community
platform for supply chain document exchange.
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Milestones

B2

1997 @

Established Digi-Sign Certification

Services Limited (Digi-Sign)

Digi-Sign was the first commercial Recognized
Certification Authority set up in Hong Kong.

I E F IR RIR A
EFERBERANAELEREDANEE K
S o

Founded the Pan Asian

e-Commerce Alliance (PAA)

Tradelink joined hands with two other major
e-commerce service providers in the region to
establish the PAA to promote secure and reliable
e-commerce to facilitate cross border trade.

FYILZER T E e
BRERTNENMEEEEFRBHERBAIIZE
BEFHEHE  HBZEAENETHE  UWEEE
REZEFL

Commenced the seven-year exclusive
franchise to provide CETS

The franchise established Tradelink as the exclusive
provider of Community Electronic Trading Service
(CETS) from 1997 to 2003.

R 7 FRRFERURMBFETFE SRS
ZEEHEEHB 1997 £F 2003 FRIMARM
BTE ¥ 8 2 RBHEKMLER o
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1992

1988

Government became Tradelink's

single largest shareholder

The Hong Kong Government took a big stake in
Tradelink via the Financial Secretary Incorporated
and became our single largest shareholder. At the
same time, a seven-year exclusive franchise was
granted by the Government for Tradelink to provide
CETS.

EREHMAREZELNBE—RAKRR
BEEARNNZEBVMEERARZERSEZBEZE—&RK
BRER o [FIF - B2 BTVERATIEE A 7 FHRREE
RLURMBNEFERRE

Incorporated by 11 influential organisations
Tradelink was set up to promote the widespread
use of e-commerce in Hong Kong to facilitate trade.
Our founding shareholders included two of the
largest banks in Hong Kong, two container terminal
operators, an air cargo terminal operator and
prominent trade associations.

B 2iEH 11 RKEAHIERKIL

ARBEEEREIEAETHENRMIRESEE
SEM 11 REOLEBRIERE SEmEE
ERT  MASEEEAR - —HEESN RSH
TEHE -

Signed & Sealed: Mr. Anthony Charter, Chairman of
Tradelink and Miss Denise Yue, Acting Secretary of Trade
& Industry, exchanging agreements on CETS.

HESELTEEEZR IR FIEETHE
TEH R EEGH ©

Sharing a platform to announce the Shared Project are
(from left): Mr. Colin Greenfield, Director of Information
Technology Services; Mr. Anthony Charter, Chairman of
Tradelink; Mr. Joseph Wong, Acting Secretary of Trade
and Industry and Mr. Colin Sankey, Principal Assistant
Financial Secretary.

LTFEAHBBESPEDIRER L EGHIEA XS (L) Bl
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Financial Highlights
T E

>
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
BE_Z-—F
+-—B=+—H
IEEE
HK$’000
BT T
Revenue UG =& 258,815 273,825
Profit from operations (Note 7) mERA (M) 80,094 90,986
Profit attributable to equity shareholders TATIREFEAEMGERN
of the Company 52,333 73,653
Total assets BEEHTE 532,561 564,530
Net assets BERE 364,413 378,630
Dividend per share (HK cents) SRS (W)
Interim FEIR S 1.83 2.8
Proposed final EORRHEARR B 4.67 6.45
Proposed special PSS H ) 2.75 -
Earnings per share (HK cents) SRER (W)
Basic 6.6 9.3
Diluted g 6.6 9.3
Financial ratios B =
Net profit margin (Note 2) R im A (f5E2) 20.2% 26.9%
Effective tax rate (Note 3) BIRRE (f523) 11.4% 14.6%
Current ratio (Note 4) T Bh EE = (K 22 4) 3.06 2.72
> Quick ratio (Note 5) RELE R (i 225) 3.06 272
>
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
K-®-= Bom——
T B=1+—H Bagyzhkal=!
‘000 ‘000
T Bg T
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares BRTRHBBLER
As at 31 December H+=ZB=+—H 794,634 794,634
Weighted average number of ordinary shares MK+ B=+—HEB®7Z
(basic) outstanding as at 31 December BREMAE TS (R K 794,634 794,634
Note 1 Comparative figure has been reclassified to conform to the presentation of — [f{5t1 HBHFEEFHHEF > UITE X EEZ 255t
the current year.
Note 2 Net profit margin = profit attributable to equity shareholders of the — [f32 FBHEAEX=KLGFREFENELLEF a5
Company/revenue
Note 3 Effective tax rate = taxation/profit before taxation Wat3 ZERE=WRE FHEEF
Note 4 Current ratio = current assets/current liabilities Watd TEHEFE=FBEE THEE
Note 5 Quick ratio = current assets minus inventory/current liabilities Wats BEHF=FBEERFE T#HEE

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Financial Highlights (Continued)

I E (E)

Revenue (HKS million)

Wis (B EET)
>

337.2

271.9 2612 2738 258.8

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Profit for the Year (HKS million)
& Net Profit Margin

iﬁféiﬁﬂ (BYEEERT) RFHAE

33.0%
27.9%  26.9%

24.4%
W%

89.8
82.2
72.8 73.7
I I I [

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

% of Segment Revenue of Total Revenue

;J‘Eﬂllﬁtiﬂﬁll&ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁtt

P> E-Commerce EF 7
Identity Management S{3&1E

> Other Services E RS

Dividend per Share (HK cents)
Fhehe S ()

P>Final kARSI Interim ARk S | Special £35S

9.5 9.8 925  9.25

PYAN 4

€8°L

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

*  Proposed final and special dividends #RRERRG B R 45518 S

B BEFEZERAF
TETTFER



Chairman’s
Statement
TEREE

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.
ZFJh)EtE L, S.B.S,, J.P.

Chairman

xE
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Chairman's Statement (Continued)

TR&EE(E

Dear Shareholders,

Review

2022 was undoubtedly a dismal year for many businesses in Hong
Kong, with the onslaught of the fifth wave of COVID-19 that began
at the beginning of the year which further exacerbated the already
gloomy economic outlook. Although the epidemic situation generally
stabilized later the year, the contraction in Hong Kong's external
trade activities widened sharply in the second half of the year when
compared on a year-on-year basis. The global environment was in
bad shape largely due to the sudden Ukraine War, the continued US-
China political tension, and sharp rising interest rates and uneven
fiscal policies to fight inflation resulting in very volatile investment
market movements. Locally, the continued disruption to cross-border
land cargo flows also dealt a serious blow to Hong Kong’s exports.

Against this dire backdrop, the Group’s performance was expectedly
affected. But our core businesses were indeed trending only slightly
down, and it was rather the volatile investment environment that
dragged down our performance in investments and hence impacted
our earnings substantially as | explained in the interim report. In
summary, our turnover for 2022 at HK$258.8 million, was down 5.5%
compared with the turnover of HK$273.8 million in 2021. Profit from
operations dropped 12.0% from HK$91.0 million in 2021 to HK$80.1
million in 2022. The Group’s profit after tax for 2022 at HK$52.3
million was down 28.9% from HK$73.7 million recorded in 2021.

When | reviewed the Group’s performances in the first half vs the
second half of last year, it is interesting to note that while the Group
recorded only a slight year-on-year decline in turnover and profit from
operations of 2.4% and 3.4% respectively in the first half of 2022, the
full year results were somewhat dragged down in the second half of
the year, partly due to the deterioration of the external environment
as described above; and partly due to the high base for comparison
in the second half of 2021. As one may recall, the economy recorded
a strong V-shaped rebound in 2021, particularly in the second half
of 2021, setting an exceptionally high base for comparisons for the
same period in 2022.

BREURR:

[o] k&

TECCHEHBERFSEEMSERZERD
—F > FYBEBENERKCOVID- 9B BEE—F
MEATHREEXNE RIS - BERBRER
REKEAREBR  EREZFRMAML > TF
FEBHIIEZEHEENGE 2REBELDS
RETEZHRERHEIFRREL - PEH
ARFRBERR BMEMEZA LA > ME
HERNVYBBRESEARE  ERREDTH K
BAMN AT H BREREESESHE
HEBNHOEMERETE -

AFUHBHENOESET AEFENKRBEAEZIE
o R RMNWZLEBRESMTAE ELE
BEXEEMARENEHEZNREIRIE > i
EEMEREFENRR EREMANRF
ME > HE—MAAKRPHRRSFTERME-
BIEMS RN _EREEEEBIE
258,800,000t MR- B - —FEMEXEBA I
273,800,0007T /& 45.5% o R EHAH T —
F M A %91,000,0007t FE120%5E-ZT -

H) 7 #580,100,000c c ZEBE K ZZT W
IR % EF A B 152,300,000 BT - —
F 818 M B 173,700,0007T 35 2 28.9% ©

RERFAEEBEAFELFEATFENRER
AANARR BE_E-__FL¥FFEEAN
EXENEEEN DR ERFEMTER2.4% K
34%  BE2FRXERERBEE LR THENREFN
R > —MOBAREXFAREANIIERREE
BF—HORHR_Z_—ETH¥ENLEREY
RSB - BB —T2—F> FAR-Z
T—ETHEE RBHETVERYRE S B
RCETCERBR-—EARESHNEMAEHRE
EE8R
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B — et

<



Chairman's Statement (Continued)

TR&HEE(E)

Review (Continued)

On the other hand, after suffering a spike in other net loss of HK$19.7
million in the first half of 2022, mainly due to the sharp increase in
market depreciation of our fund investments and a discretionary
fixed income portfolio as a result of the dramatic market volatility,
the incremental other net loss in the second half of the year was only
HKS$0.7 million. The significant reduction in losses in the second half
of 2022 was largely due to the prudent decision made by the Board to
adopt a cautious investment strategy to contain losses by disposing
all investment funds in July and all bonds in a Single Bond portfolio in
two phases, one in October and the other in November. The decision
was made in view of the volatile market conditions, prevailing market
sentiment and overall outlook for the global economy and financial
market. With the increased interest income of HK$4.5 million from
the proceeds from the sale of all investment funds and bonds
and a subsidy of HK$3.5 million received under the Government
Employment Support Scheme 2022 to offset the fair value loss on
our other financial assets before completed disposals HKS$6.6 million
and the net foreign exchange loss on the US dollar HK$2.2 million, the
net increase of our net loss in the second half of 2022 was reduced
to HK$0.7 million. Together with the other net loss of HK$19.7 million
recorded in the first half of 2022, the net loss for the full year was
HK$20.4 million, a substantial increase over the HK$2.0 million
recorded in 2021.

Taking into account a share loss of HK$0.6 million from the results of
our PRC associate Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science & Technology
Service Company Limited (“Nanfang”), the Group recorded a profit
before tax of HK$59.1 million in 2022, a decrease of 31.5% as
compared with HK$86.2 million in 2021.

Including the impact of enhanced tax reductions for certain expenses
incurred in relation to our research and development (“R&D")
activities, the tax provision for 2022 was HK$6.7 million, which
is HK$5.8 million lower than the amount for 2021. After the tax
provision, the Group’s profit after tax for 2022 was HK$52.3 million,
down 28.9% from HK$73.7 million in 2021.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

(5] k& (48)

B—rFE ZEZZEL¥EHMBEFEMR
F+ZE # #19,700,0005T > F BB K 15 B 2K
HERBRMNESRERBERANZREZS
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19,700,0007T > & F 518 7% 58 4 & 520,400,000
T BRI —F RSB 2,000,000 K18
e

BARBM2ETEBEATNERMA SR
HEREERAG(EAINEEBERBIE
600,000 A KB K S - _FHRIBHRA
it M & 859,100,000t RZEZ—FHN A
86,200,0007T i# 2*31.5% ©

AEBRZEZ -_FNRNIEEHEREY6,700,000
7T BRZIZE Z—FE Y % 158000000 &
FESRMEREETHE) ESHMEELEST
MAEZMEBENIRBINRANEE - NRREEE
BOAEBRREI_FENRREBENAEBE
52,300,0007C > 8 - & —— £ ## 1£73,700,000
TC i 428.9% °©
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Chairman's Statement (Continued)

TR&HEE(E)

Review (Continued)

Regarding the performance of our three business segments in
2022, our E-Commerce and Identity Management (“IDM") segments
recorded a decline in revenue of 8.6% and 11.3% respectively whereas
segment profit was also down 18.2% and 45.7% respectively when
compared with the corresponding figures in 2021. Our Other Services
business, on the other hand, recorded pleasing results, with revenue
and segment profit rising by 23.2% and 45.8% respectively. The
growth in this business segment came from our Smart Point-of-Sales
(“PoS”") business, which performed exceptionally well, largely due to
the completion of the major project we mentioned in our 2021 Annual
Report.

In 2022 our E-Commerce business, which includes two business
sub-segments, GETS and Supply Chain Solutions, generated total
revenue of HK$172.2 million; a decrease of HK$16.2 million, or 8.6%,
compared with revenue of HK$188.4 million for 2021. Segment
profit also declined from HK$74.4 million in 2021 to HK$60.9 million
in 2022, down HKS$13.5 million, or 18.2%. In 2022, the overall GETS
market shrank by 9.7% compared with 2021 due to a combination
of external and internal factors in trade environment and COVID-19
restrictions. The contraction in the overall market was particularly
pronounced in the second half of 2022 compared with the same
period in 2021, during which the market rebounded strongly to set a
record high. Under the unfavorable operating environment, revenue
from our GETS business in 2022 decreased by HK$22.9 million, or
13.7% year-on-year, from HK$167.5 million in 2021 to HK$144.6 million
in 2022. While our GETS business volume declined in tandem with the
market, we recorded only a slight drop in our overall average price in
2022, due to the drastic slowdown of the growth of our major courier
customers’ business in 2022, in contrast to their soaring business in
2021, which significantly dragged down our overall average price.

(5] k& (48)

BIRMA=ZB£%oBNR_S__ENRRE >
BEFAaBEsBREHEE(EHERN SN
Ur % 59 Bl T BE8.6% K211.3% » T 47 BB & A MR 88 —
T —FEREE DB EA18.2%%457% c B—F
B SEEHEM((HER)EBERES
ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁ%i‘%%%ﬁxtﬂvmﬁﬁ-%%ﬁa’Llﬂzmigﬁ
23.2% > DEEFIEEA5.8% c FAEHEHETR
REFELEE FEAREMAETR T Z—F
FRFAMHW—EEEIEE o

EF e O IEGETS Rt ERERSEM
BEXFIB NS _FELEHEKEE
#172,200,000c BE_BE_—FEMNKF B
188,400,0007T i 4 # 116,200,0007T 58.6% °
S EBEF M Z T = — F 898 #74,400,0007T
W B #13,500,000T H18.2% E B - £
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IR E B A9 4 80 R = WL R COVID-199Z 15 Bh #2544 1
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BE WIHR—_E_—FEETERYRE
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EBR_SZ_ENHREBR_ST—FWNEE
167,500,0007T i& 2 # #22,900,0005C 5% 13.7% &
7 1%144,600,0007T - B EGETSEBEHH B
B TFE BEE - _FHNEETHERER
M Lmﬂaﬁ’“_g::ﬁzg'mﬁgﬁ%
EBERZEANRE M_S-_—FHEKAM
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Chairman's Statement (Continued)

TR&EEE(E

Review (Continued)

On the other hand, our Supply Chain business picked up considerably
in 2022, with revenue increasing from HK$20.9 million in 2021 to
HK$27.6 million in 2022, up 32.0%. Revenue growth in this business
sub-segment helped offset slightly the revenue drop in our GETS
business, thereby marginally narrowing the contraction in the
consolidated E-Commerce business segment. Our Supply Chain
solutions sub-segment was able to maintain its strong growth
momentum generated since the first half of the year. Several new
projects were confirmed, and development work commenced in the
second half of the year. As a result, additional revenues were recorded
from these projects, in addition to the stable recurring revenues from
previous projects and revenues from development work on carry-
over projects. It is worth mentioning that in addition to our usual
Warehouse Management System (“WMS") customers in the retail and
logistics services industries, we have signed up two new customers
whose business is in dutiable commodity trading to use our WMS in
combination with our Dutiable Commodity Permit (“DCP”) services
under GETS to manage their dutiable commodity warehouse inventory
and operations. Another new major project was the deployment of
our WMS that integrates with Automated Guided Vehicles (“AGVs")
supplied by a renowned automated equipment vendor to manage the
warehouse operations of a wet market operator.

In 2022, our IDM business performed unsatisfactorily with revenue of
HK$47.7 million, down 11.3% from the HK$53.8 million recorded last
year, while segment profit plunged 45.7% to HKS$5.2 million in 2022
compared with HK$9.7 million in 2021. Our IDM business has also
been severely impacted by the fifth wave of COVID-19, which led to a
slowdown and even cutbacks in investment in projects by our bank
customers. In addition, recent newcomers to the market have further
exacerbated the intense price war that already existed in the market.
As a result, revenues from all security-related products/services/
projects, including public key infrastructure-related, electronic Know-
Your-Customer (“eKYC"), biometric/two-factor authentication,
etc., have dropped with the exception of ongoing maintenance
revenues. Given the market conditions, in the second half of the year
we have shifted some of our resources and efforts to the R&D of
enhancements for existing and new products to address evolving
and changing security risks and technology trends. That said, in the
second half of 2022, a couple of new initiatives were confirmed,
one of which was a proof-of-concept project on corporate identity
management for a regulator.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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S—HE HEBEERRASRERXRBR_T_F
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Chairman's Statement (Continued)

TR&HEE(E)

Review (Continued)

Turning back to the Other Services business segment, which primarily
comprises the Smart PoS business and GETS-related services, it
recorded revenue and segment profit of HK$38.9 million and HK$22.4
million, respectively in 2022, representing an increase of 23.2% and
45.8% when compared with the corresponding figures in 2021. In fact,
sharing the same dismal operating environment as GETS, our GETS
related services recorded total revenue of HK$21.1 million in 2022,
a decrease of HK$3.0 million, or 12.2%, compared with the HK$24.1
million recorded in 2021, although the decrease was slightly less than
that of GETS, as additional revenue generated from our GETS-related
partnership with Ping An OneConnect Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
(“PAOB") slightly offset the curtailment of all other related services.
The growth in the Other Services business segment came from our
Smart PoS business, which generated revenue of HK$17.8 million
in 2022, nearly 2.4 times the revenue of HK$7.6 million in 2021. The
revenue growth in our Smart PoS business in 2022 was due in part to
the revision of fees charged under the new maintenance and support
services contract with our major bank customer. The bulk of the
growth was primarily due to the completion of the development work
on a major project involving the provision of a payment solution to a
renowned service company for deployment of about 400 Smart PoS
in its 40+ outlets in Hong Kong and Macau. While a small portion of
project revenue was recorded for the work-in-progress work done
in the first half of 2022, we were able to almost fully recognize
the development revenue from this project in 2022 as we have
successfully completed the majority of the remaining development
work in the second half of 2022. Overall, the total revenue from
payment solution projects and sales of PoS in 2022 was almost 3
times greater than in 2021.
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Chairman's Statement (Continued)

TR&HEE(E)

Review (Continued)

The performance of our PRC associate, Nanfang, was somewhat
disappointing in the second half of 2022. Although it recorded a
slight profit in the first half of the year, we had to share its loss
in the second half of 2022 in the amount of HKS$0.6 million. After
years of struggling to resolve a legal dispute case with one of the
shareholders, the largest single shareholder of Nanfang finally settled
the case and related issues by acquiring the defaulting shareholder’s
equity through a public auction. After this acquisition, Nanfang's
majority shareholder expressed an interest in acquiring our shares
in Nanfang at the same market price set in the public auction. This
provided us with a timely exit opportunity to dispose of Nanfang's
shares given its poor performance in recent years and very uncertain
business outlook. While the Sale and Purchase agreement was
signed before the end of 2022, the actual completion and payment of
the transaction is expected to take place sometime in 2023.

Prospects

2023 will be another tough year as the outlook for economic growth
remains very uncertain. The market generally expects the global
economy to have a high chance to go directionless in the first part
of 2023 before slowly recovering toward the end of the year. There
are also pessimistic views that some major economies might come
perilously close to falling into recession; reflecting the continued drag
from the war in Ukraine, as well as inflationary pressures and high
interest rates engineered by central banks such as the US Federal
Reserve to curb these price pressures. For example IMF's January
2023 World Economic Outlook Update projected that global growth
would fall to 2.9 percent in 2023. Whereas in China, expectations of
economic growth are mixed. The recent move to lift the country’s
highly restrictive zero-COVID policy is expected to provide a boost
to growth, but it remains to be seen how quickly the sudden policy
shift will be able to revitalize economic activities after three years of
heavy-handed restrictions. As the Group’'s core business is closely
tied to Hong Kong's external trading environment, which in turn is
closely coupled with China and the global economy, 2023 is expected
to be another challenging year. The continued high interest rates
and weak global demand will inevitably create strong headwinds for
the global economy. Locally, with the end of almost all pandemic
measures, the reopening of Hong Kong's border with China and the
resumption of cross-border activity, some economists are optimistic
that 2023 will be a year of recovery for Hong Kong. Of course, it
remains to be seen how things shall play out for Hong Kong with the
continued challenges and uncertainties particularly coming from the
uncertain economic revival efforts and also the geopolitical tensions
between the US and China.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Chairman's Statement (Continued)

TR&HEE(E)

Prospects (Continued)

Specifically for our GETS business sub-segment under E-Commerce,
there is no doubt that its prospects will depend on the outlook for
the global economy, particularly in China. While there is widespread
pessimism about the US and European markets in 2023, a key factor
affecting the outlook for our GETS business in 2023 is the outlook for
the Chinese economy after the end of the zero-COVID-19 strategy. At
the time of writing this report, with reference to the external economic
environment, we would prefer to take a conservative position on the
outlook for our GETS business in 2023. Aside from external factors
beyond our control, we are confident in our competitive position in
the current GETS market environment, both in terms of our market
share and our ability to charge premium prices to our customers.

With respect to the government’s Trade Single Window (“TSW"), the
government is planning for the development of its last phase, i.e.
Phase 3 (“TSW-3"). According to the current timetable, TSW-3 will
be rolled out in phases, with the final phase expected to be launched
by the end of 2027. Until TSW-3 is successfully and smoothly rolled
out across the board, it will still require the current GETS service
providers to continue providing services to the user community. While
the current GETS licence will expire by the end of 2024, we are fairly
certain that the government will need to invoke its rights under the
current licence to extend the expiry date until at least the end of 2027.
In addition, we are seeking the earliest opportunity to open a dialogue
with the government about the potential role of existing GETS service
providers and the assistance we could offer to the government to
help users migrate smoothly and seamlessly to use TSW through us.
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Chairman's Statement (Continued)

TR&EEE(E

Prospects (Continued)

As for our Supply Chain Solutions sub-business segment under
E-Commerce, we are reasonably confident of its prospects in 2023
given the solid foundation we have built in terms of product quality/
reliability and support/credentials from renowned customers in
various industry sectors. With the Group’s solid background and
history, we are able to build a brand with unique competitive edges
for our Supply Chain Solutions to serve the local market. Given that
our strength is our in-depth domain knowledge and experience in the
supply chain, we will focus on developing IT solutions/applications; if
required, to integrate with automated equipment/hardware provided
by our partners who would act as the prime contractors to implement
automated solutions for our customers. In doing so, we can focus on
the ongoing maintainability of our IT solutions and avoid taking on
unnecessary responsibilities such as deployment and maintenance
issues for those automation devices/hardware. There are several
promising cases of this nature, and we hope to receive order
confirmations from customers in due course. In addition, leveraging
the government's initiatives and funding to promote IT upgrades in
the industry, Logistics 4.0 and smart supply chain, we will seize the
opportunity to package our enterprise solutions appropriately to serve
small and medium-sized enterprise (“SME") customers, especially in
the logistics industry. We believe that more business opportunities
in the SME market could open up for this business sub-segment in
2023.

Regarding our IDM business, we are reasonably optimistic about its
prospect in 2023 after a challenging year in 2022. As | mentioned
earlier, while the business was slow in 2022, we have shifted
some of our resources to work on the R&D of new products and
enhancement of existing products to address emerging security risks
and technology trends. Among other things, we have successfully
developed a major upgrade to our digital onboarding solution,
as well as a new anti-location spoofing solution which we will be
vigorously promoting to the market in 2023. For our newly enhanced
digital onboarding solution, we already have several customers who
were not satisfied with their previous solutions and are interested
in our newly enhanced solution. In addition to our extensive R&D
work in 2022, we also worked with regulators to share the latest
vulnerabilities in the cyber world and work with them to enhance
market awareness. Following this solid groundwork laid in 2022, we
hope to see improvements in our IDM business in 2023.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Chairman's Statement (Continued)

TR&EE(E

Prospects (Continued)

The operating environment for our smart PoS business is expected
to improve in 2023 as retail market sentiment strengthens with the
removal of local COVID-19 restrictions and the return of mainland
visitors following the reopening of non-quarantine travel between the
Mainland and Hong Kong. In fact, before the end of 2022, our major
bank customer has already started discussions with us to resume
ordering new Smart PoS devices from us in 2023. As more Smart
PoS sales are made, our ongoing maintenance and support service
revenue will increase accordingly. Regarding the major project to
develop and integrate a payment system for a renowned enterprise in
the service sector, while one-off revenue from project development
has been largely been recognized in 2022, we will continue to collect
revenue from ongoing rental and support services for about 400
Smart PoS deployed in its Hong Kong and Macau outlets to use the
new payment system. All-in-all, we have a positive outlook for our
Smart PoS business in 2023. However, our expectations regarding the
prospects of our GETS-related services business are somewhat lower
due to the challenges and uncertainties in the external environment
affecting the GETS market and its related services. However, there
is one positive aspect about our Road Cargo System (“ROCARS")
business, which we hope would bounce back when normal cross-
border land cargo flows resume in 2023. In addition, we expect our
partnership with PAOB bank to continue to generate additional, stable
revenue to our GETS-related services sub-segment.

We believe that in combination with Smart PoS and GETS-related
services, our Other Services business outlook will remain stable in
2023.

As explained earlier about the disposal of our shareholding in
Nanfang, since the related Sales and Purchase Agreement has already
been signed by end of 2022, we will no longer need to share any of
their result thereafter. Meanwhile we are awaiting the completion of
all formalities for execution and payment of the transaction.
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Chairman's Statement (Continued)

TR&EEE(E

Dividends

As always, we give priority to the interests of our shareholders. As the
Group has, on the whole, been maintaining a debt-free and healthy
cash reserve, the board of directors of the Company (the “Board” or
“Board of Directors”) has recommended a payout of approximately
100% of the Group’s total profit of HK$52.3 million in 2022. This
would mean a final dividend of HK 4.67 cents per share.

Since we have sold all of our bond and fund investments and there
is no need to keep a reserve to account for valuation and potential
credit losses, the Board proposes to return the HK$21.9 million from
the reserve to shareholders as a special dividend of HK 2.75 cents
per share to mark our 35th anniversary and as a token of appreciation
for your continued support of the Group. Together with the interim
dividend payout of HK 1.83 cents per share for the first half of
2022, the total dividend for the full year 2022 (including the special
dividend) will be HK 9.25 cents per share, the same as the total
dividend payout of HK 9.25 cents per share for 2021.

Acknowledgement

The year 2023 marks the 35th anniversary of the Group’s
establishment. On this remarkable occasion, | would like to express
my sincere thanks to all those who have supported us during our
journey, including our shareholders, customers, partners, and, last but
not least, my fellow Board members and employees.

Over the decades, Tradelink has pioneered a variety of digital
innovations in Hong Kong and is renowned for its leadership in the
GETS market. With a knowledgeable and talented team possessing
in-depth experience in developing and deploying quantifiable
digital efficiency advantages, we have leveraged our resources and
market knowledge to grow our footprint across trade compliance,
smart supply chain, identity management, and payment technology
solutions for the Hong Kong Government, multinationals and SMEs.
To better position ourselves in the IT solutions industry and revitalize
our image, the Group has launched a rebranding project. The rebrand
allows us to further affirm our commitment to ‘maximising digital
efficiency’, the new tagline of our Group, signifying our promise to our
customers that, through our solution offerings, we help them achieve
and enjoy the benefits of digital efficiency in this ever-changing
market environment.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Chairman's Statement (Continued)

TR&EE(E

Acknowledgement (Continued)

Our new company logo has been simplified to reflect how the Group
is streamlining digital processes for our customers. It reflects a
strong and stable organizational structure, teamwork and synergy,
and affirms how we strive to help organizations get the most out of
their investments in the digital world.

The launch of our new logo coincides with the celebration of our
35th anniversary in 2023. Looking ahead, we will continue to help
businesses run in a smoother, more efficient and cost effective way
through our smart e-solution offerings. We will continue to deliver
innovations that enhance the digital efficiency of Hong Kong’s public
and private sector organizations.

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2023

(|

RPELEEMBETHOQARRR > UETES
EEMAATREICEBBERE - R RMREK
fisa KM ENAHAMES MRS EMIHRN
B URREMBNDENETABRBNBER
BRENERBILARAER -

EFADERNELBEERAR_ZT_=ZFE
PMERRIISEF - RERK » HMFEERM
EZEEEFRRANRER  BEPEEXUFIE
B OESBMKEERTARENARNEE - &M
HEEREREHRIF SR  ATBANEDR
EIRAHBENE

FE
EZLhiEE+ > SB.S, JP

EB “_E-_=F#=H=+H

BRBEEFEZERAR

B — et

<4



» Management
Discussion

and Analysis
EEE R RO

bTradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

Annual Report 2022



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Business Review

E-Commerce Business Review

Amid the worsening external environment that dampened demand
and disruptions to cross border cargo transportation between the
mainland and Hong Kong, the Group’s E-Commerce business saw a
widening year-on-year contraction in the second half of 2022, with
both revenue and profit recording a double-digit decline, compared
with a moderate single-digit decline in both figures in the first half.
As a result, our E-Commerce business, which includes the GETS
and Supply Chain Solutions sub-segments, reported total revenue of
HK$172.2 million for the full year 2022, down HK$16.2 million, or 8.6%,
from HK$188.4 million in 2021. Segment profit also declined 18.2%
from HKS$74.4 million in 2021 to HK$60.9 million in 2022.

In terms of the revenue breakdown of this business segment, our
GETS and Supply Chain Solutions business sub-segments recorded
revenue of HK$144.6 million and HK$27.6 million, respectively, in
2022. For GETS, this represents a decrease of 13.7% compared with
the revenue recorded in 2021, while for Supply Chain Solutions, this
represents a surge of 32.0% relative to the revenue recorded in 2021.

Taking a closer look at our GETS sub-segment, as foreshadowed
in our interim report, 2022 was indeed a very challenging year as a
number of highly uncertain external factors affected Hong Kong's
trade performance, including the Russian-Ukraine conflict, rising
energy and commodity prices, increasing inflationary pressure and
accelerated monetary tightening by major central banks. While the
GETS market recorded only a slight contraction of 0.96% year on-
year in the first half of 2022, the situation deteriorated rapidly in the
second half. In contrast to the peak season effect, which typically
boosts GETS business in the second half of the year, resulting in
the overall market expanding by an average of 10% compared with
the first half, the overall GETS market actually shrank by 3% in the
second half of 2022 compared with the first half. Coupled with a
historically high base in the second half of 2021 for comparison, the
overall GETS market contracted by 9.7% year-on-year in 2022, which
is worse than it was during the 2008/09 global financial crisis. In
fact, the market contracted by 22.8% in the fourth quarter of 2022
compared with the same period in 2021 amid the rapid and severe
spread of COVID-19 in China which led to significant disruptions in
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

manufacturing and supply chain activity later in the year. Under such
an unfavorable operating environment, our GETS business recorded
a considerable decline in revenue of HK$144.6 million in 2022, down
13.7% compared with the HK$167.5 million recorded in 2021. The
slightly larger percentage decline in our GETS revenue relative to the
market was due to two main reasons — first, one of our major shipper
customers has moved away a substantial portion of its shipments
previously shipped via Hong Kong; and secondly the usual trend of
average prices being dragged down by the business growth of our
major courier customers, as we have explained in previous reports.
For the latter, as their business growth has actually slowed down
significantly in 2022, the positive impact has been a slight reduction
in our average price decline.

As mentioned in our 2022 Interim Report, the change in the
government requirement that allows a dutiable commodities permit
(“DCP”) to cover multiple shipments to the same destination from
2022 onwards heavily impacted our DCP business, with transaction
volume and revenue falling 61% year-on-year in 2022. This also
contributed in part to the decline in turnover in the GETS sub-segment
in 2022.

Aside from external economic factors and changes to government
requirements, both of which are beyond our control, our GETS
business continued to operate smoothly in 2022 with no major
competitive threats in a stable and healthy competitive environment.
Given the quality services we have consistently provided to our
customers with whom we have long-standing relationships, we have
been able to charge our customers a premium, and, as in the past,
achieve overall price increases in our renewed contracts with them,
despite the apparently gloomy business outlook for a lot of our
customers in 2023.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

As for our Supply Chain Solutions business, continuing the strong
business growth seen in the first half of the year, this business
sub-segment saw revenue increase to HK$27.6 million for the
full year 2022 from HK$20.9 million in 2021. While revenue from
maintenance and ongoing service revenues was broadly maintained
at the same level as in 2021, all of the revenue growth in 2022 came
from projects, including those carried forward from previous years
and several newly signed projects in 2022 for which development
work was carried out during the year and revenue was recognized
on a work-in-progress basis in 2022. As mentioned in our interim
report, we commenced development work in the second half of
2022 on a new project involving the deployment of our WMS and
Transportation Management System (“TMS”) that integrate with
automated equipment provided by our hardware vendor partner for
the cold storage warehouse of a customer whose business is to
renovate, manage and operate fresh food markets in Hong Kong.
Also mentioned in the interim report was a project that was an
extension of a previously delivered solution to facilitate the end-
to-end management of the 5G network and facilities maintenance
work of our existing major telecoms service provider customer. We
received confirmation from the customer and also completed the
development work before the end of 2022. In addition to the two
previously mentioned projects, we are pleased to have signed up
two new customers involved in the trade of dutiable commodities
to use our WMS in conjunction with our DCP services to manage
the operation of their cigar/tobacco warehouses where the flow is
highly controlled and regulated. Leveraging our dominant position in
the DCP market, we developed a smart supply chain solution using
our WMS to meet the business and operational requirements of our
DCP business customers. As usual, we have received orders from
existing customers for ongoing enhancements to previously installed
solutions to respond to changing business and/or operational needs.

Looking ahead to 2023, the operating environment for our GETS
sub-segment is expected to remain fairly gloomy as the market
generally expects continued weakness in the global economy, with
most economists even expecting a global recession as they believe
geopolitical tensions will continue to impact the global economy and
anticipate further tightening of monetary policy in the United States
and Europe. We expect that many of the uncertainties and challenges
surrounding the global economy will impact our GETS business
prospects in 2023. That said, with the recent relaxation of China's
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E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

highly restrictive zero-COVID policy and the resumption of cross-
border activity following the reopening of the border, it is believed that
Hong Kong's exports will enjoy a boost. Apart from these external
factors, we are quite confident of our dominant position in the GETS
market, given our solid foundation built over several decades. Overall,
however, we would like to take a more conservative view of the
outlook for our GETS business in 2023. We will strive to do the best
we can in the areas we can control, such as continuing to provide our
customers with quality services for which they are happy to pay a
premium price.

With regard to the government’s Trade Single Window (“TSW")
development, it is pressing ahead with the rollout of Phase 2 in stages
starting in mid-2023. As for Phase 3 (“TSW-3"), which covers all
existing documents under GETS, the government’s current plan is that
it would appoint the successful tenderer to design, supply, implement
and maintain the system by the end of 2023. TSW-3 is expected to
be rolled out in three phases, with the first phase in early 2026 and
third phase in late 2027. Given the scale, complexity and significance
of TSW-3, the government’s current timetable is considered to be
quite aggressive. In any case, under the current schedule, TSW-3
would be fully launched by the end of 2027 at the earliest. Until then,
the government will still need existing GETS licensees to continue
providing GETS to the user community by invoking their right to
extend the current GETS licenses, which will expire at the end of
2024, by up to three years to 2027. We expect to hear soon about
the government'’s intention to extend the licence. In any case, the
fact remains that for decades we have been providing quality GETS
to the trade and logistics industry, and our customers have relied
heavily on us to provide reliable services that enable them to perform
time-critical functions while complying with relevant government
regulations. With our in-depth domain knowledge and experience
with customers, we are offering our assistance to the government to
facilitate a cost-effective and efficient rollout of TSW-3 and enable
customers to migrate to TSW through us in a smooth and seamless
manner. We will seize the earliest opportunity to begin a dialogue with
the government about the future role we can play as a value-added
service provider and the value we can bring to help the government
implement TSW smoothly and successfully.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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As for our Supply Chain Solutions sub-segment, in 2022 we began to
redesign our solutions infrastructure to break down the system into
modules that can be easily assembled to come up with solutions
based on user requirements. The new design enables us to not only
shorten the delivery time of our solutions, but also increase their
flexibility and agility. Also, in addition to the on-premise solutions
we have developed and deployed for enterprise customers, we have
developed a new cloud deployment of our solutions with greater
scalability and ease of installation. Such cloud deployment provides a
cost-effective solution not only for our mid-tier and SME customers,
but also benefits us due to lower cost of delivery of the solution.
With the completion of the technology enhancement project in 2022,
we hope we will be able to reap the benefits in 2023, allowing us to
realize higher margins for our projects.

With a healthy sales pipeline in place, we continue to see strong
sales momentum in 2023. Given our strengths of in-depth domain
knowledge and experience that enable us to develop solutions and
applications for customers, we will focus on the development of such
solutions and applications. If our customers require automation,
we will integrate our applications with automation equipment
provided by our partners, who will assume overall responsibility for
implementing the solution. With such a collaborative arrangement,
we can focus on the ongoing maintainability/upgrade enhancements
of our applications and leave those hardware setup and ongoing
maintenance issues to our partners. In addition, and vice-versa, we
are getting leads from our hardware vendor partners for customers
who need applications integrated with hardware equipment to meet
their specific operational requirements. There are already several
customer cases where we are working with our partners to provide
the automated solutions required by our customers.
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E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

On the other hand, taking advantage of the government’s policy to
promote innovation and technology development through various
funding schemes setup to support digital transformation and
Logistics 4.0 for stakeholders in the supply chain, we have packaged
our solutions to be within the scope of two relevant funding schemes,
namely Technology Voucher Program (“TVP") and Pilot Subsidy
Scheme for Third-party Logistics Service Providers. Specifically,
we are one of the approved technology service providers under the
TVP administered by the Innovation and Technology Commission
of the Hong Kong Government. We are promoting our solutions to
our massive GETS customer base in the supply chain and logistics
industry. With our strong domain knowledge and robust background,
we believe we can get a piece of the action in these government
initiatives.

Overall, we are fairly confident that our Supply Chain Solutions
business would achieve moderate growth in 2023. However, with the
expected downward trend in our GETS business, we hold a negative,
or at best neutral, stance on the business prospects of our combined
E-Commerce business segment in 2023.

Identity Management (“IDM") Business Review

Due to the impact of the fifth wave of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
Group’s IDM business performance in 2022 was discouraging, with
revenue declining by 11.3% year-on-year from HKS$53.8 million in
2021 to HK$47.7 million in 2022, and segment profit down 45.7%
from HK$9.7 million in 2021 to HKS$5.2 million in 2022. As explained
in our 2022 interim report, some new projects/initiatives were put
on hold by our clients in the banking and financial sector in the first
half of the year as the pandemic severely disrupted their business
operations. With the promising leads we had on hand, we hoped to
resume work with some of these customers in the second half of the
year. However, many of them chose to take a wait-and-see approach
given the high level of uncertainty in the near-term economic outlook.
In addition, the already existing price war, exacerbated by the entry
of start-up fintech companies into the market, has further impacted
the situation. As a result of these factors, several cases that we had
hopes of concluding in 2022 unfortunately fell through.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Identity Management (“IDM") Business Review (Continued)
Looking more closely at the revenue breakdown, we recognized
revenue of HKS7.7 million for our Recognized Certificate Authority-
related business and HK$18.5 million for IDM-related business
in 2022, a decrease of 32.1% and 23.8% respectively, or totally
26.5%, which was HK$9.4 million year-on-year. Specifically, for our
Recognized Certificate Authority-related business, the contraction
in revenue was mainly due to a general trend of reduced demand for
certificate and token delivery services since some years ago. As for
our IDM-related business, the decline was primarily due to a 23.8%
decrease in revenue from our eKYC projects, which itself accounted
for the majority of revenue from this business.

The decrease in revenue from our eKYC projects in 2022 compared
with 2021 was due to the completion of several major projects in
2021, whereas there were just a few carryover and new projects in
2022 with revenue recognized on development work that continued/
commenced in the year. In addition to the major eKYC project
mentioned in our 2021 annual report for which work was commenced
in 2021 with revenue recognition deferred to 2022, we have several
new projects with revenue recorded on a work-in-progress basis
in 2022. They include Phase 3 of the eKYC solution for an existing
customer and a proof-of-concept project on identity authentication
for a statutory body that we mentioned in the 2022 interim report.

On the other hand, the ongoing maintenance of our Recognized
Certificate Authority-related and IDM-related services and projects
recorded a 18.2% increase in revenue from HK$18.1 million in 2021 to
HK$21.5 million in 2022. Despite being slightly offset by the growth
in our maintenance revenue, the turnover of our IDM business still
dropped HKS$6.1 million, or 11.3%, in 2022 compared with 2021.
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Identity Management (“IDM") Business Review (Continued)

At the same time, in 2022, we continued our extensive Research
and Development (“R&D") efforts to enhance our existing or develop
new products, which was extremely important in order for the IDM
business to address the increasing and evolving cybersecurity
risks. While advancing these R&D efforts, we worked closely with
relevant regulatory bodies, to sharing with them the latest emerging
security vulnerabilities in the cyber world and possible solutions to
address these issues. Profits in our IDM business segment declined
significantly in 2022 as a result of the additional resources invested
and deployed in R&D and these groundworks.

As for the outlook for our IDM business in 2023, after the past two
difficult years due to the pandemic, we have reason to believe that
the business will rebound in 2023, given that market sentiment
seems more optimistic following the reopening of the border and
the lifting of most COVID-19 restrictions, and the solid groundwork
we have carried out in 2022. As a result of our extensive R&D work,
we have successfully developed an upgraded version of our eKYC
solution for digital onboarding that mitigates emerging security
vulnerabilities in the cyber world. Through our R&D efforts, we
have also developed a new anti-location spoofing solution. For our
upgraded digital onboarding solution, we already have a number
of potential customers who have found their existing solutions
inadequate and have expressed interest in our upgraded solution. We
will pursue these new opportunities as well as the potential to upsell
the upgraded solution to our existing customers. As for our new anti-
location spoofing solution, as previously mentioned, we have already
begun close dialogues with relevant regulatory bodies to introduce
our solution and work with them to raise market awareness of the
associated security risks. We will continue our work with regulators
vigorously in 2023 and potentially launch a proof-of-concept of our
solution for stakeholders in the market. We are hopeful that the solid
groundwork we have laid will generate momentum and help grow our
IDM business in 2023.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Identity Management (“IDM") Business Review (Continued)
Turning back to the prospects we already have on hand related to
our existing products and services, we have a number of deals that
we are fairly confident of closing, several of which are from repeat
customers. After developing and deploying a public key infrastructure
solution for digital signing of the medical records of a private hospital
a few years ago, we received expressions of interest in our solution
from several other hospitals. Recognizing the benefits of our solution,
they would like to deploy a similar solution to facilitate their paperless
process for electronic medical record management.

In summary, with the expected improvement in the operating
environment and our solid groundwork, we are reasonably optimistic
about achieving a modest growth in our IDM business in 2023.

Other Services Business Review

Continuing its strong growth momentum in the first half of 2022, our
Other Services business segment, which includes Smart PoS, GETS-
related services and partnerships, recorded outstanding results
for the full year 2022. Total revenue for 2022 was HK$38.9 million,
representing a significant year-on-year increase of 23.2% compared
with revenue of HK$31.6 million in 2021. Even more impressive was
its segment profit, which surged 45.8% year-on-year, from HK$15.4
million in 2021 to HK$22.4 million in 2022.

In terms of the breakdown of the HK$38.9 million total revenue
recorded in 2022, our Smart PoS business contributed HK$17.8
million and GETS-related services contributed HK$21.1 million.
Compared with the revenue of HK$7.6 million from Smart PoS and
about HKS$24.1 million from GETS-related services in 2021, the
revenue from our Smart PoS business in 2022 is approximately 2.4
times that of 2021, while the revenue from GETS-related services
declined by 12.2%.
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Other Services Business Review (Continued)

The growth driver for the Group’s Other Services business segment
in 2022 was our Smart PoS business, which had already generated
nearly twice as much revenue in the first half of the year as in the
same period in 2021, mainly due to additional revenue generated on
a work-in-progress basis from a major project ordered by a renowned
enterprise in the service sector. The project involved the development
and integration of a payment system to support the deployment of
around 400 Smart PoS in more than 40 outlets in Hong Kong and
Macau. As most of the remaining development and deployment
work for this project was largely completed in the second half of the
year, the total additional revenue generated from this project for our
Smart PoS business sub-segment was about HK$10 million for the
full year 2022. On the other hand, as the retail market was hit hard
by the lingering fifth wave of the pandemic almost throughout the
year, we did not receive any new Smart PoS sales orders from our
bank customers for the whole of 2022, except for the one mentioned
in our interim report that was placed just before the start of the fifth
wave. Compared with the revenue in 2021, our revenue from Smart
PoS sales in 2022 decreased by approximately HK$0.9 million. As for
revenue from ongoing maintenance and support services (“M&S")
for our bank customers for the Smart PoS devices we deployed for
their retail clients, there was a slight increase of HK$0.7 million in
2022 compared with the corresponding figure in 2021. Overall, after
a difficult initial few years, we have found a solid foundation to drive
and sustain our Smart PoS business, and have achieved growth in the
last two years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEE & &2 (E)

Business Review (Continued)

Other Services Business Review (Continued)

Our GETS-related services business primarily consists of our
ROCARS, call center services for the Customs and Excise
Department’s ROCARS, paper-to-electronic conversion services for
our GETS paper users, and our partnership with PAOB to assist in the
promotion and referral of their SME loans to our GETS customers.
Due to the unfavorable operating environment for GETS causing a
shrinkage of the market which we mentioned earlier in the report, our
GETS-related services business was also affected. The decline was
particularly significant for our ROCARS which was highlighted in the
2022 interim report. As a result of the serious disruption in cross-
border transportation between China and Hong Kong amid the fifth
wave of the pandemic, the revenue of our ROCARS business fell 43%
in 2022 compared with 2021. With the increase of revenue generated
from our partnership with PAOB in 2022 to offset partially the revenue
decline of our ROCARS and other services, the total revenue of our
GETS-related services in 2022 fell 12.2% year-on-year, slightly better
than that of our GETS business.

Looking ahead to 2023, we are optimistic about the Smart PoS
business. The retail market is expected to see a steady recovery
in 2023 as market segment continues to strengthen following the
reopening of the border with the mainland and the resumption of
normal economic activity in the post-epidemic era. A favorable retail
market will certainly benefit our Smart PoS business. As demand
increases, we expect that we will soon receive new orders for Smart
PoS from our bank customers, and in fact, before the end of 2022, our
major bank customer had already started discussion with us on their
plan to order new Smart PoS from us in 2023. The new Smart PoS
order would not only generate one-off revenue, but also ongoing M&S
revenue. As for the major project for the renowned service company,
we will continue to receive ongoing revenue from this customer for
the rental of around 400 Smart PoS deployed at their outlets and
the related support services provided to them. All-in-all, we are
reasonably optimistic about the prospects of our Smart PoS business
in 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEES &2 (E)

Business Review (Continued)

Other Services Business Review (Continued)

As for our GETS-related services, like our GETS business, we are
again taking a conservative view of its prospects in 2023 given the
rather mixed views on the global economy, which range from an
impending recession to moderate growth. The prospect of economic
growth is particularly likely in China following the end of its zero-
COVID policy and most of the related restrictions. While there is much
uncertainty in most of our GETS-related services, we are hopeful
that our ROCARS business will rebound in 2023 as cross-border land
cargo flows began to resume in early 2023. We believe the worst is
behind us and our ROCARS business can return to normal. Combined
with the revenue we expect to continue to earn from our partnership
with PAOB, we believe our GETS-related business will see some
improvement in 2023 compared with last year.

Overall, combining our Smart PoS and GETS-related services, our
Other Services business is expected to be stable in 2023.

Financial Review

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
HK$258.8 million, dropped by HK$15.0 million or 5.5% year-on-year.
In 2022, revenue of our E-Commerce and ldentity Management
segments reduced, whereas revenue of our Other Services segment
increased. The discussion and analysis of the Group’s business
performance during the year are set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Business Review”".

The Group’s operating expenses before depreciation in 2022 were
HK$170.2 million, representing a drop of 2.4% from HK$174.4 million
in 2021. It is mainly due to the year-on-year decrease of HKS$4.6
million to HK$18.2 million on the costs of purchases corresponding
to the decreased revenue from customers for supplies to customers
for projects. Staff costs was HK$118.6 million in 2022, a decrease
of 3.1% or HK$3.7 million as compared to 2021. The other operating
costs were HK$33.5 million in 2022 as compared to HK$29.3 million
in 2021, representing an increase of 14.4% or HK$4.2 million year-on-
year. Depreciation charges in 2022 was HKS$8.5 million, down by 0.1%
as compared to 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEES RO (E

Financial Review (Continued)

To better present the operating activities of the Group,
reclassifications have been made to present other net income/
loss to a line below profit from operations and to present items
relating to the Group’s investments in financial instruments and
treasury activities as part of the other net income/loss. As such, the
comparative figures of other net loss, interest income, net exchange
gain and reversal of impairment loss on other financial assets have
been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.
After the reclassifications, the profit from operations in 2021 has
been changed from HKS$87.1 million to HK$91.0 million whereas the
net profit for 2021 remains unchanged.

The Group’s profit from operations in 2022 was HK$80.1 million, a
decrease of HK$10.9 million or 12.0% as compared to 2021.

Other net loss increased by HK$18.4 million to HK$20.4 million in
2022. This was mainly due to an aggregate fair value loss of HK$32.5
million recorded in 2022 for our investments in financial instruments
including bonds in a discretionary single bonds portfolio and
investment funds before they were fully disposed of in the second
half year of 2022. Such fair value loss was attributable to the volatile
investment markets amid rising interest rates in central banks and
global inflationary pressure. In addition, the Group recognised interest
income of HKS$5.6 million in 2022 and successfully applied for
funding support from the 2022 Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”)
of HK$5.5 million.

In 2022, the Group shared a loss of HK$0.6 million from its associate,
Nanfang, a drop of HK$1.3 million as compared to 2021. In December
2022, the Group reclassified the entire interest in Nanfang from
an associate to assets held for sale after the Sale and Purchase
agreement was signed. Since then, the Group ceased to share any
result of Nanfang.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEES &2 (E)

Financial Review (Continued)

Taxation for 2022 dropped by HKS$5.8 million, to HK$6.7 million.
Reasons included that the other subsidy from the ESS in 2022
was a non-taxable item and the non-taxable bank interest income
increased by HK$4.7 million to HK$5.3 million in 2022. Besides, the
taxation for 2022 included the HK$1.7 million impact from enhanced
tax deductions for certain research and development expenditures,
compared to HK$2.1 million in 2021.

The Group's after tax profit for 2022 was HK$52.3 million, decreased
by HK$21.3 million or 28.9% as compared to 2021.

Basic earnings per share for 2022 were HK 6.6 cents, lower than that
for 2021 by HK 2.7 cents. Diluted earnings per share for 2022 were
also HK 6.6 cents, lower than that for 2021 by HK 2.7 cents.

Dividends

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK 4.67 cents per
share for 2022 (2021: HK 6.45 cents per share). The proposed final
dividend, together with the interim dividend of HK 1.83 cents per share
(2021: HK 2.8 cents per share) paid on 7 October 2022 amounted
to HK 6.5 cents per share for 2022. The total amount of interim and
proposed final dividend for 2022 represents a payment of 99% of
the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders. As at 31 December
2021, the Group kept retained profits of HK$22.2 million as reserve
for potential devaluation and credit losses of bonds and investment
funds. Since all these financial instruments were disposed of in 2022,
the reserve became available for distribution. Apart from the final
dividend, the Board has also recommended a special dividend of HK
2.75 cents per share, representing almost 100% of such reserve, to
celebrate the Group’s 35th anniversary. As a result, the total dividends
will be HK 9.25 cents per share, the same as the 2021 total dividends.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEES RO (E

Financial Review (Continued)

Dividends (Continued)

The proposed final dividend and special dividend will be submitted to
shareholders for approval at the annual general meeting on 12 May
2023. If approved, the final dividend and special dividend will be paid
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on 19 May 2023, on or about 31 May 2023.

The Board reminds shareholders that the Company's dividend policy
enunciated at the time of our IPO in 2005 is that it will pay no less
than 60% of its distributable profit as dividend. The Group has been
giving out dividend to our shareholders as much as possible out of
our attributable profits provided that it is allowed by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and also for the sake of prudency, it would
enable us to have reserve against unforeseeable risk as well as
potential future business expansion/investment. The fact that the
payout in excess of our distributable profit for 2022 is an exceptional
consideration for reason explained above and does not set as a
precedent for our future dividend payout and does not mean that the
policy has changed.

Liquidity and Financial Position

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had total cash and bank deposits
of HK$436.5 million (2021: HK$209.2 million). The increase in the
cash balance by HK$227.3 million was mainly attributed to the impact
of the proceeds collected from disposing all bonds, investment funds
and an equity security of HK$234.1 million during 2022. Details of
the investments in other financial assets are set out in the section
headed “Significant Investments Held” below.

Total assets and net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2022
amounted to HK$532.6 million (2021: HK$564.5 million) and
HK$364.4 million (2021: HK$378.6 million) respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no borrowings (2021: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEES® RO (E

Financial Review (Continued)

Significant Investments Held

To balance risk and returns, all investments in the other financial
assets were made in accordance with the investment guidelines
which had been approved by the Board of the Company. In view
of the volatile market conditions, prevailing market sentiment
and overall outlook of the global economy and financial market
(including the bond market) in 2022, the Board, taking into account
the opinions of its Investment Committee, considered that it was
prudent and necessary to adopt a cautious investment strategy to
contain further risks. During 2022, the Group fully disposed of its
investments in financial products for risk mitigation. Firstly, the
Group fully redeemed its investments in the investment funds issued
by UBS and HSBC Asset Management in July 2022. Reference is
made to the announcement of the Company dated 14 July 2022
regarding “Discloseable Transactions — Redemptions of Financial
Products”. Secondly, the Group disposed all the investment in Tracker
Fund of Hong Kong in July 2022. Thirdly, the Group disposed of all
bonds in a discretionary single bonds portfolio in October 2022 and
November 2022. The discretionary single bonds portfolio was closed
in December 2022. Reference is made to the announcements of the
Company dated 21 October 2022 and 30 November 2022 regarding
“Voluntary Announcement — Partial Disposals of Bonds in a Single
Bonds Portfolio” and “Voluntary Announcement - Full Disposal
of Bonds in a Single Bonds Portfolio” respectively. After these
transactions, the Group ceased to hold any investments in bonds,
investment funds or listed equity securities as of now.

Before other investment or business opportunities were identified, the
cash surplus reserves of the aforesaid financial assets were parked
in bank deposits as a part of our treasury operations to improve the
yield of the Group’s cash surpluses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
BIEE s & o ()

Financial Review (Continued)

Significant Investments Held (Continued)
The movements in the other financial assets held by the Group during

the year are as below:
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Financial Review (Continued)

Significant Investments Held (Continued)
The details of the investments are as below:

(i) Listed debt and equity securities measured at FVPL

The Group fully disposed of the bonds in a discretionary single
bonds portfolio and the Tracker Fund of Hong Kong in 2022,
which were accounted for as FVPL previously.

(@) The Group sought to achieve the investment objectives of
reducing investment concentration risk and to enhance
returns of its cash surplus reserves for shareholders.
The Company entered into a discretionary asset
management mandate with UBS AG, Hong Kong Branch
(the “Manager” or UBS) on 8 July 2020 and subsequently
invested its cash surplus reserves in a USD-denominated
discretionary Asian investment grade single bonds
portfolio. The investment cost was HK$154.4 million.

The Company agreed to pay the Manager a management
fee, payable quarterly in arrears, which was equal to
0.65% per annum applied to the monthly value of the
managed portfolio based on the last business day of the
previous month. The fees covered the management fee,
transaction fee and custody fee. The Manager managed
assets in the portfolio in accordance with the terms of
the investment strategy set. The objective was moderate
appreciation of assets. Moderate volatility of asset value
expected. The Company had the right to change the
investment strategy, add or withdraw funds at any time.

During the year, this portfolio recorded a fair value loss of
HKS$15.5 million (2021: fair value gain of HK$0.2 million)
which included accrued interest from the bonds, net of
management fees. Each of the bonds disposed of in 2022
was of no more than USS$0.5 million in nominal value.

(b) The Group invested in Tracker Fund of Hong Kong at the
cost of about HK$4.4 million during 2021. Fair value loss
of HK$0.3 million (2021: HK$0.8 million) was recorded for
this investment in 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
BIEE s & o ()

Financial Review (Continued)

Significant Investments Held (Continued)

Units in investment funds measured at FVPL

In 2022, the Group redeemed all USD-denominated units in
investment funds which were issued by UBS and HSBC Asset
Management. The investment funds recorded an aggregate
fair value loss and dividend income of HK$16.7 million (2021:
HK$5.7 million) and HKS$0.9 million (2021: HKS$1.3 million)

(if)

respectively in 2022.
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The details of the investment funds were as below: HEESHNEFBOT
Rame of funds Investment strategy Investment cost Redemption proceeds
BEE0E RERK REMS BEFRFHE
USS$ million US$ million
EEE3 HEET
UBS (CAY) Investment Fund Series - Mainly invest in USD-denominated fixed income securities issued 1.0 0.6
UBS Asian Bonds Series 5 (USD) by sovereigns, quasi-sovereigns and corporates in the Asian
HRCA)REEERT - Pacific ex-Japan region
HRDBMEHRFI5 (ET) IERERTRME (AARRN BEEEE  FIREER
EEBTUETHENEERAZS
UBS (CAY) Investment Fund Series - Mainly invest in USD-denominated fixed income securities issued 3.0 21
UBS Asian Bonds Series 6 (USD) by sovereigns, quasi-sovereigns and corporates in the Asian
HRCA)RERERT - Pacific ex-Japan region
HRDBMEHRFI6 (E7T) IERERTRME (AARRN BEEEE  FITREER
EEBTUERTHENEERAZS
HSBC Investment Funds Trust - Mainly invest in a broad spread of quoted bonds, government 3.0 26
HSBC Asian Bond Fund bonds, other unquoted fixed-interest securities and financial
ELREESER- derivative in Asia
ELTMEFES IERERTHNSBSRHEES  BAES £
FHEESESRERITEER
HSBC Global Funds ICAV - Mainly invest in shares of companies that are based anywhere 3.0 25
Multi Factor Worldwide Equity Fund in the world, real estate investment trusts and depository receipts
TERERUAZHABNRS  EHEREEANELES
HSBC Global Investment Funds - The fund's exposure is mainly to bonds and shares related to 1.0 0.9
Managed Solutions - Asia Focused Conservative Asia-Pacific excluding Japan
ELRRRERS - 28E-TNERRT ZESTEEARTAUE(AARINHEESRRBHER
HSBC Global Investment Funds - The fund's exposure is mainly to bonds and shares related to 1.0 0.8
Managed Solutions - Asia Focused Income Asia-Pacific excluding Japan
ELRRREARS-28E-TNERBAR ZESTIEEARTAUE(AARNHEESRRBHER
HSBC Global Investment Funds - The fund's exposure is mainly to bonds and shares related to 1.0 0.7
Managed Solutions - Asia Focused Growth Asia-Pacific excluding Japan
ELRRRERS -2EE-TNERER ZESTEARTAUE(AARNHEESRRBHER
Total 13.0 10.2
k]
4
BREEFESERAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEES® RO (E

Financial Review (Continued)

Significant Investments Held (Continued)
(iii) Listed debt securities measured at FVOCI

The Group fully disposed of the 2 USD-denominated and
non-investment grade corporate bonds during 2022 to close
the exposure in them for risk mitigation. The 2 corporate
bonds were issued by Hong Kong listed companies or their
subsidiaries in the real estate sector. Each of the bonds
disposed of in 2022 was of no more than US$3 million in
nominal value.

The total investment cost of the 2 corporate bonds was HKS$9.7
million. Upon disposal, the Group recorded a loss of HK$1.5
million. On the other hand, a reversal of the provision for
impairment loss (i.e. expected credit loss) of HK$1.4 million
was made.

Interest income from the listed debt securities decreased to
HKS$0.2 million (2021: HK$2.8 million) as a result of reduced
investment in these assets year-on-year.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not hold any other significant
financial investment as at 31 December 2022.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Group did not
have any material acquisitions or disposals in relations to subsidiaries
and associates during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Capital and Reserves

As at 31 December 2022, the capital and reserves attributable to
shareholders was HK$364.4 million (2021: HK$378.6 million), a
decrease of HK$14.2 million from the end of 2021.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEES RO (E

Financial Review (Continued)

Charges on Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has obtained two bank
guarantees totaling HK$2.2 million (2021: two bank guarantees of
HK$2.2 million) issued to the Government for the due performance
by the Group pursuant to the terms of the contracts with the
Government. The bank guarantees are secured by a charge over
deposits totaling HK$2.2 million (2021: HK$2.2 million). Other than
the foregoing, the Group did not have any other charges on its assets.

Capital Commitments

Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December 2022 not
provided for in the financial statements amounted to HK$1.9 million
(2021: HKS0.3 million), mainly in respect of the purchase of computer
equipment for the Group.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed 255 staff (2021: 267),
of which 221 are in Hong Kong and 34 in Guangzhou. The related
staff costs for the year came to HK$118.6 million (2021: HK$122.3
million). The Group’s remuneration policy is that all employees are
rewarded on the basis of market levels. In addition to salaries, the
Group provides staff benefits including medical insurance and
contribution to staff's mandatory provident fund. To motivate and
reward staff, the Group has various commission, incentive and bonus
schemes to drive performance and growth. The Company operates
a share option scheme to reward the performance of staff at senior
vice president grade and above.

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates and Related Hedges
As at 31 December 2022, other than its investments in the PRC and
Macau incorporated entities and other financial assets denominated
in US dollars, the Group had no foreign exchange exposure and
related hedges.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s accounting policies
and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022. It also had independent discussions with the internal
auditor and the external auditor, KPMG, without the presence of the
management team.

fi %5 o] & (48)
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEhkaREBEAGR)

Directors

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, s.B.S., J.P., aged 80, was appointed as
Director on 19 September 2000. He is also our Chairman. He holds
a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering from the Imperial
College, London, the United Kingdom and a Doctorate from
Brown University, the United States. Dr. LEE was appointed as the
Chairman of TAL Group in 2012, which currently employs about
20,000 employees. He joined Textile Alliance Limited in Hong Kong
in 1973 and in 1983, was appointed as Managing Director (title
changed to Chief Executive since 2010) of TAL Apparel Limited.
He was a Director of The Link Management Limited (now known
as “Link Asset Management Limited”) and of Phillips-Van Heusen
Corporation. He has over 40 years’ experience in the textile and
garment industry. Dr. LEE is actively involved in a number of trade
organizations and public services in Hong Kong. He is the Honorary
Chairman of Textile Council of Hong Kong Limited and the Hong
Kong Garment Manufacturers Association. In addition, he is currently
holding the position of the Advisor, Chairman Emeritus of the Hong
Kong Research Institute of Textiles & Apparel Ltd (HKRITA) and the
Chairman of the Committee of Overseers of Lee Woo Sing College
of the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Dr. LEE was awarded the
Honorary Fellowship of the Textile Institute in 2019 in Manchester,
United Kingdom. He was named in the Queen’s birthday honours
list as an Officer of the British Empire ("OBE”) in 1996. He was
appointed as Justice of Peace (“J.P.") in 1997 and was awarded
the Silver Bauhinia Star (“S.B.S.”) at the Fourth Anniversary of the
Establishment of the HKSAR in 2001.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung, aged 63, was first appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in March 2013 and
subsequently took over the CEO position in July 2015.

Before joining the Company, Mr. TSE had worked mostly in the
financial industry covering the Asia Pacific region. He began at State
Street in 1993 to develop and lead its investment servicing business
in the region and completed his career there as an advisor till early
2015. Before State Street, he had worked for Standard Chartered,
Ogilvy & Mather, Baring Securities and the Hong Kong Government.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEhkahEBEAGR)

Directors (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. TSE has served on many committees and boards. In 2021,
he stepped down from the Process Review Panel of the Financial
Reporting Council as well as the governing boards of New Life
Psychiatric Rehabilitation Association and the Global Legal Entity
Identifier Foundation, where he continues to serve as Ambassador.
He now serves on the Hang Seng Index Advisory Committee, Pan
Asian e-Commerce Alliance Steering Committee, and Lee Woo Sing
College Board of Overseers of the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. TSE received the CW Chu Scholarship to study in the US and
obtained his BA from Lawrence University. He got his MBA and MA
(Buddhist Studies) from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and
also got the Government’s sponsorship to obtain his MPA from the
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew, aged 53, was appointed as Director
and acting DCEO of the Company on 15 November 2011. He was the
DCEO of the Company and re-designated to be the Chief Technology
Officer of the Company on 1 January 2017. He is also a Director
of the Company’s various subsidiaries. Mr. CHENG holds a Master
of Commerce degree in Information Systems from the University
of New South Wales, a Master of Engineering degree from the
University of Sydney, a Bachelor of Engineering degree with Honours
in Electrical Engineering from the University of Sydney and a Bachelor
of Science degree from the University of Sydney. Mr. CHENG has 30
years' experience in IT-related business, covering internet security,
domestic and international supply chain, logistics and finance. He
was a specialist in the consultancy on the setting up of a Public
Key Infrastructure by the Hong Kong Government and is currently a
member of the Expert Review Panel of Hong Kong R&D Centre for
Logistics and Supply Chain Management Enabling Technologies.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEhkaREBEAGR)

Directors (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily, aged 66, was appointed as Director
on 2 September 2008. She joined the Company in 1992. She is
currently the Chief Operations Officer of the Company and is also a
Director of the Company’s various subsidiaries and associate. Ms.
CHUNG graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor
of Science degree and a Master of Science degree in Engineering.
Prior to joining the Company, Ms. CHUNG worked in the then
Government of Hong Kong for over 11 years providing management
consultancy services to government bureaux and departments. Since
joining the Company in 1992, she has gained over 30 years of solid
and diversified experience in the management of various aspects
of e-commerce business including the Company’s core business in
Government Electronic Trading Services and supply chain solutions
for the business community in Hong Kong. Under her leadership,
the Company stands consistently and firmly as the dominant player
in the Government Electronic Trading Services market under the
consecutive licenses granted by the Government.

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LEE Delman, aged 55, was appointed a Director of the Company
on 29 October 2012. Dr. LEE Delman holds a doctorate from
the University of Oxford and a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical &
Electronics Engineering from the Imperial College, London. He is the
Vice Chairman for TAL Apparel Limited (“TAL"). He is responsible
for driving TAL's long-term strategy in operations, technology and
value-added services to customers. He looks after information
technology and supply chain projects — from IT infrastructure to
logistics management throughout the entire organization. He is the
architect behind TAL's current enterprise resource planning (ERP)
system. He is also responsible for global operations initiatives such
as standardization of work methods, cultivation of a continuous
improvement organization and corporate social responsibility.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Directors (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. LEE Delman joined TAL in 2000. He was appointed a member of
the TAL Group’s Executive Committee in 2006 and became President
and Chief Technology Officer in 2010. He currently holds the position
of Vice Chairman. He has a strong background in research. Prior to
joining TAL, he was a researcher at UK based Sharp Laboratories of
Europe for three years. There, he was responsible for the commercial
application of modern computer vision techniques to stereo
photography and stereoscopic displays. He has worked as a research
fellow at University of Pennsylvania in the US and University of Leeds
in the UK in various aspects of imaging.

Dr. LEE Delman has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director and a member of the Risk Committee commencing from 21
March 2017, a member of the Nomination Committee and member
of the Audit Committee commencing from 1 December 2017, the
Chairman of the Environmental, Social, and Governance Committee
from 26 November 2020 of The Bank of East Asia, Limited (listed on
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He has
joined the board of Dairy Farm International Holdings Ltd (a standard
listing on the London Stock Exchange as its primary listing, with
secondary listings in Bermuda and Singapore) on 9 May 2018 and
retired with effect from 30 November 2021.

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth, aged 67, was appointed as Director on 26
June 2012. He was a Director of the Company during the period from
16 September 1996 to 9 May 2008. Mr. YING retired from COSCO-HIT
Terminals (Hong Kong) Limited (“CHT") as the Managing Director, Asia
Container Terminals Limited as the Executive Director and the Hutchison
Port Holdings Trust (a trust listed on the Singapore Exchange) as an
EXCO member on 30 April 2016. Mr. YING has over 31 years’ experience
in the finance and logistics sector. Prior to joining CHT, he had held
various executive positions at Hutchison Port Holdings Limited (“HPH").
He was the Executive Director of Hongkong International Terminals
Limited and the Finance Director of South China Division of HPH. He is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and also a fellow member of the Chartered Association of Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom. He was a member of the Port
Development Advisory Group of the HKSAR.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEhkaREBEAGR)

Directors (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent, aged 55, was appointed a Director of
the Company on 11 May 2018. He has 28 years of experience in the
maritime industry. He started his career in Hongkong International
Terminals Limited where he held a number of business development,
commercial and management positions. Since 2012, Mr. YUEN has
been a member of the Hutchison Port Holdings Trust (“HPH Trust”)
Exco, a committee of executives that determines the strategy for
HPH Trust. HPH Trust is the world’s first publicly traded container
port business trust listed on the Main Board of the Singapore
Exchange. As the Managing Director of Port Services and Logistics
Division of HPHT Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of HPH
Trust, Mr. YUEN leads both Hutchison Logistics (HK) and Asia Port
Services that provide seamless total supply chain solution across
sea, air and land networks from container depot, warehousing and
distribution to freight handling, trucking and feeder service. Mr.
YUEN has a Bachelor of Science in Geology and Geophysics from
the University of Hawaii at Manoa and holds a Master of Science in
Environmental Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He is a chartered fellow of the Chartered Institute of
Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAK Hubert, aged 61, was appointed as Director of the Company
on 21 October 2002. Mr CHAK is currently an Executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer of SF REIT Asset Management Limited
(“SF REIT Manager”), the manager of SF Real Estate Investment Trust
(stock code: 2191) which is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and is also one of the Responsible Officers of SF REIT
Manager.

Mr. CHAK joined Link Asset Management Limited, the manager
of Link Real Estate Investment Trust in June 2010 and was its
Director of Finance when he left in August 2018. Prior to that, he
was an executive director of CSI Properties Limited from April
2007 to May 2010. He also held various senior management
positions at Pacific Century group between October 1999 and
February 2007 and was an executive director of Pacific Century
Premium Developments Limited from May 2004 to February
2007.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEhkahEBEAGR)

Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. CHAK began his career with KPMG in Hong Kong and worked as
an investment banker between 1990 and 1999. He holds a Master of
Business Administration Degree and a Bachelor of Science degree
in Mechanical Engineering from University of Wales (now known as
Cardiff University).

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay, aged 80, was appointed as Director of the Company
on 1 September 2009. He was the non-executive Chairman of the
board of directors of the Company from 1998 to 2002. Mr. CHAU
graduated from The University of Hong Kong in 1967. He served in the
Hong Kong Government from 1967 to 2002. Between 1988 and 2002,
Mr. CHAU served in a number of principal official positions in the
Government, including Secretary for Trade and Industry, Secretary for
Commerce and Industry, Secretary for Broadcasting, Culture and Sport,
and Secretary for Health and Welfare. Following his departure from
the Government, Mr. CHAU has been an independent non-executive
director of the Hong Kong Main Board listed SUM Holdings Limited
since 2008 and ceased this position on 15 June 2022. He has been
appointed by Wharf Real Estate Investment Company Limited (listed on
the Hong Kong Main Board) as an independent non-executive director
with effect from 1 January 2021. Mr. CHAU was awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong Government in 2002.

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan, aged 61, was appointed as Director of the
Company on 9 February 2015. She has over 30 years of experience
in financial management and planning. Ms. CHAN joined The
Dairy Farm Company, Limited on 16 April 2016 as North Asia Food
Finance Director and left her job as Project Lead — China Expansion
(Convenience) on 17 October 2018. The Dairy Farm Company, Limited
is a member of Dairy Farm International Holdings Limited which
has a standard listing on the London Stock Exchange as its primary
listing, with secondary listings in Bermuda and Singapore. Before
joining the Dairy Farm Group, Ms. CHAN was CFO, China Beverage
and Senior Region Financial Planning & Analysis Director, China
Region of PepsiCo Inc. in Shanghai. During her employment with
PepsiCo Inc., she had also worked in Guangzhou, Shenzhen and
Hong Kong. PepsiCo Inc. is listed on The New York Stock Exchange.
Prior to joining PepsiCo Inc., Ms. CHAN had worked in Hong Kong for
ExxonMobil Chemical and Nestlé S.A. (listed on SIX Swiss Exchange).
Ms. CHAN graduated from University of Western Ontario, Canada in
1983 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economic and Administrative
& Financial Studies and obtained a Master of Business Administration
in Marketing from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1985.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEhkaREBEAGR)

Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy, aged 73, was appointed as
Director on 11 May 2007. He has over 28 years of experience in
financial advisory, taxation and management. He was a partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers and retired in June 2005. In October 2005,
he joined a professional consulting firm, Russell Bedford Hong Kong
Limited (now known as Russell Bedford Hong Kong), as Director-Tax
& Business Advisory. Mr. CHUNG is a member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the Taxation Institution of Hong Kong
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA").
He was the President of the Hong Kong branch of ACCA for the year
2005/06. With effect from 4 October 2022, Mr. CHUNG has been re-
designated from an Independent Non-executive Director to a Non-
executive Director of Lee Kee Holdings Limited (listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) and was appointed as a member of
its Corporate Governance Committee.

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P., aged 62, was appointed a Director
on 13 May 2005. He holds a Bachelor’s degree from The University of
Hong Kong. He is the Executive Director of the Hong Kong Shippers’
Council. As he now shapes the thrust of the Shippers’ Council
mandate as the voice of the Hong Kong shippers, he has considerable
experience in aspects of trade and transport of goods. Prior to the
Shippers’ Council, Mr. HO was Deputy Managing Director of Swire
Shipping (Agencies) Limited and Taikoo Maritime Services Ltd,
gaining experience in liner shipping, warehousing and distribution,
freight forwarding, container haulage, mid-stream operations, China
feeders, transport and logistics services.

Mr. HO is an Independent Non-executive Director of the SF REIT Asset
Management Limited appointed on 29 April 2021, the manager of SF
Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code: 2191) which is listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He is also appointed by
the HKSAR Government as a member of the Land and Development
Advisory Committee and its Land Sub-Committee from 1 July 2021
to 30 June 2024.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. HO is a member of the Logistics Industry Training Advisory
Committee, the Occupational Safety and Health Council, and the
Private Columbaria Appeal Board, and a Director of the Urban Renewal
Fund. He is also a member of the Transport & Shipping Committee of
the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce, Logistics Services
Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council
and the Hong Kong Taiwan Business Cooperation Committee. Mr. HO
is the current Chairman of Hong Kong Logistics Management Staff
Association, Fellow and Council Member of the Chartered Institute of
Logistics & Transport in Hong Kong.

Mr. HO was appointed a member of the Hong Kong Logistics
Development Council, the Port Operations Committee and the
Dangerous Goods Standing Committee for several years and
Chairman of the Hong Kong Liner Shipping Association for 1993-
1995 and an advisor to the Shenzhen Ports & Harbour Association.
He was elected as a member of the Election Committee for the Chief
Executive in 2011, 2016 and 2021.

Senior Management

Mr. TSE Kam Keung - Chief Executive Officer
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily

Ms. PANG Kit Fong

- Chief Technology Officer
— Chief Operations Officer
- Chief Financial Officer

Mr. TSE, Mr. CHENG and Ms. CHUNG are also directors of the
Company. Their biographical details have already been set out above
under the sub-heading “Directors”.

The biographical details of Ms. PANG are set out as follows:

Ms. PANG Kit Fong, aged 40, joined the Company in 2009 and has
been appointed as the Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2023.
Prior to that, Ms. PANG worked in PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd.
for audit services. She holds a Bachelor's degree in Professional
Accountancy from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Ms. PANG
is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
She has over 17 years of experience in accounting, auditing and
financial management.
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Corporate Governance Report

CEEARSH

Compliance with Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code")

The Company is committed to a high standard of
corporate governance and the Board believes that good
corporate governance is fundamental to effective and
proper management of the Company in the interests of
our stakeholders. We have made every effort to ensure full
compliance with the code provisions in Part 2 of the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”). The Company confirms that we have complied
with all code provisions during the year ended 31 December
2022.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules to govern our Directors’ dealings in
the Company’s securities. Having made specific enquiry,
all Directors have confirmed compliance with the required
standards during 2022.

Our Purpose and Vision

Given our mission is “to empower our clients with business
enabled e-solutions for their commercial and financial
activities”, we develop, market and support smart IT solutions
for our clients with the purpose of creating opportunities in
digital efficiency for businesses and people. We promise to
maximize digital efficiency for our customers.

Encompassing our purposes and what we stand for, our vision
is “to promote a prosperous Hong Kong where companies and
people can readily achieve and enjoy the benefits of digital
efficiency.”

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAHRSEE (E)

(4) Our Values @) EMANEREOEE

Guiding us in everything we do, our values are set out below:

SIEHRFA—S—1THRLEEEREUTS

Br=

Trust We work diligently to uphold our reputation for helping organizations maximize their digital
efficiency and successfully get more value from technology.

AEHE EMNEBEEEREM —BESHTBU B IRAEEZERANBBNGE > TRHER
KERALEFSEKRER -

Transparency We are open and direct in the way we communicate and conduct our business. We encourage
information sharing across the company. We own up to our mistakes, work to correct them and
learn from them.

NHEHRA BRAXBHREENBEENENREZ - RMBENEAE > TEHRHNE > TRERPES -

Teamwork We are committed to close teamwork, among ourselves, with our business partners and
customers, with regulators and others we work with.

5] B 45 4 EMERERSE URERSHM  BESERH - -FR UETHEEHRE  MERUE

Thoughtfulness

EHNEERE -

We give our team members the resources and support to understand the pain points of our
customers and offer practical solutions to overcome them. We cultivate empathy and care for
each other, our customers, and all stakeholders whose lives we touch.

BRI EMARERUREERNZE  UTHREREXENMEMET > KMREEANMBARALE -
RMEBEREL > BAERME  UREXPMNSOEMSE -

Technology Our role is to maximize digital efficiency with a science-based approach that involves
measuring performance and constantly seeking improvement. We will continue to explore
innovative new technology that can help raise digital efficiency in Hong Kong.

BEmE EMUBRKRAXRNG L BABN FEBHSKRESEH > THBEHBENE - HMEE
BRAOMRAIFHE HPEAERSHEBNE -

Timely We respect people’s time. From developing effective e-solutions to responding swiftly to
customer requests, we seek to make best use of time. Working with a sense of timeliness helps
us meet deadlines and keeps us ahead of technological change.

B B G HEAMEEANER ALLERNEERARRMARBELAN—KRA - ‘REEBHNEF

CEFFER > ERAROBETFFR RABKEEROBEANERNR AN G > BEFRE
EEHMBENMEPREES -
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAKRSEE (E)

(5) Our Culture

Our corporate values shape our organizational culture. Evolved

from our values, our culture describes the behaviors and

practices in our work environment and is used to promote our

business efforts and define ourselves as a company. We strive

to promote healthy cultures and to focus on helping employees

feel supported, valued and motivated. By generating feelings

of community and positivity in the workplace, we aim to boost

productivity, reduce turnover and improve morale.

Our culture is described as below:

»

Tradelink is a business dedicated to helping organizations
maximize digital efficiency.

Our work on the forefront of technology offers tremendous
potential advantages to business organizations.

Yet the challenges of rapidly-evolving technology can
create uncertainty and hesitation in those who can benefit
from it.

It is therefore essential that Tradelink is seen to be
trustworthy by all our stakeholders.

To achieve this we nourish a culture in which integrity is
our highest value. We encourage, recognize and reward
positive contributions. And we ensure factors that can
undermine trust are readily identified, corrected and
prevented.

Tradelink is committed to ethical business practices,
which is upheld by our corporate policies and procedures.

As a public body we aim to be as transparent as possible
in our affairs and communications.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAHRSEE (E)

(5) Our Culture (Continued)

(6)

> We promote impartiality in our decision-making and
seek to objectively work in our customers’ best interests.
To achieve that we embed processes into our customer
relationships designed to measure, review and optimize
the services and solutions we provide.

Over the decades we have worked hard to earn our reputation
for trustworthiness. We nourish and instill our culture by
promoting and policing our six core values.

The Board has reviewed the statement of corporate culture, its
purpose, values and strategy as disclosed above.

Risk Management & Internal Controls

The Group is committed to the continuous enhancement of risk
management framework, capabilities and culture across the
Group to strengthen our ability in achieving business objectives.
Appropriate risk management activities are embedded into the
business planning, project management, contract management,
business operations and organizational procedures. The Group
is willing to take reasonable and manageable risks in pursuit
of our strategic business objectives. The reasonableness
and manageability vary from business segment to business
segment.

Once risks, including those which are Environmental, Social and
Governance-related, have been identified, recorded, analysed,
and the agreed treatments have been implemented, an
appropriate monitoring and reporting regime will be established
to provide assurance that the treatment is effective and helps
to control the risk. Appropriate risk treatments are embedded
into daily operations. The risk will be continuously monitored
depending on the subsequent risk rating and the strength of
controls to treat the risks. All staff have the responsibility for the
continuous monitoring of risks and operation of controls within
their area of responsibility. In particular, close attention would
be paid to those risk areas with a strong reliance on internal
controls and processes to bring the risk to an acceptable level.
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(6) Risk Management & Internal Controls

(Continued)

The Company believes that effective communication and
consultation is essential throughout the risk management process
as we enhance the understanding of risk identification, analysis
and evaluation among process owners and risk management team
in the Group. During the reporting year, individual departments of
the Company reviewed at least monthly and updated their own
risk logs. The responsible persons of the departments update
and report the risk logs to the Risk Manager and the responsible
executive director (the “Responsible ED”) of the Group on a regular
basis. The Responsible ED then presents the consolidated risk
logs to Senior Management for identification and assessment at
management and Group levels. Senior Management update the
Board on any significant risks and progress via monthly reports or
in Board meetings.

The Board recognizes the need for sound and effective risk
management and internal controls systems to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group's assets. The Board
acknowledges its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. With the support of
Senior Management and the Audit Committee, the Board reviews
annually the effectiveness of the systems which covered different
areas, including without limitation, the financial, operational and
compliance controls for the year 2022 in compliance with the
code provisions D.2.1 in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve the Group’s business objectives, and could only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The risk management system framework adopted by the Group
was designed by reference to the principles and process outlined
in the international standard of 1SO31000. Appropriate risk
management activities were embedded into business planning,
project management, contract management, business operations
and organisational procedures. The six steps involved in the risk
management process are:

1. Establish the scope, context and criteria

Risk assessment (Risk identification, risk analysis, risk
evaluation)

Risk treatment

Monitoring and review

Recording and reporting

Communication and consultation

N
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAKRSEE (E)

(6) B E B K o8B BE 4% ()
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAHRSEE (E)

(6) Risk Management & Internal Controls (6) [El P & IE K 9 EB BE 4% (48)
(Continued)
Our risk management process and risk management framework EMMEKREEEFRAKBEEEZRT
can be represented diagrammatically as follows: UEREBRWOT:
Risk Management Process 1S031000:2018 E B EE T F1S031000 : 2018
4
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAKRSEE (E)

(6) Risk Management & Internal Controls (6) =B B 12 K P9 BB B 4 (1)
(Continued)
Risk Management Framework A ERIESR

Evaluate the effectiveness of
the risk management system <

The Board and Audit Committee
FERKEEERGHRY
EFESNEZREZES

A

Independent Assurance
N\ Internal Auditor and External Auditors
Oversee the implementation of B R

the risk management system PR B BT R BB A R
Senior Management

EERREERGNER
BREBAE

A

Risk review, assessment, analysis
and reporting
Responsible persons of Individual Departments,
Risk Manager and Responsible ED
EBEE - 5l - 2T MER
EREPIREA  EREEARBEHPTEE

A

Risk identification, recording and monitoring
Individual Departments
BRI - SRR
b=

As an on-going process, the Company has assessed our internal AR TE LB The Committee of Sponsoring
control system with reference to The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ") internal (TCOSO) ZE—Z=ZFRNEPEEEZR > F
control framework 2013, specifically in relation to the five BHGABEERG > FHEETERE
elements of: control environment, risk assessment, control AT BEEEH - BERERER
activities, communication and monitoring. TR o
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAHRSEE (E)

(6) P& E B K BB EE 4= ()

(6) Risk Management & Internal Controls

(Continued)

To further strengthen the risk management and internal control
systems, the Company’s internal auditor (“Internal Auditor”) has
been designated by Audit Committee to conduct reviews and
audit tests to verify the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems in place. A review report was presented
to Audit Committee in 2022. The Audit Committee then based
on the report formed the opinion on the effectiveness of
Tradelink’s risk management and internal control systems and
reported to the Board accordingly. The external auditors would
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to their
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances though not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. The
external auditors would communicate with Audit Committee
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that they identify
during the course of their audit. If necessary, remedial actions
will be taken timely by the Company.

To better address the risk and exposure associated with the
COVID-19 pandemic to the Company, an emergency response
team was established since early February 2020 to come up
with a viable Business Continuity Plan (“BCP”) and policies. The
objective was to make sure risks associated with the COVID-19
to the Company could be properly mitigated and the well-being
of all staff could also be taken care of.

The team monitored the COVID-19 situation continuously and
made necessary adjustments to the BCP and policies from
time to time. Various measures and policies were enacted.
This included providing protective measures to staff, regular
body temperature checks, policies for quarantine and social
distancing as well as work from home arrangement.
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(6) Risk Management & Internal Controls

(Continued)

During the year of 2022, Internal Auditor has conducted reviews
of Tradelink’s risk management and internal control systems. In
particular, Internal Auditor has conducted the following:

A gap analysis and evaluation of effectiveness of risk
management system by using 1SO31000:2018 as a basis
for comparison;

A COSO entity level control gap analysis (“COSO Review")
to ascertain if the Company has established entity level
controls that are consistent with the key concepts of the
control framework recommended by COSO - ‘Internal
Control - Integrated Framework’;

Audit tests to verify the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal controls in place.

The Company has upgraded the Whistleblowing Procedures to
a more comprehensive Whistleblowing Policy, which expands
the relevant complainants who may file a complaint or report
under the policy to include not only employees and officers
of the Company but also external parties “who deal with the
Company (e.g. customers, suppliers, contractors etc.)”. Such
complainants are encouraged to raise concerns, in confidence,
with the Audit Committee about possible improprieties and
misconducts pertaining to the Company. During the financial
year under review, no whistleblowing reports were received.

The Whistleblowing Policy is published on the Company’s
website under the section “Investors/Corporate governance/
Corporate governance policy”.

Based on the confirmation from Senior Management, the
reviews from the Internal Auditor and the Audit Committee,
the Board considered that the risk management and internal
control systems are adequate and effective for the reporting
year. There were no significant control failings, weakness or
significant areas of concern identified during 2022.
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&

(6)

xELARSESE (R

Risk Management & Internal Controls
(Continued)

The Board also considered the resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programs and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions as
well as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and
reporting were adequate.

The Group handled and disseminated inside information in
compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
("SFQO"). The Board, with the recommendation of Senior
Management, would identify and determine whether certain
information would need to be disclosed as inside information
under the Listing Rules and the SFO. Once certain information
has been determined as inside information, it would be
disclosed as soon as practicable by way of announcements.

The Company has in place separate internal policies to govern
dealing in the Company’s shares by Directors, general staff
and those staff who are likely to be in constant exposure to
inside information. All employees and Directors are not allowed
to deal in the securities of the Company when they possess
unpublished inside information. Pre-clearance on dealing in the
Company’s securities is mandatory for Directors and those staff
who are likely to be in constant exposure to inside information.

During the reporting period, Directors and relevant employees,
as identified by Senior Management, were notified of the
periods when dealings in the securities of the Company
were prohibited. All inside information was disclosed timely
by way of announcements. Before the disclosure of inside
information by announcements, it was kept confidential and
would only be disclosed to, and handled by, those employees
who had a genuine need to know. Documents containing inside
information are protected by passwords.

In addition, every employee must abide by the Code of Ethics
and Conduct and the Anti-Corruption Policy of the Group and
is expected to achieve the highest ethical and professional
standards of behavior.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAKRSEE (E)

(6)

)

Risk Management & Internal Controls
(Continued)

The Company has also promulgated an Anti-Corruption Policy
in the financial year under review in order to promote and
strengthen anti-corruption initiatives. The Anti-Corruption
Policy is based on the recommendations in the CG Guide
and further taking into consideration the view and advice of
the Independent Commission Against Corruption. The Anti-
Corruption Policy applies to directors and employees at all level
as well as external parties dealing with Tradelink and those
acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of Tradelink
(e.g. agents, consultants and contractors).

The Anti-Corruption Policy is published on the company’s
website under the section “Investors/Corporate governance/
Corporate governance policy”.

Board of Directors

(i) Board Composition

As at 31 December 2022, the Company was led by a
Board comprising three Executive Directors, four Non-
executive Directors, including the Chairman of the Board,
and five Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Independent Non-executive Directors represent at least
one-third of the Board as required by the Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules.

As at the date of this annual report, the members of the
Board are:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.

Executive Directors
Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew
(Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily
(Chief Operations Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LEE Delman*

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent
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TEEAHRSEE (E)

(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

0]

Board Composition (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P.

(* Dr. LEE Delman is a nephew of Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry,
S.B.S.,J.P)

The Board oversees the overall management and
operations of the Company. Major responsibilities include
determining the Company’s overall business, financial
and technical strategies, setting key performance
targets, approving budgets and major expenditures,
supervising the performance of management with the
objective of enhancing shareholder value. Matters not
specifically reserved to the Board and necessary for
the daily operations of the Company are delegated to
Senior Management under the supervision of respective
Directors and the five committees of the Board.

The diversity profile of the Board is set out in the following
charts:
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAKRSEE (E)

(7) Board of Directors (Continued) (7) EEE(8)

(i) Board Composition (Continued) () EHGHARKGE)

Geography of Educational/Professional Background
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The biographical information of Directors is set out in the EEREFEMNBNAFRFEIESR
“Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 46 FE3ETEENREREEAS I —H o
to 53 of this annual report.
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TEEAHRSEE (E)

(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Changes of Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Information Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules

There have been no changes in the information of
Directors and Chief Executive of the Company since
publication of the 2022 interim report up to this annual
report, save and except that:

(@) Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy was re-designated
from an independent non-executive director to a
non-executive director of Lee Kee Holdings Limited
with effect from 4 October 2022. He was appointed
as a member of its Corporate Governance
Committee and ceased as the Chairman of its Audit
Committee with effect from the same date.

(b)  Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. was appointed as
a member of the Occupational Safety and Health
Council for two years from 22 Aug 2022 until 21
August 2024.

Appointment, Rotational Retirement and Re-election
All non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) were appointed for a period of
three years and all directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with Article 96
of the Articles of Association of the Company. Pursuant
to that, one third of the Directors (or, if the number is
not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not greater than one third) shall retire each year but are
eligible for re-election at each annual general meeting
(“AGM").

(7) EFE (A

(i)

(iii)

BELETHRUEI3SIBOEKEER
THAEFZNEREH

B-E__FhHEKREHBEER
FHRPB > ARTEERITHAER
MENTE\ETMES #THERK
gh:

EHELEB _E-__F+HA
MEHEBFZERERQTZ
BIARITESATAIENT
EF-HHRRABEZEABHED
XBEAZEGMERTBEE
BREEBEXRE

(a)

AIBERE > MH, JP.EZE
%%ﬁﬁ%@@%mé’a:
Z__H/)\BZ+ZHEZRE
_EEAH_+—E¢%%
e o

(b)

ZE - REEBERERERE

FRBEFATES(BEBIUFENITE
BHUEZERP=F MERES
ARBAQE A ETE MR B6F
WEREINBEET B EF
ER=ZDZ-—EX(HAMEFHEL
F=ZZEE ABREEBRZK=
PZ—ZER)EASENSERRE
FRAE(RREEARE)LRE
MEEERETERES -

BRBEEFEZERAR

B — et

<



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAKRSEE (E)

(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(iv) Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

v)

The positions of the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer are held by Dr. LEE Nai Shee,
Harry, S.B.S., J.P. and Mr. TSE Kam Keung respectively to
maintain effective segregation of duties. The Chairman
is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board
and the strategies of the Group while the Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for managing the Group’s day-to-
day businesses.

The Chairman of the Board held a private session
with the Independent Non-executive Directors without
the presence of the Executive Directors and the Non-
executive Directors immediately after the Directors’
Conference of the Company held on 18 November 2022.

Directors’ Time Commitments

The Directors have confirmed that, during the course of
the year, they devoted adequate time to discharging their
duties as members of the Board and its Committees. The
Directors also confirmed that they had been provided with
monthly updates on the Group’s operations, performance
and business prospects to enable them to discharge
their duties. Additional information, explanation and
clarification were provided by Senior Management in
response to questions raised by them in the course of
their reviews of such materials.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAHRSEE (E)

(7) Board of Directors (Continued) (7) EFg(A)
(vi) Board Meetings and General Meeting (vi) ESZEENRBRERE
During 2022, four board meetings and an AGM were held. MZEZ__F > AAFERTER
The attendance of Directors in board meetings and AGM EFETEEN—"AREBEBEXRG >
of the Company was as follows: BEENARNFEETEEEZNRKREE
FERAEMEEERMT:
>
Board meetings 2022 AGM
attended/ attended/

Eligible to attend Eligible to attend

BHE SER BHE &R
HEESRE HE_E-Z

BRRE BRREFARFRE

Chairman and Non-executive Director TERENTES
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P. =g+ > SBS, JP 4/4 1/
Executive Directors BiITES
Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer) i1 8838 % 4 (77K 48 #) 4/4 1/1
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew WERAE (RiT4EE)

(Chief Technology Officer) 4/4 11
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily BIER L L (BEHE)

(Chief Operations Officer) 4/4 1/1
Non-executive Directors EHTES
Dr. LEE Delman FEAEFELO 4/4 0/1
Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth BEXERE 4/4 11
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent RAKERE 4/4 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BuLFHTES
Mr. CHAK Hubert Bkt 4/4 11
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay BAEELE 4/4 1/1
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan MERZ T 4/4 11
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy BHERELE 4/4 1/1
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. I ELEE > MH,JP 4/4 1/1

Note: st
(1) Dr. LEE Delman excused from the AGM held on 6 May 2022 (1) FEFXELHRNEBEMAEI)FELTIELH
due to other prior business engagements overseas. MAZHEKR —E__FAANAE
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BRBEEFEZERAR
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAKRSEE (E)

(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(vii)

(viii)

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing financial statements that give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group. In this regard,
the Directors have confirmed that appropriate accounting
policies have been selected and applied consistently and
that judgments and estimates made were prudent and
reasonable in light of the information provided by Senior
Management.

In preparing the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022, the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong were adopted and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the applicable laws were
complied with.

The Board has prepared the financial statements on a
going concern basis and is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might
cast doubt in the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the external auditors of
the Group are disclosed in the “Report of the Auditors”.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Attendance at the 2022 AGM

The Directors’ attendance for 2022 AGM is shown in the
above table under the sub-heading “Board Meetings and
General Meeting”.

The Company’s external auditors, KPMG, also attended the
2022 AGM to confirm the audited financial statements of
the Company and to answer questions from shareholders.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAHRSEE (E)

(7) EFEE(A)

(ix) EFMNBNRBEERER

(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(ix) Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional

Development

All newly appointed Directors will have to attend an
induction programme to enhance their knowledge and
understanding of the Group's business and operations
and their responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and other legal and regulatory requirements.

Besides, it is our practice that we arranged a full day in-
house Directors’ conference annually to brief Directors
on business updates, financial review of the Group and
have strategic discussions on the Company’s business
direction. In the Directors’ conference held on 18
November 2022, apart from above discussions, we also
provided a training on emerging threat in the market on
cybersecurity for Directors. All Directors namely, Dr. LEE
Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P,, Dr. LEE Delman, Mr. YING
Tze Man, Kenneth, Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent, Mr.
CHAK Hubert, Mr. CHAU Tak Hay, Ms. CHAN Chi Yan,
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy, Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny,
M.H., J.P., Mr. TSE Kam Keung, Mr. CHENG Chun Chung,
Andrew and Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily participated in
the in-house Directors’ conference.

We allocated financial resources to support and
encourage the Directors to participate in continuous
professional development training to refresh and enhance
their knowledge and skills regarding their roles, functions
and duties as directors.

All Directors have provided their training records to the
Company during the year.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EXELARSSE (E)

(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(x) Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance
The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’ liability insurance to indemnify directors against
liabilities in respect of legal actions arising from their day-
to-day business activities. During the year, the insurance
coverage was HK$100 million.

(xi) Board Independence
The Company currently has in place the following
mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input
are available to the board:

(@) The Company receives confirmations from all INEDs
for their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules;

(b) The Company has an annual evaluation on board
independence through the directors’ participations
in and discussion of the Company’s business during
the year in which INEDs demonstrated their ability
to continue to bring in independent judgements to
the Board and respective Board Committees;

() Under the Terms of Reference of all Board
Committees, it is clearly stated that legal and other
independent professional advice are available where
necessary at the Company’s expense to assist
Directors’ performance of their duties;

(d) The role of Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer is separate which ensures that there is a
balance of power and authority;

(e) Directors are aware of any potential conflicts of
interest that may arise on their part in relation to
the Company’s businesses. In case of such conflict
of interest arises, the Director concerned would
declare his/her interest to the Board, and abstain
from voting on the issues or matters to be resolved.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAHRSEE (E)

(7) Board of Directors (Continued)

(xi)

(xii)

Board Independence (Continued)

Starting from 2023, the Corporate Governance Committee
and the Board have reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanism and believed that it was
adequate and effective to ensure independent views and
inputs were available to the Board for them to perform
their duties.

Board Evaluation

The Board recognizes the benefits of regular evaluations
of its performance. During the year, an evaluation
covering Board and Board Committees performance was
conducted by the Corporate Governance Committee with
the assistance of Senior Management. Areas covered
included the overall effectiveness of the Board and its
Committees, attendance, participation and contributions
both during and outside meetings. The conclusion was
satisfactory.

(8) Board Committees

The Board has established the following committees: Audit,

Corporate Governance, Remuneration, Nomination and

Investment Committees.

(i)

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee currently consists of five
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee oversees the overall financial
reporting process as well as the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal controls. In addition, it is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board for the appointment,
reappointment or removal of the external auditors. It also
reviews and monitors the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity as well as the effectiveness of the audit
process to make sure that it is in full compliance with
applicable standards.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAKRSEE (E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

8 EXZET(A)

(i) Audit Committee (Continued) (i) BZZEZ(E)
The Audit Committee met twice in 2022. The attendance MZEZZH>BIZEEY 'E." B17
of members was as follows: MAREE > ZEHEENT
>
Audit Committee meetings
Names attended/Eligible to attend
BiliE AERUE
e 2 ERZEGERRY
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman) BHELE(ZE) 2/2
Mr. CHAK Hubert 2EmtE 2/2
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay EEEEE 2/2
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan MERZ T 2/2
L& E > MH, J.P. 2/2

’Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P.

During 2022, the Audit Committee performed, among i

other matters, the following duties:
(@) reviewed the Group’s financial statements for (a)
2021, the draft 2021 annual report, the draft 2021
results announcement and the proposed 2021 final
dividend and recommended them to the Board for

approval;

(b) reviewed the Group’s interim financial statements (b)
for the 6 months ended 30 June 2022, the draft
2022 interim report, the draft results announcement
for the 6 months ended 30 June 2022 and the
proposed 2022 interim dividend and recommended

them to the Board for approval;

reviewed and approved the various audit plans (c)
and audit reports prepared by the Internal Audit

Department of the Company;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAHRSEE (E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(i)

Audit Committee (Continued)

(d) reviewed the reports on risk management and
internal control of the Group and to ensure that the
risk management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective;

(e) reviewed connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions (if any);

(f) approved the new whistleblowing policy and
reviewed the whistleblowing procedure and any
reported incidents;

(g) met with the Internal Auditor independently to
discuss the work of the Internal Audit Department;

(h)  reviewed the remuneration of the Internal Auditor;

(i)  met with the external auditors, KPMG, independently
to discuss the financial reporting and internal
control issues encountered during the 2021 annual
audit; and

(j) reviewed the proposed audit fee for 2022 and
recommended the re-appointment of the external
auditors to the Board for consideration and final
approval by shareholders at the AGM.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During 2022, the audit and non-audit fees payable/paid
to KPMG were: an audit fee of HK$1.03 million (2021:
HK$1.04 million) and a non-audit related service fee
of HK$0.08 million (2021: HK$0.09 million). The latter
represented taxation service fees.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EXELARSSE (E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued) 8 EEZEH(A)

(ii) Corporate Governance Committee (i)
The Corporate Governance Committee consists of
five Independent Non-executive Directors. The main
responsibilities of the Committee are to ensure and
uphold good corporate governance functions of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

During the year of 2022, the Corporate Governance
Committee met twice. The attendance of members was

ERERZEY

TREAREEGTHALBILIENT
ERAN FERARNEREIQT
NERBABNRIIFERERMAEE -

MIEZ_E t¥ERELEETYE
BITMAREE ZTEHEXEWT

as follows:
>

Corporate Governance
Committee meetings
Names attended/Eligible to attend
BHE AERLE
i TERELZEFEERY
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman) BERLTE(ZE) 2/2
Mr. CHAK Hubert B@aist 2/2
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay AEELE 2/2
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan MEEZ L 2/2
’Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. Iz EZE > MH, JP. 2/2

At the two meetings, the Corporate Governance
Committee reviewed, among other matters, (i) the
Group'’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and recommended to the Board; (ii) the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and
the company secretary; (iii) the relevant compliance
disclosures in the 2021 Corporate Governance Report and
2022 Interim Report; and (iv) reviewed the Anti-Corruption
Policy and recommended to the Board for acceptance.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAHRSEE (E)
(8) Board Committees (Continued) 8 EFZEFH(HE)

(iii) FHNEES

(iii) Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of one Non-
executive Director and two Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for the remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management.

The Remuneration Committee has promulgated a new
written remuneration policy for directors to ensure the
ability of the Company to attract and retain experienced
and skilled directors of high caliber to lead, direct and
guide the Company to achieve its strategic corporate
goals and objectives. A directors’ remuneration policy
is built upon the principles of providing equitable and
market-competitive remuneration package to directors.
The policy is aiming at directors’ fees being competitive
but not excessive. No directors or any of their associates
is involved in deciding that directors’ own remuneration.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting. The attendance of members was as follows:

FINEZEEEHR—RIFRITEELW
REIUFRITESHEM -

SN ECTEAEMESTNEHRE
ANEBEF BB R RERE WE$§
REEBERESE -

FMEESERANINEEES
FM R UBERAQBEESN RS
MG BEREEERGRENES
EF 5B -EERESTQAE
REXBREXEERTE - EFW
FMBERURMESRRHEATFAADT
BHREFANGFNSTEARI BT
BREFVRESARFN AKXF
EREs BEEFAHETMHE
ANSHREEEEEEZHFHM -

FR FMEESERRT—REH
ZEHERNT:

>
Remuneration Committee
meetings attended/
Names Eligible to attend
BHE AERLE
2 FMZEEERRY
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay (Chairman) BEEREE(FE) 1/1
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy BHEELE 1/1
FhiEHE L > SBS, JP 11

FDr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAKRSEE (E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iii) Remuneration Committee (Continued)

(iv)

At this meeting, the Remuneration Committee performed,
among other matters, the following duties: (a) reviewed
the remuneration packages of Directors and Senior
Management and recommended the same to the Board
for approval; (b) made recommendation to the Board to
grant share options to Directors and Senior Management.

Remuneration paid to Executive Directors and Senior
Management

Details of remuneration paid to Executive Directors in
2022 are set out in Note 9 to the “Notes to the Financial
Statements”.

Remuneration paid to Senior Management in 2022 by
band was as follows:

8 EXZET(A)

(iii) FMEEF (E)

Rit&E L BREMEIESN > H
ZEEERITUTHBE QBRI E
ENEREEBEAEBNFMSTBLEM
hZREEGHE ODBRBEESES
MEEKSREBABREBRE -

MRATEERSREEASR TN
i
RIE__FEXNTFHRITESED
FMEBRNTMBRRMEI M
##9 o

KIEZ_—_E HaRkEBAES
THFM N FUTER :

| 4
Number of staff
BETA™
HK$8,000,001-HKS$9,000,000 718,000,001 % % #9,000,0007¢ 1
HK$4,000,001-HKS$8,000,000 714,000,001 F % #8,000,0007T -
HK$3,000,001-HKS4,000,000 78 13,000,001 % % #4,000,00075 2
HK$2,000,001-HKS$3,000,000 712,000,001 % #3,000,0007c 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$2,000,000 7 11,000,001 ##2,000,0007T -
Nomination Committee (iv) IR2EES
The Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman of RLUZECHESZTEIENMELE

the Board and two Independent Non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, to review the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
and to select suitable candidates for appointment as
Directors in the general meeting of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAHRSEE (E)
(8) Board Committees (Continued) 8) EFZET (&)

(ivy RHZ8E ()

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Policy of Board Diversity, Refreshment & Succession and
Size

The Company adopted a new policy of board diversity,
refreshment & succession and size at its board meeting
on 23 August 2022 to replace its board diversity policy.
The new policy can be found under the section “Investors/
Corporate governance/Corporate governance policy” at
the Company’s website. In that new policy, all new INEDs
appointed are subject to a maximum tenure of 9 years,
except in exceptional circumstances or unless the Board
otherwise approves. The Nomination Committee and
the Board keep on-going dialogues on board diversity,
succession and refreshment issues in accordance with
the policy. The Nomination Committee has also approved
and recommended to the Board for acceptance a plan
to phase out existing INEDs who have served the Board
for more than nine years by stages, as well as a plan to
downsize the Board to align with the market trend in Hong
Kong.

The Board has two female directors out of twelve
directors (equivalent to 16.7% of the Board) which is
broadly in line with prevailing market average in Hong
Kong. Accordingly, the board diversity in gender is
achieved for the time being and we target to maintain this
parameter unless there is any change in either the market
average in Hong Kong or the listing rules requirements.
For future recruitment of a director, if other things being
equal, a female director would be given preference.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EXELARSSE (E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)
Policy of Board Diversity, Refreshment & Succession and

8 EXZET(A)

(ivy R&2ZEE8 (&)
EETHRESITIL - BE - BIEKRR

Size (Continued) *ﬁﬁ% (“E)
The gender ratio in the workforce in 2022 was set out as MZEZZHF > BTHRHHP ML
follows: WJT%% mT:
P>
Gender ratio
(Male: Female)
1% B EE 51
(B 21%)
All staff (including senior management) 2EET(BREEREEAS) 1.26:1
Senior Management BREEAE 1.1

As the gender ratio across the workforce is rather
balanced, the Company has no immediate plans or
measurable objectives set for achieving further gender
diversity. For the time being, there are no circumstances
that may pose a substantial challenge for the Company to
achieve gender diversity across the workforce.

Nomination Policy

The nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination
Policy”) was adopted to provide formal, clear and
transparent procedures, process and criteria for the
Nomination Committee to nominate and recommend
suitable candidate to the Board.

Selection Criteria

Nomination Committee and the Board may consider
the following factors, which are neither exhaustive nor
decisive, when assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

@)

personal ethics, reputation and integrity;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EXELARSSE (E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)
Nomination Policy (Continued)
Selection Criteria (Continued)
(b) professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are relevant to the Company’s
businesses and corporate development and strategy;

(c) willingness and ability to devote adequate time
to discharge the duties as a director and to make
required commitments;

(d) the Board Diversity Policy adopted by the Company
(as amended from to time, currently named as “Policy
of Board Diversity, Refreshment & Succession and
Size”); and

(e) applicable legal and regulatory requirements (as
amended from time to time).

Nomination Procedures

(@) For filling a causal vacancy or appointing an
additional director to the Board in accordance
with Article 88 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation for the Board’'s consideration
and approval. For proposing candidates to stand
for election at a general meeting, Nomination
Committee shall make nomination to the Board for
consideration and recommendation.

(b)  Shareholder(s) may nominate a candidate to stand
for election as a director at a general meeting in
accordance with the “Procedures for shareholders
to propose a person for election as a director”
published by the Company from time to time.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAKRSEE (E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

Nomination Procedures (Continued)

©

(@)

@

®

(9)

The nomination proposal should include the
candidate’s biographical information and other
information as required to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules and the candidate’s signed written
consent to be appointed as a director and to
the publication of his/her personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose
of or in relation to their standing for election as a
director.

If considered necessary, Nomination Committee
may request the candidate to provide additional
information and documents.

Nomination Committee shall consider the
nomination proposal, evaluate such candidate
based on the selection criteria and review the
structure, size and diversity of the Board to
determine whether such candidate is suitable for
recommending to the Board.

A circular with the candidate information such as
the name, brief biography (including qualifications
and relevant experience), proposed remuneration,
independence and any other information, as
required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations will be provided to shareholders before
the general meeting and within the prescribed
period as required under Listing Rules.

The Board shall have the final decision on all
matters relating to the recommendation of a
candidate to stand for election at a general meeting.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EXELARSSE (E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

Nomination Procedures (Continued)

The Nomination Policy can be found on the Company’s
website.

8 EXZET(A)

(ivy RBHZB8(R)
RABE (R
LT ()
REBERAIRAATHILER o

During the year, the Nomination Committee held three FRN - RLEZEGEERIT=Xg:
meetings. The attendance of members was as follows: ZEHEXENT
|
Nomination Committee
meeting attended/
Names Eligible to attend
BHE RERLEE
i 32 RLZEGEERY
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. (Chairman) AL &%% > MH, JP. (ZE) 3/3
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy BHEELE 3/3
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P. FhiEtE+ > SBS, JP. 3/3

At the meeting, the Nomination Committee performed,
among other matters, the following duties: (i) reviewed
the structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii)
reviewed and discussed the issue of long serving INEDs
and board diversity and refreshment/succession plan;
(iii) reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and revised to
the Policy of Board Diversity, Refreshment & Succession
and Size and recommended to the Board; (iv) reviewed
the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors; and (v) reviewed and recommended four
retiring Directors (including two long serving INEDs) for
re-election by shareholders at the 2022 AGM.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EXELARSSE (E)

(8) Board Committees (Continued) 8 EEZEH(A)

(v) Investment Committee (v)
The Investment Committee consists of one Non-executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors.

The duty of the Investment Committee is to oversee the
Company’s investments in financial instruments and
the management’s execution of the investment policy
guidelines laid down by the Board.

During the year, the Investment Committee convened two
meetings. The attendance of members was as follows:

REZEEY
REZEEH—RFRTESFEK=
REUFRITESEM -

REZEENBEREELRRARN
THMIANREUREEEANTE
EEMEREBRIESNBR -

FR REZECGHEHAMAGE >
ZEHERNT:

>
Investment Committee
meetings attended/
Names Eligible to attend
BHE SERERE
% REZREEERRY
Mr. CHAK Hubert (Chairman) BHAaRE(FE) 2/2
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay AEELE 2/2
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan REEZ L 2/2
Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth RENEE 2/2

At the two meetings, the Investment Committee
performed, among other matters, the following duties: (i)
reviewed the execution of the investment policy by Senior
Management; (ii) reviewed the portfolio of the Company’s
investment; and (iii) reviewed the Investment Guidelines.

MAREHEL BREMEES #ﬁiﬁ
ZEEERITUTHRE ()B4
EERABHKREBROAT ha/R,(n)
BMAEQRBNKREASE; (i) @5
K& -

(9) Company Secretary 9) PSS
The Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no RAMEER > BRI ZFEZHER
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in 2022. DHS/NEER AR EZEIE I -
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAHRSEE (E)

(10) Shareholders’ Rights (10) B SR IEF

Shareholder(s) holding at least 5% of the total voting rights
of all the shareholders of the Company having a right to vote
at general meetings can send a request to the Company to
convene a general meeting pursuant to Section 566 of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). The request must state the
general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may include the text of a resolution that may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. The request
must be authenticated by the relevant shareholder(s) and sent
to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form.

Shareholders may also put forward proposals at general meetings
in accordance with Sections 580 or 615 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders who have a relevant
right to vote at the general meeting or at least 50 shareholders
of the Company who have a relevant right to vote at the general
meeting may request the Company to circulate statements
regarding resolutions proposed at the general meeting; or request
the Company to circulate resolutions which may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the AGM. The requisition
must be authenticated by the shareholder(s) concerned and sent
to the Company Secretary in hard copy form or in electronic form
to comsec@tradelink.com.hk where, (i) in the case of a requisition
for the circulation of statements regarding resolutions proposed
at a general meeting, such requisition must be received by the
Company not later than 7 days before the general meeting; or
(if) in the case of a requisition for the circulation of resolutions
to be moved at the AGM, the requisition must be received by the
Company not later than six weeks before the relevant AGM or if
later, the time when the notice of the AGM is dispatched.
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(10) Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, no person, other than a retiring Director, shall,
unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election to the office of Director at any general meeting,
unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person
for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to the
Company in each case, during the period (being a period of at
least seven days) commencing on the day after dispatch of the
notice of general meeting at which elections to the office of
Director are to be considered and ending on the day that falls
seven days before the date of the general meeting (both days
inclusive). The procedures for shareholders of the Company
to propose a person for election as a Director can be found
under the section “Investors/Corporate governance/Corporate
governance structure” of the Company’s website.

For shareholders’ enquiries in other aspects, please refer to the
details set out in a Shareholders Communication Policy.

(11) Communications with Shareholders and

Investors

The Company has established a Shareholders Communication
Policy which is available under the “Investor relations” section
of the Company’s website. During the year, the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy
were reviewed and satisfied by the Board. The Company
encourages two-way communication with our shareholders
and investors to enhance understanding of the Group's
performance and developments. The Company offers
options for shareholders to elect for receipt of the corporate
communications either through website version or in printed
form. Regular newsletters on the Company’s latest business
development are published on the Company’s website. A free
subscription service is available for interested parties to receive
email notification when there are major updates on investor’s
information webpages.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEEAHRSEE (E)

(11) Communications with Shareholders and (11) B E R EHBE(H)

Investors (Continued)

As COVID-19 continued to spread during the year, the Company
cancelled the forum which we would normally organize to brief
individual shareholders on our 2021 annual results and 2022
interim results.

Again, due to COVID-19, the Company cancelled the media
luncheons which we would have organized normally after the
announcements of our 2021 annual results and 2022 interim
results. Instead on 12 April 2022, the Company organized
a virtual meeting via Zoom with 7 financial reporters and
journalists to provide a briefing on our 2021 annual results and
major corporate and business development of the Company.

During the year, the Company has also had a total of 4 virtual
meetings/conference calls with investors on corporate/
business development issues of the Company.

Owing to the spread of COVID-19 and the government’s ban on
holding physical annual general meetings at the material times,
with special arrangements taken, the Company’'s 2022 AGM
was held in a virtual mode by using Computershare’s e-Meeting
System on 6 May 2022. Almost all members of the Board, and
Senior Management of the Company, were present to answer
questions raised by shareholders.

(12) Constitutional Document

The Articles of Association of the Company (the “Constitutional
Document”) is available on the Company’s website and the
website of the HKEXnews of the Hong Kong Exchange and
Clearing Limited. There was no change in the Constitutional
Document during 2022.
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BRIE -t ghER/HRE (E)

This Environment, Social and Governance Report (“ESG Report”)
includes our disclosures related to the requirements as set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Guide”), Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

About Tradelink

Tradelink is an e-commerce services company and its principal
activity is to provide Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS")
for processing certain official trade-related documents. Leverage
our core competence, Tradelink has diversified our business in
other areas including supply chain solutions, identity management
solutions and payment technology solutions, some of which being
operated by the Company’s subsidiaries. The mission of the Company
is to empower our clients with business enabled e-solutions for their
commercial and financial activities.

Reporting Scope and Boundary

This Report focuses on aspects which have been identified
as material to the Group’s business by the Board and our key
stakeholders namely, our employees, investors and shareholders,
customers, suppliers and the community. As our core businesses are
carried on in Hong Kong, the reporting boundary in this ESG Report
covers Tradelink and our subsidiaries in Hong Kong for the period
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022. The scope of reporting in
this Report is the same as that of the last report in 2021.

Reporting Principles

In the preparation of the ESG report, the Company follows the
reporting principles of Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and
Consistency as set out in the ESG Guide. Three of the reporting
principles which are required to be disclosed under the mandatory
disclosure requirements are as follows:

Materiality — the Company selects material ESG factors by collecting
stakeholders’ opinions through various channels during our daily
operations. Details of stakeholder engagement with their concerned
matters and engagement channels are listed out in details under
the heading “ESG Strategy and Management Approach”. The Board
reviews and assesses those ESG issues which are material and
relevant to our Company’s businesses.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRIE -8 hER/ERE (E)

Reporting Principles (Continued)

Quantitative — Although we do not disclose the quantitative key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) for emissions/energy consumption
in this ESG Report as these factors are not applicable to us (see
explanation set out under the heading “Materiality Assessment”),
we do disclose numerical figures in social KPIs with necessary
descriptions where appropriate. e.g. the percentage of employees
trained by gender and no. of training hours per employee category etc.

Consistency — Unless otherwise stated, there is no change to the
methods or KPIs used in this Report, or any other relevant factors
affecting a meaningful comparison with the ESG Report of last year.

Governance Structure and Board'’s Oversight

The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy
and reporting. The Board oversees the ESG issues by delegating its
responsibilities to the Audit Committee to evaluate and determine
ESG-related risks to ensure that appropriate and effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems are in place. The Board
has also delegated its responsibilities to the Corporate Governance
Committee to review the performance and compliance of corporate
governance matters of the Company which include those relating to
ESG issues. Both the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee would report back to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.

ESG Strategy and Management Approach

Our ESG strategy is summarized as follows:

Environmental

- We are committed to sustainable business practices that help
protect the environment.

- We run our business in a responsible manner and minimize
environmental pollution.

- We implement internal policies to reduce environmental
impact and raise employees’ awareness of the efficient use of
resources.

- We support or collaborate with organizations which promote
environmental protection.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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ESG Strategy and Management Approach
(Continued)

Social

- We manage our human resources and maintain our employer-
employee relationship with the employees in strict compliance
with the relevant employment laws.

- We use reasonably best endeavors to engage our suppliers to
be in compliance with their local environment and employment
laws.

- We make positive contributions to the community.

Governance

- Tradelink is committed to a high standard of corporate
governance and detailed information in relation to governance
is shown separately under the heading “Corporate Governance
Report” in the annual report.

The Board uses its reasonably best endeavors to create values for
our customers, employees and stakeholders while complying with
the ESG-related laws and regulations, as well as driving social and
environmental good in the community by reference to the relevant and
applicable KPIs. The Board will review the ESG strategy and identify
areas for improvements from time to time or when circumstances
warrant.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE- g hERKRS (E)

Stakeholders’ Engagement

In order to implement our ESG strategy to meet or even exceed
expectations of our stakeholders, the Company engages stakeholders
to collect their opinions on ESG-related issues via various channels
on ongoing basis. Views of stakeholders on concerned matters are
collected via various channels are set out below:

RhESE

AERNAEEZEBEIBNENENIRIE - 4§
RNEARRE  ARARBAFHEES B
BREREVRERNEHRE HERELEH
EENER - ARABBUTREREFHE
HRAITEENER:

|
Stakeholders Concerned matters Engagement channels
K& FAEEE BHERE
Employees - Employee rights and benefits Staff intranet portal, meetings and emails
== - Training and development BIANKAE FZNER
- The work environment
- Work-life balance
- RBEEAKER
- BIRERE
- TITRIRIR
- ITHREEFEZENTES
Investors and shareholders — Investment returns Announcements, investor newsletters,
KEENKE - Business development circulars, annual report, interim report,
- Business performance annual general meeting, face-to-face
- Business strategies meetings/calls with investors, bi-annual
- Corporate governance individual investor forums
- RERR ANE-REERM-BR - F]HR - H
- EBER BE REBFAG -  BREE@ERDN
- EBRR ETEEGR - SEMANAARESE
- EBEK wig
> - EXEA

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
Annual Report 2022



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Stakeholders’ Engagement (Continued)

RiESE(R)

|

Stakeholders Concerned matters

Engagement channels

& MEEE BHERE
Customers - Product/service quality/service level Product/service terms and conditions, code
= - Product/service price of conduct, contracts, letter of undertaking

—  Customer information/personal data
confidentiality

—  Cyber security

- Employment practices

- Business ethics (anti-corruption and
prevention of bribery)

- Corporate governance

- ER/BRBEERRBAKE

- ER/RHBER

- EBREH BAEHREM%

- MRz

- RBEBR

- BEEE(RESMPLLEER)

- XEEAR

Suppliers — Business ethics and credit
HrEm - Fairtrade

- Mutually beneficial strategic alliances

- Corporate governance
- BEEEKEAR

- RERSH

- EEEAEBRBMY

- XEAR

Community — Community development
t& - Social welfare

- HEERE

- HEEA

on integrity, meetings and training, after-
sales service (customer inquiries or
complaints)

ER/ BRBERRES - &FFH &
M EEAER - gERIEIN - ERRY
(BEFRE#H K

Negotiation of contracts, meetings
EEEN g5

Volunteer/community work and charitable
activities
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Materiality Assessment

In assessing materiality of ESG issues which are considered
important to our investors and stakeholders, the Company takes
into account the reporting principles as set out in the ESG Guide, our
business nature and principal activity; and stakeholders’ concerned
matters.

Given the fact that the Company is an e-commerce services company,
the four aspects under the Environmental Area, namely Emissions,
Use of Resources, the Environment and Natural Resources and
Climate Change are not considered material enough which need to be
disclosed in accordance with the ESG Guide. The respective reasons
are as follows:

Emissions — the Company’s operation is not involved in air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste in significant
quantities. There are no relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the Company regarding Emissions.

Use of Resources - the Company’s operation is not involved in direct
and/or indirect energy consumption (e.g. electricity, water and other
raw materials) and water consumption in significant quantities.
In addition, the Company’s operation is not involved in packaging
materials used for finished products as the Company does not deliver
tangible products.

Environment and Natural Resources - the Company considers
its business nature and operation having no significant impact on
environment and natural resources.

Climate Change - the Company is aware of significant climate-related
issues such as high temperature, typhoon, flooding, wildfire or other
extreme weathers. As mentioned above, our Company’s operation
is not involved in air and greenhouse gas emissions and therefore
we do not consider climate change material enough to be disclosed
herein. Nevertheless, the Company has already adopted a systematic
approach to include management and monitoring of climate risks in
our risk management process. Also, we have implemented several
environmental policies to run our business in a responsible manner
and those actions are listed out under the heading “Environmental”
in this report. At the same time, we have devised policy on staff work
arrangements under adverse weather conditions so that possible
impacts on the Company’s operations can be mitigated and our staff
safety can be protected in case of adverse weather conditions during
work days.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Materiality Assessment (Continued)

Anyhow, the Company understands the importance of environmental
protection and undoubtedly supports it. In this regard, the Company
constantly reminds our staff to protect the environment and use
energy and resources effectively and efficiently by issuing policies
and guidelines on the related subjects. In this ESG Report, we would
voluntarily disclose the policies and practices which have been
adopted by the Company with a view to conserving the environment.

Our Environmental Policies and Actions Taken

The Company has implemented several environmental policies to
protect the environment. We have been running and will continue to
run our business in a responsible manner and minimize environmental
pollution.

The Company takes actions in daily operations to reduce
environmental impact. They include:

- using LED lamps, reminding staff of turning off lights and air-
conditioning when not in use or out of office,

- keeping air-conditioning at 25°C,

- installing of a new air-conditioning system in the office to
improve the air quality and save energy consumption and costs,

- posting internal posters on saving water,

- installing tap water controllers to limit the water flow and speed
to save water consumption,

- setting up timer for air conditioners and water dispensers to
save electricity,

- using e-forms to reduce use of paper; and

- installing recycling bins for metals, plastics and waste paper
collections in office.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRIE -8 hER/ERE (E)

Our Environmental Policies and Actions Taken
(Continued)

Besides, the Company produces corporate stationeries, reports and
souvenirs made by environment-friendly materials as far as possible
and uses recycled papers and toners to raise employees’ awareness
of efficient use of resources and conservation of the environment.
The Company supports and collaborates with organizations which
promote environmental protection. All these policies aim at not only
environmental protection but also cost-saving for the Company.

The Company also promotes environmental awareness of our
employees and the good use of resources through different programs.
During the reporting period, the Company has mobilized our staff to
support Non-Governmental Organizations (“NGOs”) campaigns such
as:

- collecting red packets for recycling and pledging to reduce the
printing quantity of company red packets, and

- collecting mooncake boxes for recycling.

ESG-related Goals, Targets and Progress Review

Unless there are any changes in the Company’s ESG strategy in the
future, the aspects under the Environmental Area (i.e. Emissions,
Use of Resources, The Environment and Natural Resources, Climate
Change) are not considered material enough which need to be
disclosed in our ESG Report in accordance with the ESG Guide. As
such, no goals and targets were set for relevant KPIs of Emissions
and Use of Resources aspects and also accordingly, review against
the progress is inapplicable to the Company. As regards Social
aspects, the Board will monitor and assess the progress regularly by
using relevant KPIs to achieve our goals and targets.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Social

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

Employee workforce and turnover rate in 2022 of our operations in
Hong Kong, breakdown by gender, age group and employment type
are shown at table below.

g

BERFIER
-3-1

TRITEMER ~ FHRANREBHEERE D
“ECCEEBEBNREREABRARLRR -

>
Number of

employee  Turnover rate

BEAH mMRE
Our workforce in Hong Kong FHBET 221 21.72%
By gender: HRE S
Female % o8 16.33%
Male LRk 123 26.02%
By age group ¥ EE AR B 5
<25 <255% 15 53.33%
25-29 25F295% 46 30.43%
30-39 30E395% 42 16.67%
40 - 49 40E495% 65 23.08%
> 50 >505% 53 7.55%
By employment type HEEERE S
Full-time 2 221 21.72%
Part-time I 0 0%

The Company manages our human resources and maintains our
relationship with the employees in compliance with the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Cap. 485), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608) and
the relevant legislations against discrimination.
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Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Employment (Continued)

To the Company, employees are valuable assets. The Company
provides equal employment opportunity and competitive
remuneration packages to attract and retain employees. The
Company has issued and would continue to review and update our
policies and guidelines relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and
welfare.

The Company offers employee benefits better than the requirements
of Employment Ordinance like fully-paid sick leave, maternity leave
and paternity leave, and provides birthday leave, vaccination leave,
marriage leave, compassionate leave, examination leave, voluntary
service leave, medical insurance and ex-gratia payment to retiring
employees. The Company has employed disabled employees and
provided them with disability-friendly working environment. The
Company has adopted a lactation policy and provided a lactation
room to support breastfeeding mothers as part of the Company’s
family-friendly policies and benefits.

In order to promote work-life balance, the Company provides flexible
working hours to employees and makes part-time job arrangement as
appropriate for working parents. The Company has also designated a
room to be the common room for holding staff social activities.

Health and Safety

The Company provides a safe and healthy working environment and
protected employees from occupational hazards in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, including but without limitation to the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) (“OSHO") and
the regulations under the OSHO.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Health and Safety (Continued)

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, to protect the safety and health of
staff against the spread of the virus, anti-coronavirus measures and
guidelines were set up since 2020 including temperature check at
reception for employees and visitors, hand sanitizer in all meeting
rooms and reception, work-from-home arrangement, flexible working
hours and lunch time, provision of masks to each staff each month,
strengthening office cleaning, using Zoom for meetings, staff wearing
masks in public areas and in face-to-face conversations and 1-meter
social distancing, etc. Though staff activities including Annual Dinner
and Christmas Party could not be held in 2022, the Company provided
budgets to departments and functional units for them to organize
meal gatherings during the year with staff in appropriate timing and
format in compliance with the anti-epidemic requirements.

The Company has purchased an Automated External Defibrillator
(“AED"). Training on AED was provided to staff. From time to time, the
Company provides occupational health and safety information to its
employees so as to raise their awareness on workplace safety.

The Company always puts office safety as their top priority. The
Company would do our utmost to minimize the risk of fire in office.
In accordance with fire regulations, all Tradelink offices have been
installed with fire sprinklers and fire extinguishers, which are checked
annually by qualified persons. In order to increase the staff’s safety
awareness, fire drill is conducted regularly to show the location of fire
exits and the way to the exit in case of a fire. Training on fire safety
was also organized for staff.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE- g hERKRS (E)

Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Health and Safety (Continued)

With the relevant precautionary measures and training taken,
the work-related fatalities and lost days due to work injury were
maintained at zero in the past three years (including the reporting
year). This record is encouraging and we will strive to keep it at a zero

e (&)

BERGIERGR

EERZ2(R)

BRI EEBEREEREN  BE=F(8
BEEABRSFE)EITHNARRBEIGIER
NIFEHBEREAZT MEHSTARE > &M
MBOEERFE—H -

level.
>
Year 2022 2021 2020
—E=-= T C"IT”ETH
Number and rate of work-related EITHBAZBRLLEER 0 0 0
fatalities occurred 0% 0% 0%
Lost days due to work injury TEEXNI(EAH 0 0 0
Development and Training 2R R g

The Company has policy on training subsidy. The Company supports
employees to attend external, job-related training courses and
seminars to improve their knowledge and skills for discharging their
work duties and enhance their career progression. Moreover, the
Company provides training subsidy to staff for payment of course
fees and examination fees for job-related courses or qualifications.

ERBETEINEKK > ZFHEESMIHMNE
BEENEELAATEUARABEBITHEN
MR TREREFHNMWMERE - LI
FRBMEEENER > BERALIFBERAR
EREMERERNERIERIEY -

g Average training
The percentage of hours completed
employees trained per employee

SREETMZN
ZiEEESL B9 3G B
By gender et B &l 5
Male s 42.28% 493
Female 7 40.82% 4.61
By employee category BESENIS
Senior Management SREEAE 50% 0.75
Vice President and Senior Vice President Bl # &= R EI 425 46.88% 3.45
Manager 1 59.18% 9.23
General staff —mRET 33.82% 3.62

P>

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

Annual Report 2022



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI teghERKRS (B)

Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Labour Standards

The Company abides by the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) and its
regulations and have not employed any child and forced labour.

Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Company is committed to building mutually beneficial long
standing relationships with suppliers and partners so as to support
our day-to-day business operations as well as the delivery of quality
product and service to customers.

During the period under review, although the COVID-19 pandemic
has caused serious disruption to the global supply chain, as an
e-commerce service providers with our core services and products
being self-developed, the impact to our daily business operations was
minimal.

During the reporting period, the number of suppliers by geographical
breakdown is as follows:
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FXEREHIR > COVID- 19 BEBRETE R IRMIE
#o ERARAEERBTHEZORBRER
NEFEERBHES FLEEBEHREMABEE
XBEENREMTHEM -

REBEHRN  BE oW HEmBRBENT:

4
Geographical region Number of suppliers
hE HERESE
Hong Kong &8 81
Mainland China R A it 9
Regions outside China A DA S RS S & 28

We understand the environmental and social impacts throughout
the supply chain. As an e-commerce service provider, most of our
purchases are IT services-related (e.g. cloud services, facilities
management services, IT security services) which do not involve any
environment risks. Anyhow, we aim to promote local sourcing as far
as possible in order to minimize the carbon emission derived from
transportation. In 2022, around 68.64% of suppliers from whom we
sourced are Hong Kong-based.

HPIRBAMER FIRIRABNNIRERTELE -
FREFHERBERES  HANKBAESD
HEMRERBEBBINERRE  REE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRIE -1 ghkER%KS (R)

Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

We support or collaborate with organizations which promote
environmental protection. In the Company’s procurement policy, it is
specifically stated that the Company would use our reasonably best
endeavors to select and engage suppliers which are in compliance
with their local environmental and labor laws. Moreover, the
Company requests our key suppliers to provide written compliance
confirmations confirming, inter alia, that they are in compliance with
their local environmental laws and regulations and they will run their
businesses in a responsible manner and minimize environmental
pollution. For our annual and interim reports printing, we specifically
require our supplier to use environmentally friendly paper.

Product Responsibility

The Company provides hotline service, on-site technical support
and training for customers who use our services and products. The
Company also pledges to continuously improve our service and
products through enhancements and upgrades with an aim to deliver
the best possible reliable and quality solutions to our customers. The
Company does the best to meet the set service targets and strives to
achieve high standard in different aspects of our operations.

To uphold our pledge to customers to deliver reliable and quality
services, the Company implements a quality management system
for our customer services which is 1SO 9001:2015 certified. The
certification demonstrates our ability to consistently provide products
and services that meet customer and applicable statutory and
regulatory requirements, and our commitment to enhance customer
satisfaction. The ISO 9001 standard is based on a number of quality
management principles including a strong customer focus, the
motivation and implication of top management, the process approach
and continual improvement.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRIE -t ghER/HRE (E)

Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Product Responsibility (Continued)

The Company observes the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap.
486) (the “PDPQ”) and the data collection principles under the PDPO
in conducting our business. The Company educates and requires our
staff to handle personal data of our customers carefully and properly.
Access to the personal data of the customers is limited to those
employees who have a genuine need to access to such personal data
in order to perform the services to the customers. The Company will
only process the personal data of our customers to the extent, and in
such a manner, as is necessary for the purposes of provision of our
services and in accordance with the customers’ instructions and will
not process the personal data for any other purposes. The Company
will not disclose the personal data of our customers to other third
parties without the consent of customers. The Company stipulates
clearly our privacy obligations to customers in our Privacy Policy
which will be reviewed and updated from time to time to take account
of legislative amendments to PDPO, other applicable privacy law and
trends and practices in other mature jurisdictions.

Like all other technology companies, the Company regards our
intellectual property (“IP”) rights as the lifeblood for our businesses
and operations. Accordingly, the Company has developed and
deployed coherent strategies in protecting our IP rights. These
include first of all registration of all IP rights the protection or
perfection of which depend on registration, whether locally or
overseas. Second, the Company has put in place contractual
safeguards to ensure all IP rights invented or developed by our
employees during the course of their employments are vested in
and belong to the Company absolutely. Thirdly, the Company has
daily practices in place on observing and respecting the IP rights
of third parties. We remind staff on a continual basis to use only
licensed software. A monitoring software is also in place to check
any unauthorized software installed by staff. Education and trainings
on prevention of IP right infringement and the consequential risks
are provided to new staff and those relevant staff to enhance internal
awareness. Internal control practices to identify and detect the
relevant businesses, operations or activities of the Company that
are more prone to infringing third party IP rights and the related
remedial measures have been developed and put into effect, thereby
substantially alleviating the risk of infringing IP rights of third parties.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRIE -8 hER/ERE (E)

Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Product Responsibility (Continued)

The Company has implemented quality assurance process to ensure
quality of our product throughout its development cycle. Quality
standards and procedures are put in place to define, plan and develop
quality products. Formal reviews, walkthroughs, and inspections are
conducted to enforce the quality. Moreover, defects are tracked and
reviewed at each phase of the production process. Major product
deliverables are validated against an acceptable level of quality. All
our products are thoroughly tested before they are handed over to
customers.
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>
Percentage of total products sold NA (due to our business nature,
or shipped subject to recall for this item is not applicable
safety and health reasons to us)
Number of products and service 0

related complaints received

CEHCEXEREH TERAREZHMH
PEEZZERFEER fER > RIEEFE
MmAEWNES L RRA%ERE)

BERKERREBHN 0
iR E

Anti-corruption

The Company has zero tolerance to corruption. As a matter of
fact, the Company is deemed a “public body” under the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) to reflect the nature of the GETS
services and the Company’s market position as a major service
provider with a licence granted by the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (the “Government”) in running
important public functions. In this regard, Senior Management and
directors of the Company who will likely be regarded as “public
officials” for the purpose of the common law offence, have been
advised on their various liabilities under the common law offence on
“misconduct in public office”.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRIE -t ghER/HRE (E)

Social (Continued)

Anti-corruption (Continued)

For employees in general, in order to comply with Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) and other relevant anti-corruption laws
and regulations, the Company has adopted a Code of Ethics and
Conduct (or the “Code”) and an Anti-Corruption Policy (“Policy”), both
of which are applicable to all employees of the Group. The Policy
was adopted by the Company with a view to further strengthening
the anti-corruption initiatives. The Anti-Corruption Policy is based on
the recommendations in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s Corporate
Governance Guide for Boards and Directors (“Corporate Governance
Guide”), relevant provisions in the existing Code of Ethics and
Conduct for employees and further taking into consideration the
view and advice of the Independent Commission Against Corruption
(“ICAC"). The Anti-Corruption Policy applies not only to all employees,
but also all directors and officers of the Company, and external
parties doing business with Tradelink and those acting in an agency
or fiduciary capacity on behalf of Tradelink (e.g. agents, consultants
and contractors).

The Code and the Policy which are subject to the review and
comment by ICAC, provides the details about the liabilities as
employees of a public body. All employees are required to read the
Code and the Policy and understand and observe them both in letter
and in spirit at all times. They must observe the prescribed standards
of behavior when performing duties at work. The Code and the Policy
address, inter alia, the following key areas:

- Proprietary and Confidential Information

- Conflict of Interest

- Prevention of Bribery

- Gifts, Gratuities, Hospitality

- Notification of Suspected Corrupt Conduct

- Personal and Private Dealings
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRIE -8 hER/ERE (E)

Social (Continued)

Anti-corruption (Continued)

From time to time, the Company invites ICAC to conduct anti-
corruption talks to our new staff and also directors where practicable
to enhance their ethical standards in performing their duties.

While the Company already has a set of whistle-blowing procedures,
it has upgraded the procedures to a Whistleblowing Policy. The
Whistleblowing Policy has incorporated the recommendations of the
Corporate Governance Guide, including protection against retaliation
and victimization, confidential and discreet handling of reports and
consequences of false reports. It aims at encouraging staff and
also those who deal with the Company (e.g. customers, suppliers,
contractors etc.) to report, on a confidential basis, any suspected
misconduct, malpractice, impropriety, dishonesty, corruption, fraud,
illegal activity, breach of law or fiduciary duties, conflict of interests,
abuse of power or wrongdoing within the Company which they
become aware of to the Vice President (Internal Audit) or Head of
Human Resources (as appropriate), who are the delegate of the Audit
Committee. No such report was received during the reporting period.

There are no legal cases or concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Company or its employees during the
reporting period and this is in line with our target.

Community

Community Investment

With our commitment to help improving the community well-being,
we continuously encourage our staff, their families and friends to
participate in different voluntary activities. To this end, one measure
which the Company has introduced to motivate staff to participate in
voluntary services is our implementation of a voluntary service leave
policy under which a staff can take up to 2 days’ full paid leave in a
year for his/her participation in service of a charitable nature. During
the reporting period, 2 days of voluntary service leave were taken by
our staff in total. We encouraged our staff to bring the community
involvement in their daily life by putting words into action.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRIE -t ghER/HRE (E)

Social (Continued)

Community (Continued)

Community Investment (Continued)

During the reporting period, the Company joined the following
charitable and community work.

Joining World Vision’s Skip-A-Meal Campaign

Tradelink supported World Vision’s Skip-A-Meal Campaign held
in May 2022 and encouraged staff to donate their meal money
to help children and families who were facing food crisis due
to climate change. The funds raised from this Skip-A-Meal
Campaign were used to support World Vison’s work in disaster-
hit Somalia and South Sudan to meet the needs of the hungry in
these countries.

o

. Participating in Oxfam Jentle-cat x Family Wu’s “Oxfam’s Road

to Ending Poverty” Online Flag Selling

Tradelink supported Oxfam Jentle-cat x Family Wu's “Oxfam’s
Road to Ending Poverty” Online Flag Selling campaign in
September 2022 and donated money to help the underprivileged
in Hong Kong and around the world.

Charity Donation

To promote our care for the community, we not only participated in
voluntary services and donation, but also encouraged our customers
to join in with us. Under our customer loyalty program, customers
could convert their bonus points to become charity donations to our
two charitable organization partners, which is Direction Association
for the Handicapped and Oxfam Hong Kong. During the reporting
period, we had 780 customers donating their bonus points to these
two charitable organizations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE-HEREBRS (B)

Social (Continued) g (&)

Community Recognition tERE

In appreciation of the various social aspects of work we have done, HKFfINZEHSTHBENIEEIEE > LHEE
we are pleased that we currently have the following recognitions AERAM&EE (I EIE T 548 I1E

awarded by related organizations.

>
Award: Organizer:
32| EMEA:
Award for Family-Friendly Employers to Tradelink Family Council and Home Affairs Bureau
RERERI-B58 REZEMRRBEHR
Award for Breastfeeding Support to Tradelink Family Council and Home Affairs Bureau
IHEIARME-E58 REZEMRRBEHR
Good MPF Employer Award to Tradelink and Digi-Sign Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
¥ EE) - &5 &KDigi-Sign BREMAEEHEER

Support for MPF Management Award to Tradelink and Digi-Sign Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority

HHEEEER - B 5B KDigi-Sign BHEHEABEHIEER
Caring Company Logo to Tradelink and Digi-Sign Hong Kong Council of Social Service
s R R IE 118 58 - B 5 %8 M Digi-Sign EELERBHE
“Green Office” label and “Eco-Healthy Workplace” World Green Organisation
label in Green Office Awards Labelling Scheme (GOALS)
“k B A == SE B 5t B (GOALS) Y T4k BB 1 A = I AR 55 R AR & A

K T2 B TARfE L ARES

ESG+ Pledge Logo to Tradelink The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong
FFESG+%’\J$J Zs-E5E BERAPEREHHAS
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Directors’ Report
EEERES

The Directors have pleasure in submitting our Annual Report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Principal Place of Business

The Company is a company incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong
and has registered office and principal place of business at 11th and
12th Floors, Tower B, Regent Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung,
Hong Kong.

Principal Activity

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of Government
Electronic Trading Services (“GETS") for processing certain official
trade-related documents. Leveraging our core competence, we have
diversified our business into other areas including supply chain
solutions, identity management solutions and payment technology
solutions, some of which being operated by the Company’s
subsidiaries.

The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in Note 75 to the “Notes to the Financial
Statements”.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion
on the Group's future business development and possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and these sections form part of this Directors’ Report.

The Group’s financial risks are shown in Note 26 to the sections
headed “Notes to the Financial Statements”.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators can be found throughout this
Annual Report.
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Business Review (Continued)

The Board believes that a strict compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations is pivotal to the success of the Company. For
this purpose, the Board has delegated responsibilities to the Audit
Committee, the Corporate Governance Committee and Senior
Management to monitor and implement the Company’s policies and
practices in compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements
that have a significant impact on the Company.

As an entity incorporated and listed in Hong Kong, the Company
is governed, managed and operated pursuant to the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.
571), the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on the corporate level. The Board has
adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers, and its committees have their own terms of reference
defining their respective rights, duties and obligations. Besides, the
Company is deemed to be a “public body” under the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) to reflect the nature of the GETS services
and the Company’s market position as a major service provider
granted a licence by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “Government”) in running important public
functions. The Company has also acted in strict compliance with
the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap.
608) and various legislations against discrimination including the Race
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602), Sex Discrimination Ordinance
(Cap. 480), Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487) and Family
Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527).

On the operational level, the various businesses of the Group are
conducted in accordance with, among others, the Competition
Ordinance (Cap. 619), the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance
(Cap. 593), the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486) and
the Electronic Transactions Ordinance (Cap. 553). The member
companies of the Group have registered trademarks and domain
names to protect intellectual property rights, which are considered
crucial to our businesses. In particular, the Company conducts our
core business of providing the GETS services to the trading and
logistics sectors in conformity with the Import and Export Ordinance
(Cap. 60) and the GETS Contract signed with the Government in
addition to the above-mentioned ordinances.
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Business Review (Continued)

The Company has implemented several environmental policies
relevant to our business and operations to protect the environment.
The Company takes actions in daily operations to reduce
environmental impact. We have been running and will continue to
run our business in a responsible manner to minimize environmental
pollution.

We manage our human resources and maintain our relationship with
the employees in strict compliance with the relevant employment
laws. The Company provides a safe and healthy working environment
and protects employees from occupational hazards. The Company
supports and subsidizes employees to attend job-related trainings
to improve their knowledge and skills for discharging their duties at
work and enhance their career progression.

The Company values mutually beneficial and long-term relationships
with the suppliers and customers by developing mutual trust
with suppliers and providing high quality services to customers.
The Company provides hotline service, on-site technical support
and training for customers who use our services and products.
The Company also pledges to continuously improve our service
and products through enhancements and upgrades with an aim
to delivering reliable and quality solutions to our customers. We
use reasonably best endeavors to engage our suppliers to be in
compliance with their local environment and employment laws.

We would like to make positive contributions to the community in
various ways and also encourage our staff, their families and friends
to participate in different voluntary activities. The discussions in
respect of specific ESG areas are shown in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (“ESG Report”).

XBERERE

ARERE  AQFREERSHEAXFREE
MENREREE > LR EEEERRITEHUR
EHRENEE RAEKNLSEERRE
BEEABRESRBEERBNSAEEERS -

RABRRETHMEERELZ UEBANERK
HREMFREMFE TR A RHEZEZEEDN
IFRRIERERENBERZE - FRFXHF
WwEBEESME TIEHERBEZI > LU0 R %
FRARIHFELNNMBRKRE  MAEREE
B o

FARAHEBRIEGEIRAERRERMELIR
BotmMEMEEREFHZEEEANNRE
GIFRAGR AR MEARMARBRERNE
FRHEABRT  RERMXEREIN &2
BIMALBBRERAR  BENETEZRMA
NERBMER ESARBTRPRERMUEITRELAN
R -RHAEEEBERATERABNEZEN
HEBETHEMIRBEREMEE -

HPAFZEUZEAXABUEBHFEEBEBER > 11
EBMEINAERRSETAELEE - BEK
ERE - HEREAHEBHNNRANIERE  #
EREARS (MR- HEREBBRS) °

BRBEEFEZERAR

B — et

<



Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Major Customers and Suppliers

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the financial year is as follows:

FEERRMER

REVMREETEZRRMHEFDFEGHELE
ERHEELEBEANNT

| 4
Percentage of the Group’s Total
HAEEABENESL
Sales Purchases
tHEHE EigEE
The largest customer RAKF 3.9%
Five largest customers in aggregate EARFPEE 13.1%
The largest supplier RABES 2.8%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AABEESH 9.5%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest
in these major customers or suppliers.

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs at that date are set out
in the financial statements on pages 135 to 249.

Recommended Dividends

An interim dividend of HK 1.83 cents per share (2021: interim dividend
of HK 2.8 cents per share) was paid on 7 October 2022.

The Directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK
4.67 cents per share (2021: final dividend of HK 6.45 cents per share)
and a special dividend of HK 2.75 cents per share (2021: Nil) for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The proposed dividends are expected
to be paid on or about 31 May 2023 to qualified shareholders subject
to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set
out in Note 74 to the “Notes to the Financial Statements”.

Share Capital

Details of the issue of shares and the movements in share capital of
the Company during the year are set out in Note 25 to the “Notes to
the Financial Statements”.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the financial year 2022 and up
to the date of this report were:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LEE Delman

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P.

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company at the date of
this report are shown on pages 46 to 53.
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

In accordance with Article 96 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, at each AGM one third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not greater than one third) shall retire from office. Mr. CHENG
Chun Chung, Andrew, Dr. LEE Delman, Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H.,
J.P. and Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy will retire at the forthcoming
AGM. Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew, Dr. LEE Delman and Mr.
CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM, whereas Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. has
decided not to offer himself for re-election, in conformity with the
Company’s Policy of Board Diversity, Refreshment & Succession and
Size and will retire after the conclusion of the AGM.

The Directors of subsidiaries during the financial year 2022 and up to
the date of this report were:

Mr. TSE Kam Keung

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew

Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily

Ms. CHU Pik Kwan, Peggie (resigned on 1 January 2023)
Ms. PANG Kit Fong (was appointed on 1 January 2023)

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Company'’s Articles of Association, subject to the
statutes, every Director of the Company shall be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which
Director may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of
the Director’s office or otherwise in relation thereto. Such permitted
indemnity provision is in force at any time in the financial year and at
the time of approval of this report.
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Director’s Interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts

Dr. LEE Delman was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 29
October 2012 and is Vice Chairman for TAL Apparel Limited and
accordingly may be regarded as interested in all contracts and other
dealings between TAL Apparel Limited and members of the Group
during the year under review.

Apart from the foregoing, no contract, transactions or arrangements
of significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party
or were parties, in which a Director of the Company or any entities
connected with the Director had a material interest, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than normal

statutory compensation.

All Directors shall retire by rotation in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company and the Listing Rules or at such time as
may be required by resolution of the Board of the Company.

Details of three Executive Directors’ employment contracts, four Non-
executive Directors’ and five Independent Non-executive Directors’
service contracts are set out below.

Mr. TSE Kam Keung signed an employment contract to act as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 1 July 2015,
for a three-year term until 30 June 2018, subject to a 3-month written
notice to terminate the contract by either the Company or Mr. TSE.
The contract was extended upon its expiration on 30 June 2018 and
30 June 2021 respectively, each for a period of not more than 3 years
with other terms remaining unchanged.
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Directors’ Service Contracts (Continued)

Under the employment contract of 30 August 2004 signed between
the Company and Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew, the contract
can be terminated by the Company or Mr. CHENG by giving one
month’s notice or payment in lieu of notice. On 15 November 2011,
Mr. CHENG was appointed as Acting Deputy Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, and on 26 June 2012, he became the Deputy
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. In line with the business
developments of the Company, he was re-designated as the Chief
Technology Officer of the Company on 1 January 2017.

Under the employment contract between the Company and Ms.
CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily dated 20 March 2008, Ms. CHUNG acts
as the Chief Operations Officer of the Company. The contract can
be terminated by the Company or Ms. CHUNG by giving one month'’s
notice or payment in lieu of notice. Since Ms. CHUNG reached
retirement age at her 60, her employment contract was extended on
14 July 2016, 17 July 2017, 16 July 2018, 16 July 2019, 22 July 2020,
23 July 2021 and 25 July 2022 respectively, each for a 1-year period.

In the 2017 AGM, the Company entered into service contracts with
three Non-executive Directors, namely Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S.,
J.P.,, Dr. LEE Delman and Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth; two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAU Tak Hay and Ms. CHAN
Chi Yan, each for a period of three years. The service contract can
be terminated by the Company or the Director by giving one month's
notice in writing or payment in lieu of notice. The extension of
the service contracts with the aforesaid Directors for a period of
three years with other terms remain unchanged were approved by
shareholders at the 2020 AGM.

In the 2018 AGM, the Company entered into service contracts with
a Non-executive Director Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAK Hubert, Mr.
CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy and Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P,, each
for a period of three years. The service contract can be terminated by
the Company or the Director by giving one month’s notice in writing
or payment in lieu of notice. The service contracts were renewed with
the aforesaid Directors for a period of three years with other terms
remain unchanged after the conclusion of 2021 AGM.
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31 December 2022, Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P., a Non-
executive Director, had a deemed interest in 101,125,000 shares
of the Company through his indirect shareholding in TAL Apparel
Limited and 95,673,000 shares in the Company through his direct
shareholding in Eastex (HK) Limited respectively. Dr. LEE Delman, a
Non-executive Director, had a deemed interest in 101,125,000 shares
of the Company through his indirect shareholding in TAL Apparel
Limited. The deemed interests 101,125,000 shares of the Company
held by Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P. and Dr. LEE Delman were
the same shares held by TAL Apparel Limited. Mr. TSE Kam Keung,
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew and Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily,
Executive Directors of the Company, held 4,070,000, 2,755,843 and
2,994,605 ordinary shares of the Company registered in their own
names respectively as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”).

The Directors of the Company are entitled to options under the share
option scheme of the Company, details of which are set out in the
section “Share Option Scheme” below.

Apart from the foregoing, none of the Directors of the Company or
any of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age has
interest or short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company, any of its holding company, subsidiaries or other
associated corporations, as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies.
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme currently in operation was adopted on
9 May 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme 2014"). Under the Share
Option Scheme 2014, the Board has the absolute discretion to
offer any employees (whether full or part-time), directors (including
Independent Non-executive Directors), consultants, business
associates or advisers of the Company or any company within the
Group options to subscribe for shares of the Company, provided that
the total number of shares issued or to be issued to any one grantee
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue. The grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as
nominal consideration for the grant upon acceptance of the offer of
an option. An offer must be accepted within 21 calendar days (from
and including the date of the offer by the Company). Each option
has a 10-year exercise period and the details of the Share Option
Scheme (including but not limit to vesting conditions, the fair value of
options at the date of grant and the accounting standard and policy
adopted) are set out in Notes 24(a) and (b) under the heading “Notes
to the Financial Statements” on pages 220 to 231. The Share Option
Scheme 2014 will expire on 8 May 2024. However, share options
granted under this Share Option Scheme before its expiry date will
remain valid, subject to the same terms and conditions.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme 2014 is:

(@)

to assist the Company to attract and retain the best available
personnel; and

(b) to provide additional incentives to employees, directors,
consultants, business associates and advisers to promote the

success of the Group;

by providing them with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company through an offer of grant of options. The Shares subject
to the Share Option Scheme 2014 will be identical in nature with the
other Shares of the Company.
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The total number of share which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme 2014 shall not
exceed in aggregate 10% of the issued capital of the Company at its
adoption date, being 79,207,319 shares on 9 May 2014 (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). Options that have lapsed shall not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. The Scheme
Mandate Limit may be renewed by obtaining approval of shareholders
in general meetings of the Company provided that such total number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme 2014 under the Scheme
Mandate Limit as renewed shall not exceed 10% of the shares issued
at the date of approval of such limit (the “Refreshed Limit"). Options
previously granted (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed
or exercised) shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the
Refreshed Limit.

The subscription amount payable in respect of each share option
upon exercise of an option shall be determined by the Board and shall
be not less than the greater of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares on the SEHK'’s daily quotation
sheet on the date, which must be a business day, of a written
offer of such option (the “Date of Grant”); and

(i)  the average closing price of the shares on the SEHK as stated

in the SEHK'’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days

immediately preceding the Date of Grant.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme 2014, is
45,825,000 shares, representing approximately 5.77% of the issued
shares of the Company on that date.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the number of shares that
may be issued in respect of options granted under the Share Option
Scheme 2014 divided by the weighted average number of the shares
in issue for the year is around 0.06.
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

At the AGM of the Company on 8 May 2015, shareholders approved
the amendments to clauses 10.1(D), 10.1(E) and 2.1 of the Share
Option Scheme 2014. Such amendments to the Share Option Scheme
2014 give the Board a discretion to waive or extend the 90-day
Limitation (as defined in the Company’s Circular to Shareholders
dated 2 April 2015) with authority to impose conditions to any such
waiver or extension and to provide an appropriate exercise period for
each grant of options during the scheme period. This provides the
Board with necessary flexibility it needs to deal, in the best interest
of the Company, with the different types of situations that may arise
over the course of the ten-year validity period of the Share Option
Scheme 2014.

As provided under the transitional arrangements under the amended
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the Company would continue to
make grants to participants eligible under the existing Share Option
Scheme until refreshment or expiry of the existing scheme mandate,
upon which the Company will be required to amend the terms of the
scheme to comply with the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
and seek shareholders’ approval for a new scheme mandate.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Share Option Scheme (Continued) BE e fE =t 21 (4R)

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share TRKEBEREAQTBRENES
options during the year:

>
No. of options
lapsed upon No. of
No. of options termination of options
outstanding employment/ outstanding Market value Market value
asat No.of options No. of options  No. of options expiry of the asat Exercise per share on per share on
1January granted during exercised cancelled 10-year exercise 31 December Exercise  price per dateof grant exercise of
2022 the year during the year during the year period 2022 Date granted period share  of options options*
KZBZZ& BRLERE/ K-F-ZF KRG BRE
-A-H +EFHEH +ZA=+-H RERH TR
BARTER  ERBHN  FRTEN  FREHN ERMANN  HXTEN SRk SRRH
BREHE BREKE BRESE MREXE  BREHE  BRESE RUEH 8 SRITER WEE  MHE
HKS HKS HK$
BER BER BRT
Directors
%
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.8.5, J.P. 900,000 - - - - 900,000 30/06/2014 10years 190 190 -
FhERL SBS.IP ZE-mERAZHR +4
100,000 - - - - 100,000  02/07/2015 10 years 178 173 -
Z2-nftACH +6
Dr. LEE Delman 200,000 - - - - 200,000 30/06/2014 10 years 190 190 -
FEAAL ZE2-mEXAZ1AH +&
100,000 - - - - 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 173 -
Z¥-1%tAZR T&
Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth 200,000 - - - - 200,000  30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 1.90 -
HEINEE ZZ-MmEXA=1AR +&
100,000 - - - - 100,000  02/07/2015 10 years 178 173 -
—E2-n%tACH +&
Mr. CHAK Hubert 900,000 - - - - 900,000  30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 1.90 -
pEkE ZE-MEXB=1AH +&
100,000 - - - - 100,000  02/07/2015 10 years 178 173 -
ZZ-1EtAZH +&
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay 500,000 - - - - 500,000  30/06/2014 10 years 190 190 -
BEELLE Z2-mEXRBZTH +&
100,000 - - - - 100,000  02/07/2015 10 years 178 173 -
Z2-nftAZH +6
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy 800,000 - - - - 800,000  30/06/2014 10 years 190 190 -
EHARE ZZ-mEXAZ1A +&
100,000 - - - - 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 173 -
ZF-1%tAZR T&
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. 900,000 - - - - 900,000  30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 190 -
AIERE MH, JP. ZZ-MEXA=1AR T&
100,000 - - - - 100,000  02/07/2015 10 years 178 173 -
—E-n%tACA +&
BREETHRERAT
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)
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Share Option Scheme (Continued) FERe fE st 21 (1)
>
No. of options
lapsed upon No. of
No. of options termination of options
outstanding employment/ outstanding Market value Market value
asat No.of options  No. of options  No. of options expiry of the asat Exercise per share on per share on
1January granted during exercised cancelled 10-yearexercise 31 December Exercise  price per dateof grant  exercise of
2022 the year during the year during the year period 2022 Date granted period share  of options  options*
|t St -3 ERLRE/ K-B-ZF KEHE  WRE
-A-H TETES +ZA=+-8 RERH bididod
BARTERN  ERBHN  FRTEN  FREHEN ERMXEN  HXTEN SRk SkRRH
BREXE BREZE BREYE BREYE BREHE BREYE RHAY 8 SRITEE WEE  MHE
HKS HKS HKS
BER BER BER
Mr. TSE Kam Keung 200,000 - - - - 200,000  30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 190 -
HBBRE ZE2-MmEXAZ1A +&
100,000 - - - - 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 173 -
“2-n%tACH T#
1,200,000 - - - - 1,200,000  04/07/2016 10 years 157 1.56 -
Z2-XELARA tE
2,400,000 - - - - 2,400,000  28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 1.59 -
Z2-tEmAZ+AR 15
2,400,000 - - - - 2,400,000  04/05/2018 10 years 1.34 133 -
- )\ELAMA +E
2,400,000 - - - - 2,400,000  12/04/2019 10 years 1.406 1.39 -
ZE-hENBt+ZH T&
2,400,000 - - - - 2,400,000  17/04/2020 10 years 1.09 1.09 -
ZE_2EMATEH +&
2,400,000 - - - - 2,400,000  16/04/2021 10years 122 116 -
ZBC-F@A+RA T&
- 2,400,000 - - - 2,400,000  19/04/2022 10 years 117 116 -
ZE__FMA+TAA +&
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew 1,200,000 - - - - 1,200,000  30/06/2014 10 years 190 1.90 -
BEBEE Z2-mEXBZ1A +&
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000  02/07/2015 10years 178 173 -
ZE-nftACH +&
900,000 - - - - 900,000  04/07/2016 10 years 157 1.56 -
ZE-XELAMmA +&
500,000 - - - - 500,000  28/04/2017 10years 1.592 1.59 -
ZE-t£MAZ+)\R +&
900,000 - - - - 900,000  04/05/2018 10 years 134 133 -
- )\EEAMmA +&
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000  12/04/2019 10years 1.406 1.39 -
ZE-nEMB+ZH +&
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 17/04/2020 10 years 1.09 1.09 -
ZE_REMATER +&
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000  16/04/2021 10 years 122 116 -
ZE_-£MAB+RAE +&
- 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 19/04/2022 10 years 117 116 -
ZE-_EMATAR +&
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily 500,000 - - - - 500,000  30/06/2014 10 years 190 1.90 -
BEELL Z®-mEXRBZ1A 15
700,000 - - - - 700,000  02/07/2015 10 years 178 173 -
ZZ-1EtAZH +&
900,000 - - - - 900,000  04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 1.56 -
ZE-REtAEA T&
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000  28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 1.59 -
ZE-tEMAZ1I\R +#
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000  04/05/2018 10 years 134 1.33 -
ZE-/\fEAMmA 15
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 12/04/2019 10 years 1.406 139 -
ZE-hEMA+ZA +&
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000  17/04/2020 10 years 1.09 1.09 -
ZE_ZEMA+LA 15
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 16/04/2021 10 years 122 116 -
ZE_-EMA+AA +&
- 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 19/04/2022 10 years 117 116 -
ZZZ_EMBTAR T&

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Share Option Scheme (Continued) BE e fE =t 21 (4R)
>
No. of options
lapsed upon No. of
No. of options termination of options
outstanding employment/ outstanding Market value Market value
asat No.of options No. of options  No. of options expiry of the asat Exercise per share on per share on
1January granted during exercised cancelled 10-yearexercise  31December Exercise  price per dateof grant  exercise of
2022 theyear during the year during the year period 2022 Date granted period share  of options  options*
|t St -3 ERLRE/ H-B-ZF KEHE  WRE
-A-H TETES +ZA=+-8 RERH TR
BARTERN  ERBHN  FRTEN  FREHEN ERMXEN  HXTEN SRk SkRRH
BREXE BREZE BREYE BREYE BREYE BREYE RUAY 8 SRITEE WEE  MHE
HKS HKS HKS
BER BER BER
Employees 1,300,000 - - - - 1,300,000  30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 190 -
(3] ZE2-mEXAZ1A +&
1,200,000 - - - - 1,200,000  02/07/2015 10 years 178 173 -
“2-n%tACH T#
1,400,000 - - - - 1,400,000 04/07/2016 10 years 157 1.56 -
Z2-XELARA tE
1,400,000 - - - - 1,400,000  28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 1.59 -
ZB-tEmAZ+AR 15
2,000,000 - - - - 2,000,000  04/05/2018 10 years 1.34 133 -
2 )\ERAMA +E
2,300,000 - - - - 2,300,000  12/04/2019 10 years 1.406 1.39 -
Z2-AEMA+CH 15
2,400,000 - - - - 2,400,000  17/04/2020 10 years 1.09 1.09 -
ZR-TEMATEA i3
2,400,000 - - - - 2,400,000 16/04/2021 10 years 1.22 116 -
ZBC-F@A+RA T&
- 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000  19/04/2022 10 years 117 116 -
ZE__FMATAA +&
Ex-employees 2,900,000 - - - - 2,900,000  30/06/2014 10 years 190 190 -
i3] Z2-mEXBZ1A +&
2,900,000 - - - - 2900,000  02/07/2015 10 years 178 173 -
ZE-nftAZH +4&
2,100,000 - - - - 2,100,000  04/07/2016 10 years 157 1.56 -
ZE-XELAMA +&
500,000 - - - - 500,000  28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 1.59 -
ZE-t£MAZ+)\R +&
Total 56,000,000 7,400,000 - - - 63,400,000
a5
>

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the ZAATRMHEREEREREAHEI S
date on which the share options were granted on 19 April 2022 was FEA+HAR)AIHNKHBEABE1.167T ©
HK$1.16.

A Being the weighted average closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares ~ * B NE]EEREEEERET & H BB #
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised. FEUY B

The options granted to the Directors are registered under the names EFEEMNBEBREDIUESMNULER > MK
of the Directors who are also the beneficial owners. EMNABBmBEEAC
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Information on the accounting policy for share options granted and
the weighted average value per option is provided in Notes 7(qg)(ii) and
24(a) to the “Notes to the Financial Statements” respectively.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the
Company, or its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in the Company or any other body corporate.

Equity-Linked Agreements

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year, save for the share option scheme
described in this report.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares
We has been notified of the following interest in the Company’s

issued shares as at 31 December 2022 amounting to 5% or more of
the ordinary shares in issue:

R B R =t 8 (48)

EHERLERENGHARERSHEREM
EEHEENEHIBENTHHFRRMEIN
K1 aE1(q)(ii) % 24(a) °

MR EXFRES  MEREMER > "8 HH
MEBARMEITLEAZH  REXAQRDES
AEBELSARREMEMEABRNROM
RS o

R 1 #2849 15 58

B4 2 95 45 BT 3 B9 B BR A 5t 3051 o B2 P £ (1 B
RIS A AR A 0 M IR AT A IR 1
% o

I E iR R AT B 1 Rz 4H BA B 19 B9 1
mRRE

KA ERR_SE__F+-_B=+—H#%HE
EABERITRMNES ZE BT EZERSH
ERMRREWMT:

>
Ordinary shares
LEk

Corporate/ % of total
Registered individual Number of issued
shareholders interests shares shares
a8/ e HTRH
BXRE PN 5+ ki #E BYERL

Substantial Shareholders TERR
South China (Jersey) Holdings Ltd. South China (Jersey) Holdings Ltd. - 101,125,000 101,125,000 12.73%
TAL Apparel Limited BERKERLRT 101,125,000 - 101,125,000 12.73%
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P. FhEE L SBS,JP - 95,673,000 95,673,000 12.04%
Eastex (HK) Limited 95,673,000 - 95,673,000 12.04%

iastex (HK) Limited

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares
(Continued)

The register of interest in shares and short positions kept under
Section 336 of the SFO indicates that the interest disclosed by South
China (Jersey) Holdings Ltd. is the same as the 101,125,000 shares
disclosed by TAL Apparel Limited, its 100% owned subsidiary; and the
interest disclosed by Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P,, is the same
as the 95,673,000 shares disclosed by Eastex (HK) Limited, his 100%
wholly owned company.

Apart from the above, we had not been notified by any person who
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company as at 31 December 2022, which was recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of our Directors as at the date of this
Annual Report, we have maintained the prescribed public float under
the Listing Rules.

Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions

There are no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions pursuant to the Listing Rules during the year of 2022.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

The Company did not have any bank loans and borrowings as at 31
December 2022.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 250 to 251 of the
Annual Report.
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Directors' Report (Continued)
EFgHREE(E)

Retirement Scheme

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees. Particulars of this retirement
scheme are set out in Note 23 to the “Notes to the Financial
Statements”.

Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. All INEDs are
considered independent apart from their independence confirmations
received and also through their participations and discussion of the
Company'’s business during the year which INEDs demonstrated their
ability to continue to bring in fresh perspectives and independent
judgements to the Board and respective Board Committees.

Auditors

The Company’s auditor, KPMG, will retire at the forthcoming AGM
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of KPMG as our auditors is to be proposed at
the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2023

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Other Information
Hah &

Purchase, Sales or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities.

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 9 May 2023
to Friday, 12 May 2023, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered to determine the shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting ("“AGM”)
to be held on Friday, 12 May 2023. In order to qualify to attend and
vote at the AGM, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration, no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 8 May 2023.

The register of members will also be closed from Friday, 19 May 2023
to Tuesday, 23 May 2023, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the final
and special dividends, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration, no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 18 May 2023.
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Report of the Auditors
ZEEmRE S

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tradelink
Electronic Commerce Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set
out on pages 135 to 249, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)

ZEEHRE S (8

Key audit matter

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on this matter.

Revenue recognition in respect of the provision of
front-end Government Electronic Trading Services

Refer to notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 147 to 149.

The Key Audit Matter
MEEFEE

Revenue of the Group is derived from the provision of front-
end Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS") for
processing certain official trade-related documents and
from project and other service income. Revenue from GETS
constitutes a major portion of the E-Commerce segment,
which accounted for 67% of the Group's revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Revenue is recognised when the customer obtains control of
the promised service in the contract.

The Group uses complex information technology (“IT”")
systems to track the point of service provision for GETS. The
calculation of the GETS charge is automatically performed
by the IT systems based on pre-defined key parameters,
including unit price and transaction volume.

EEENKEREREEEETHRRESEZHBXH
Mells B EFE SR (TGETS)) XK B IE B M Hth AR
FUAGETSHIKEEREFEESBWNEELRS > M
EFHENSt SEREE_ZS__F£+-_A=+—H
IEFEEWREBI67% ©
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EUNBAMAREZER

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
in respect of GETS included the following:

with the assistance of our internal IT specialists,
identifying and evaluating the key relevant IT systems
and the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls, with particular
emphasis on the capturing and recording of GETS
transactions.

with the assistance of our internal IT specialists,
assessing the calculation logic of the pre-defined
formulae built into the IT systems and the related
parameters (including unit price and transaction
volume) used in the calculation of GETS charges;

comparing the details of the monthly manual journal
entries relating to the input into the accounting
system of aggregate GETS revenue with the reports
generated by the IT systems, on a sample basis;

RPN EGETSRE PN B EFEE !

ERMAABEARKEROBET > # B RTE
A B9 BA R AR A 4% A T DU K Rl B2 B P9 BB 4 R R
e BHRNETNG > LHHRFEGETSR 58
S &Y

FERMAREANREXOHET > FEHEARAR
REGPRNENFEARECEANETEE UK
HCETSERAREANHEM2B(BREEMERK
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)

% BAT # & & (8

Key audit matter (Continued)

Revenue recognition in respect of the provision of
front-end Government Electronic Trading
Services (Continued)

Refer to notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 147 to 149.

The Key Audit Matter
MEESEE

A record of GETS transactions is generated by the IT systems
from which the GETS charges, in an aggregate amount, are
manually input into the accounting system on a monthly
basis.

We identified revenue recognition in respect of GETS as a key
audit matter because of its significance to the Group's total
revenue and because the reliance on complex IT systems
with the subsequent manual input into the accounting
system increases the risk of error in recording revenue.

GETSHX Bt RHEMBKRAMEL » GETSEAN
MEBEZBBUAFRAGHRG

HPIAGGETSH N m DA SHEEFHEE  BAHH
fh EEEAKNENEEZNS  TEHRKBEBNE
AMBRAGUREREFIBAGHRA BN T C 8 K=
B9 #5522 AL B o

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

PR 8 = 5t S 1H (4R)
EE GRS C LTS A )

RS BRENZIRAUR I E1478 EF 1498
B9 & 51 B 7 o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EANBHMAREZER

comparing the unit price for each GETS charge as
recorded in the IT systems with details in contracts
signed with customers, on a sample basis, and to
test the operating effectiveness of internal controls
in respect of the authorization of and input of the unit
price changes;

comparing cash receipts from customers during the
year and subsequent to the financial year end with
invoices issued to customers during the year, on a
sample basis; and

inspecting underlying documentation for other
manual journal entries relating to revenue which were
considered to be material or met other specific risk-
based criteria.

HEREEARN KRR ENSEGETSE AN
BUEREZEREITINSOFBETLER LA
AMBEUEREHRERBANABESFNET

R

MEREARMBEFERRRNBEETRNR SR
FRARAETFELHNBERETLER X
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)

% BET R & F ()

Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)

% BAT # & & (8

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibilities towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)

% BAT # & & (8

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)

% BAT # & & (8

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lung Miu Ling.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

20 March 2023

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

FmEEm R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 W E_E-__F+-RA=+—HILEE

2022 2021

Sy —EZ—F

Note HKS$'000 HKS$'000

Mtz ABET R BT T

Revenue U 2= 3 258,815 273,825
Cost of purchases B8 R AR (18,167) (22,749)
Staff costs & 8 ik & 5(a) (118,610) (122,348)
Depreciation e 5(b) (8,479) (8,484)
Other operating expenses Hh & EMx 5(c) (33,465) (29,258)
Profit from operations RN 80,094 90,986
Other net loss Hh g5 1873 58 6 (20,427) (2,035)

Impairment loss on interest in an associate ~ FX— R E A S ZEH

B K518 16(b) - (834)
Share of results of an associate Frih— BB QN B A (585) (1,899)
Profit before taxation B #8 & iz F 5 59,082 86,218
Taxation MR IE 7(a) (6,749) (12,565)
Profit for the year TEEGHHN 52,333 73,653
Earnings per share (HK cents) SRERM GEW) 13
Basic =i 6.6 9.3
Diluted s 6.6 9.3

The notes on pages 144 to 249 form part of these financial 144BZEF240BH M BRI FFRRN—IB
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of 43 o A F EHF) 9 B I FEIR 4 T A Q5 AR #
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set outin Note 358G AR B H#BEH KA 277 o

71.

BRBEEFESZERAR
TETTFER



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
CEEmkEMEAEKREXR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE-__F+_HB=+—HILEE

2022 2021
B8 —E_—F
Note HK$'000 HKS$'000
iik=3 ABET R BT T
Profit for the year EEERFH 52,333 73,653
Other comprehensive income for the TFEEHMEEWES
year (after tax and reclassification (R REHSE
adjustments): HERE) :
Items that may be reclassified subsequently HESHEEFHEE
to profit or loss: HERNIER:
Exchange differences on translation MESBIRIIEHEN
of financial statements of the B IR
operations outside Hong Kong ERELE (46) (643)
Debt securities measured at fair value BRHMEEK SR
through other comprehensive income ~ s EME(TFVOCH)
(“FVOCI”) — net movement in fair value STEMNEFES
reserve —RREEREE
EH) R 12 (1,148) 776
Total comprehensive income for the year FEEREWEEEE 51,139 73,786

The notes on pages 144 to 249 form part of these financial 144BEF240BHMEBMHFFRRMN—IB
statements. 5 e

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EEMBERR IR

As at 31 December 2022 K-+ -H=+—H

2022 2021
k- Sl —E-—%F
Note HK$'000 HKS$'000
K&t BT T BT T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRZE 14(a) 20,756 23,531
Goodwill L 15(b) 9,976 9,976
Interest in an associate Frfit—EBE AR #ES 16 - 1,282
Other financial assets HMMBEEE 17 - 35,238
Deferred tax assets IRIERMIBE E 8(b) 137 1,255
30,869 71,282
Current assets MHMEE
Trade receivables and contract assets EREERREHNEE 18 42,093 40,210
Other receivables, prepayments and other HihfEWRIE ~ FEIMRIE
contract costs KEMEG KA 19 19,557 12,156
Other financial assets HM%EE 17 - 231,364
Taxation recoverable Al U [E 77 I8 8(a) 2,953 309
Deposits with banks RITEXR 69,977 44,576
Cash and cash equivalents HeEhHREEE 366,545 164,633
501,125 493,248
Non-current assets classified as assets held D EAFEHEZTEDN
for sale ERBEE 20 567 -
501,692 493,248
Current liabilities mHBEE
Trade creditors, contract liabilities and FEGERAR - AHNEER
other payables HihfEI B 21 163,291 175,187
Taxation payable & ¥ 18 8(a) 851 6,412
164,142 181,599
Net current assets BB ERE 337,550 311,649
Total assets less current liabilities SEHBERARHEE 368,419 382,931
B58 SERRE

— = —

— e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
rEMBRKRRERGE)

As at 31 December 2022 K2+ =-H=+—H

2022 2021
k- Sl —E-—F
Note HKS$'000 HK$’000
Viog=3 BET BT T
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Provision for long service payments RIRBEEBE 22 2,810 2,805
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE 8(b) 1,006 1,227
Other payables H{th FE T+ R 18 21 190 269
4,006 4,301
NET ASSETS BERE 364,413 378,630
Capital and Reserves ARG
Share capital & 2 25(b)(i) 296,093 296,093
Reserves H & 68,320 82,537
TOTAL EQUITY W 4EEE 364,413 378,630

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 REEFGNR _E_=S£=-A_+A#t ERIE#E

March 2023. T2 o

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S., J.P. FE

Chairman FENIEEL > sBS.,JP
TSE Kam Keung HITESH

Executive Director i 85 58

The notes on pages 144 to 249 form part of these financial 1448 & $2498 W it 3548 B B 75 iR R A9 — =B
statements. 4o

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

= O, {35 £ 454
e E@mEFHR
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_ZE-__F+_HB=+—HILEE

Share  Capital Exchange Fair value Other  Retained Total

capital  reserve reserve reserve  reserve  profits  equity
RAEE

Bt EFfE ERHE  GE HtEE RIEN RZLE

Note  HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

Mz ERTr BRTn ABTn BETn BEETn EETR ARt

As at 1 January 2021 K=E--%-B-H 296,093 7176 1,382 372 12 79292 384327
Changes in equity for 2021 EC-ENRAEDEH

Dividends approved in respect of the previous year EEEEHERE 11 = = = = - (57611)  (5761)
Equity-settled share-based transactions MRBEEL R MR AZRNTS = 378 - - - - 378
Lapse of share options BREXH - (337) - - - 337 -
Profit for the year FEE R = = = = - 73653 73653
Other comprehensive income for the year rEEHMZANE - - (643) 776 - - 133
Total comprehensive income for the year KEEREREAE = = (643) 776 - 73653 73786
Dividends declared inrespect of the current year ~ AEEEREREHNRE 71 - - - - - (222500 (22,250)
As at 31 December 2021 K-Ez-%+-B=+-H 296003 7217 739 1148 12 73421 378630
Changes in equity for 2022 CECCEMRIEDEE

Dividends approved in respect of the previous year EEEBH#HERE - - - - - (51,254) (51,254)
Equity-settled share-based transactions NREEBLNRHAERNR S - 440 - - - - 440
Profit for the year KEEH - - - - - 52333 52333
Other comprehensive income for the year rEEHEMEARE - - (46)  (1,148) - - (1199)
Total comprehensive income for the year rEE2ANGLE - - (46)  (1,148) - 52333 51139
Dividends declared in respect of the current year ~ FEEBRZRENK S 1 - - - - - (14542) (14,542)
As at 31 December 2022 K-BZZ£+-A=t+-H 296,093 7657 693 - 12 59958 364413

The notes on pages 144 to 249 form part of these financial $144BE$F249BM sEE M M EHRR A — I
statements. oo
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Operating activities
Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:
Interest income on debt securities measured
at FVOCI

Interest income on deposits with banks
Net loss on disposals of debt securities
measured at FVOCI

Investment income on other financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"):

- Units in investment funds
— An equity security

Fair value loss on other financial assets

measured at FVPL:

- Units in investment funds
- Debt and equity securities
Equity-settled share-based payment

Depreciation

Finance cost

Impairment loss on trade receivables and
contract assets

Net foreign exchange gain

Net gain on disposals of property, plant and
equipment

Impairment loss on interest in an associate

Reversal of impairment loss on other financial
assets
Share of results of an associate

Operating profit before changes in working
capital

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables,
contract assets, other receivables,
prepayments and other contract costs

Decrease in trade creditors, contract liabilities

and other payables
Decrease in customer deposits received

Cash generated from operations

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

BE_Z__F+_A=+—HILFE

BERE
B A7 A i )

GHE
FREMEEUR G IR
NABEFENETRS
EHNA B A
RITERHF B WA
HEFSBHEME2EKRE
BAREEFEN
BHEESFNEIR R
EREZRAREE
(TFVPLY) st 2B EAth
MBEEENKRERA:
—REESEN
——IERAES

ERERBEARBEFE

B E Ath B4 75 & E B9
ARBERIE:
—REBETE
—RBRKRAEES
LIRS R4S Bk ARG 11 73
EROZMN
e
& A
RBERRRENEE
B & R
BE 52 Uit o 7% 2R
HEYE  BEMRE
Uit = 5 BB
R—EBEQRERN
B 5 18
Htt B EERERE
£l
P& —FE B E AR R &

RtEEESEBHAIN
mEEA

FEWERR « SNEE
HtFEUWRIE « TR
MIA R B E QA
(1ghm)

BANRZ - SHNEER
Ht B RER D

BEREREERD

REEENRS

Note
Viog=3

5(a)
5(b)

5(c)
6

16(b)

26(a)

2022

— T ——

HK$'000
BETR

59,082

(245)
(5,322)

1,534

(887)
(12)

16,686
15,819

440
8,479
29

173
171)

(1,447)
585

94,743

(6,820)

(6,429)
(4,329)

77,165

2021
—E—fF
HK$'000
BT T

86,218

(2,760)
(580)

4,777

(1,348)
(90)

5,679
577

378
8,484
41

265
(2,338)

)
834

(1,882)
1,899

100,150

27,239

(15,090)
(5,956)

106,343
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

SEHERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Hong Kong Profits Tax paid
Tax outside Hong Kong paid
Refund of Hong Kong Profits Tax

Net cash generated from operating activities

Investing activities
Proceeds from disposals of debt securities
measured at FVOCI

Proceeds from disposals of other financial
assets measured at FVPL:

- Units in investment funds

— Debt and equity securities
Payment for purchase of other financial

assets measured at FVPL:

= Units in investment funds
— An equity security

Payment for purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment

Interest received

Investment income on other financial
assets measured at FVPL received:

- Units in investment funds

— An equity security
(Placement)/withdrawal of deposits

with banks

Net cash generated from investing activities

EMEBFRFNR
EREBENE
REERNE

EEEHEENREEEN

REEE
HESZSBEMEZENE
BARBETEN
BB FEMIE
HESBESEAR
Fﬁ#iﬁﬁ@%?
BEENFERE
—&égﬁﬁﬁ
—EBRRAES
BAZBERRANEE
AENEMBMBEE
sz {9 &R 18 :
—KEERSEN
——HEREESF
BAYE BENSKE
Fr sz {4 #X 18
HEWME BERRKBE
Frig 18
EHE
BEWEBESEAAEE
AENEMBHBEEEN
BREWA:
—REESEN
——HEREEFSF
(FA) /RERITER

REFHELENRE TN

BE_ZT__F+RA=+—HLEE

2022

Note ~ HKS'0
Viog=3

HK$'000
BETR

(14,054)
&)

63,108

8,253

79,961
145,874

(5,704)

2,932

887
12

(26,373)

205,842

B8

2021
s —%F
HK$'000
BT T
(7,052)

4)
1,464

100,751

92,676

(69,926)
(4,415)

(7,959)

12
4,974

1,348

25,250

42,050
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

mEHRTAERCE)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZE-_"F+-_H=+—HILFE

Financing activities R & EE

Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHERENELRTE

Interest element of lease rentals paid BENHEEHEHENMNETE

Dividends paid to equity shareholders of BENAREREFEAN
the Company [ gS

Net cash used in financing activities B EHFMANIREEE

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RERRESEEMFE

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January HK—BA—HMNIRER

R&EEE
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December #¥+=-B=+—H#
HERREEE
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents HERRELESH
Bank deposits with maturity less K= AR IRIT
than 3 months E==
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERE

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

2022

— T ——

Note HK$'000
Kzt BT T

(1,213)
(29)
(65,796)

(67,038)

201,912

164,633

366,545

350,085
16,460

366,545

2021
s —%F
HK$'000
BT T

(1,222)
@)

(79,861)

(81,124)

61,677

102,956

164,633

138,414
26,219

164,633

B>
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

SEHERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Reconciliation of lease liabilities arising from

financing activities:

The table below details changes in the Group’s lease liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Lease
liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing

activities.

As at 1 January
Changes from financing cash flows:

Capital element of lease rentals paid
Interest element of lease rentals paid

Total changes from financing cash flows

Other changes:

Increase in lease liabilities from entering
into new leases during the year

Interest on lease liabilities

Total other changes

At 31 December

The notes on pages 144 to 249 form part of these financial

statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Bt 75 ¥R 7= MY 5%

Significant accounting policies

(@

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“SEHK"). Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are discussed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
1(c) provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 comprise the Group and the Group’s
interest in an associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis, except
for other financial assets measured at their fair values
(Note 1(i)).

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower
of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell (Note

1(x)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods. Major sources of
estimation uncertainty are disclosed in Note 2.

The following comparative figures in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation:

Reclassification of other net loss of HK$9,595,000,
mainly loss on disposals of debt securities,
investment income from investment funds and fair
value loss of other financial assets (Note 6) to a line
below profit from operations.

Reclassification of reversal of impairment loss on
other financial assets of HK$1,882,000 to other net
loss.
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(b)

(©

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)
Reclassification of interest income of HK$3,340,000
to other net loss.

Reclassification of net foreign exchange gain of
HK$2,338,000, mainly arising from debt securities
and investment funds, from other operating
expenses to other net loss.

In the opinion of the Board, the reclassification made
to the comparative figures better present the operating
activities of the Group and there is no significant impact
on the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds before intended use

Amendments to HKAS 37, Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets: Onerous contracts
- cost of fulfilling a contract

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds before intended use

The amendments prohibit an entity from deducting the
proceeds from selling items produced before that asset
is available for use from the cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment. Instead, the sales proceeds and the
related costs should be included in profit and loss.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

1

FESHERGE

(b)

(©

MBRRNEREE (R

F) B UL A 7 %£3,340,0007T =
NDEEZHMEEFE -

BE 52 UK 7 3 %8 B 152,338,000
(FERBEBISFREEES)
HEMKERAEEFHPBEEH
MESI8 548 ©

EFgRA HERLERHEFFRE
NEHMDBEEFMENEAERN
REEEFE BHEE_T_-_—F+Z
B=+—HLEEENGESBERIL
MBATE

L ETETY

B8 WA AT A® M T T KA
B SR E R R (E B
25 A) B9 15 3T ¢

(B & g 5t # A) H165% (8
) YR BERREG BRE
Vicked- i ]

(B & g 5t & RI) HF375k (&
3]) B EEREEREFE
EBEMESH-EITSHEIZ
Py

(BREGHERNFE16R(IEET) » #
X BERZE: HEBBEFFH
v
REEHEET  BERFAFRDE
& 55 T 5% 5 TH B B9 AR 2 A9 40 Bk 8K &
EHEETRAMEEYRNRE
RE MEEERHERBRER
MM AFAERR

B>

Annual Report 2022



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 3 2} MY 5% (/)

1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

©

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
Amendment to HKAS 37, Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets: Onerous contracts -
cost of fulfilling a contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous, the cost of fulfilling the
contract includes both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling contracts.

None of these amendments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods or the provision of services
in the ordinary course of the Group's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for
any effects of a significant financing component if the
period of financing is 12 months or less.

1

FESHERGE

(c)

(d)

BtHREE (8)

(FH Gt ER)FEI75R (1B:]) » A
HHRERRRAEEE: HRIESE
B -BITEXEIREZE

BRI ERETRENETEE
BN BTERSHONHRERE
BREBRITEMSANIBIREUR
BEITEMNE AR E A
D e

ZEEITHASEEAHHEIB T
BRRERMBERINERIZ7
THEEAXE FEELERMAR
FESHBBNRERNERHTE
A2 fE o

W 2t B EL fth Wz A
FEBRRE-—REBBREPHER
mERUERBEMELERADESK

I ©

RERARBOEHEERTER
B> AEE % HTERAEKE R X
ARETEER WD EAEEN
REZPDHWBMNZEEE - W=EF
BREEBERENEMBEERE > I
MR EAEZITINRER -

HMENHEEEBRI2E(E BRME
ARMEBEANDZFERFNRMEDRD > K
HARERRENRTEESE
WEBAERRAZTREGRER
ZHRBRAOEERIE > MA B
ARZEBERA L@ R o
BHNHEREEAMENETEE
BMORMERD  ZENTHEDOK
DEREEBERANREIRNSNET
PHENANERX FEEZH(E
BB EER)E155K F3RMT
TEEDZNEZ > MEEHR12
BREIUT TEABEEAREDRD
ATEMEZENNE -

BRBEEFESZERAR

S

<



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Revenue and other income (Continued)
Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Transaction fees, handling fees and registration
fees
Revenue is recognised when the related services
have been rendered.

(ii) Annual subscription fees
Revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the period of the subscription.

(iii) Sale of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when
the control of the goods have been transferred
to customers, which is the point in time when
the customer takes possession of and accepts
the products, and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

(iv) Dividends
= Dividend income from unlisted investments
is recognised when the shareholder’s right to
receive payment is established.

= Dividend income from listed investments
is recognised when the share price of the
investment goes ex-dividend.

(v) Interestincome

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under
the effective interest method, using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets measured at FVOCI (recycling) that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e.
gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see Note 1(k)(i)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d)
(vi)

(vii)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Services income

Maintenance and support income

Maintenance and support income is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the service period.

Others
Services income is recognised when the related
services have been rendered.

When the outcome of a contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the cost-to-cost
method, i.e. based on the proportion of the actual
costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that are
expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy set out in
Note 1(0).

Other practical expedients applied

In additional, the Group has applied the practical
expedients of not disclosing the information related
to the aggregated amount of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
if the performance obligation is part of a contract
that has an original expected duration of one year or
less.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

()

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated in the statement of financial position at cost
less accumulated depreciation (or amortisation) and
impairment losses (Note 1(k)):

= buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land, where the fair value of the building
could be measured separately from the fair value of
the leasehold land at the inception of the lease (see
Note 1(j));

= interest in leasehold land; and

= other items of plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets arising from leases of underlying
plant and equipment (see Note 1(j)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(®

(f)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset
and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group
has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows
and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

()

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-
controlling interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with Note 7(n) depending on the nature of the
liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset (see Note 7(i))
or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or joint venture (see Note

1(@)).
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

()

(9)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less any
impairment losses (see Note 7(k)), unless the investment
is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

Associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held
for sale). Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the
investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate that forms part of the Group's equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee's net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see Notes 7(h) and (k)). Any acquisition-
date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group's share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of
the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(9)

Associate (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to
nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity
method together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and an associate are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee,
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the
date when significant influence is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset (see Note 7(i)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
its investment in an associate is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 7(k)), unless classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h)

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i)  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition
date.

When (i) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain
purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for
impairment (see Note 7(k)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in
the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are initially
stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured at FVPL for
which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit
or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines
fair value of financial instruments, see Note 26(e). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(i) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)
(i) Investments other than equity investments
Debt securities held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment
is calculated using the effective interest
method (see Note 7(d)(v)).

FVOCI, if the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the investment
is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both the collection
of contractual cash flows and sale.
Changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income
is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI. Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

()

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

(if)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition
of the investment the Group makes an election
to designate the investment at FVOCI such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Such elections
are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’'s perspective.
Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve is transferred
to retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit
or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as
other income in accordance with the policy set out
in Note 1(d)(iv).

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether

the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to

control the use of an identified asset for a period of time

in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where

the customer has both the right to direct the use of the

identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the

economic benefits from that use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

()

Leased assets (Continued)

0]

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets
which, for the Group are primarily office equipment.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on
a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

1)

Leased assets (Continued)

)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 7(e)

and 1(k)(i)).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits
is accounted for separately from the right-of-use
assets in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in debt securities carried
at amortised cost (see Note 1(i)(i)). Any difference
between the initial fair value and the nominal value
of the deposits is accounted for as additional lease
payments made and is included in the cost of right-
of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group's estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is
a change arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option. When
the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(j) Leased assets (Continued)

0]

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification. The only
exceptions are any rent concessions that occurred
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B
of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the Group
has taken advantage of the practical expedient
not to assess whether the rent concessions are
lease modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease payments
in profit or loss in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property,
plant and equipment’ and presents lease liabilities
in “other payables” in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

@

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs") on the following items:

= financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents and
trade and other receivables);

= contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see
Note 1(1)); and

= debt securities measured at FVOCI.
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at fair value,
including units in bond funds and debt securities
measured at FVPL, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls of fixed-rate
financial assets, trade and other receivables and
contract assets are discounted using effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof where the effect of
discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

= 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

= lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date
of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs
when the financial asset is 90 days past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

= failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

= an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

= an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

= existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt securities that are measured
at FVOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the fair value reserve.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note
7(d)(v) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance)
of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

= significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

= a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

= it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

= significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

= the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of
the issuer.

1 FEFHEEGE

(k) FEEBRREEREGE

0]

EMIARGHEENEES
& (48)

F B A 51 E B ()
RERSHH > ~EEFEHRHM
BEEAGHBEEERE -2
BRE-—RYASTEHMBTEEM
SAARKRBEEREETHEZEDN
EHR MBEENRKRAH
REERE -

MBEEEHREERENSE
BENATHEHEESEMG:

- BEBEAEBHEARUYBR
B

- EBREY WMEXNBH
HEMNEREXE;

- BRAUESSHRENE
THMMBER;

- KT -mE - EBEHER
RENEAREHFHEBA
BRANEE, N

- BETABAMRERES
KEFRMIS ©

BRBEEFESZERAR

S

<



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 3 2} MY 5% (/)

1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

(if)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject
to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

= property, plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets;

= goodwill; and

= investments in subsidiaries and an associate
in the Company’s statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 3 2} MY 5% (/)

1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(if)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use
and intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

= Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (for example, head office building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit
if the allocation can be done on a reasonable
and consistent basis, or to the smallest group
of cash-generating units if otherwise.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 3 2} MY 5% (/)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k)

0]

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Group is required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the
end of the financial year (see Note 7(k)(i)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill are not reversed in
a subsequent period. This is the case even if no
loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised
had the impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim period
relates.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see Note 7(d)) before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms
set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in Note 7(k)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see Note 7(m)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 7(d)). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see Note 7(m)).

1

FESHERGE

(k)

0]

EEHEAEEREGE)

(iii) PHAMBRERFE
REBEEEHERZFRERAT
EH TR AEBMBRR
(BB GTERNNE3R > 4
HERENRERBEAMBE
EENEARETHTHERS o
KA AEEXBER
MHEEARERERANR
—RENS B RBOZE
(BRHtEE1(K)(D) °

KRR R B R B R A
EEAENRERNARER -
12 5% & R R HA HA R B9 R (B AT 1
HRMBEEGREET > BE
REEREGIE » REREERY -
HEBUELEREERSE -

ANEERSHER
REGRGEERBESOHIN MR
BFERWERAER > AEEFREITUK
@m(RAEIQ) IENEEGER
B BHNEEGREMZIKETIB
BERFERAGEEGE > ERAE
AR AEREREFTSEABRK
RIE(R M a2 1(m)) o

ANERERAEEERER DA
ERZNNERBRIB(RAMZ1W) -
fisl 75 52 [ TE W SR AR B Wzt A B BB MR
HREMBERAE ITEIGNE
B BRI IERT > 48 FE B W RIE TR
i ST (R A a2 1(m)) -

BRBEEFESZERAR

S

<



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

0]

(m)

(n)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)
For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see Note

1(d)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see Note 7(1)).

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
significant financing component and other receivables
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost using the effective interest method and including an
allowance for credit losses (see Note 1(k)(i)).

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

©)

(p)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(p)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

All deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal
of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can
be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(p)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

= in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

= in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

= the same taxable entity; or

= different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the
current tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(@)

Employee benefits

0]

(if)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the related service. Salaries,
annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

Share based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
using the Black-Scholes model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to those share options, the total estimated
fair value of the share options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(@)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(if)

(iii)

Share based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of share options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price
of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is included in the
amount recognised in share capital for the shares
issued) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).

Provision for long service payments

Provision is made for potential long service payment
obligations that may arise upon cessation of
employment of the Group’s employees in the future,
to the extent that there is a reasonable probability
that the amounts are likely to become payable. Such
provisions are made on a systematic basis, taking
into consideration the salary and years of service of
the employees who may qualify for such payments
in the future based on their past services rendered.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the Company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that
are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items,
including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign
operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005, are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

()

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties

are considered to be related to the Group if:

@)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family,

is related to the Group if that person:

i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

()

()

Related parties (Continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in Note 1(s)(a).

(vii) A person identified in Note 7(s)(a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of

which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in Note 7(k).

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(u)

(v)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
property, plant and equipment (see Note 7(e)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not
been obtained e.g. an incremental sales commission.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will
be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs
are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

v)

Other contract costs (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services
in the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct
labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that
are explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs
that are incurred only because the Group entered into
the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors).
Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the
net of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the
Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (ii) any costs that
relate directly to providing those goods or services that
have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged
to profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset
relates is recognised. The accounting policy for revenue
recognition is set out in Note 7(d).

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

)

)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified
as held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use and the asset (or
disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be
disposed of together as a group in a single transaction,
and liabilities directly associated with those assets that
will be transferred in the transaction.

When the group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when
the above criteria for classification as held for sale are
met, regardless of whether the group will retain a non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

)

Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)
Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all individual
assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-
to-date in accordance with the accounting policies before
the classification. Then, on initial classification as held for
sale and until disposal, the non-current assets (except for
certain assets as explained below), or disposal groups,
are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions
to this measurement policy so far as the financial
statements of the group and the company are concerned
are deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee
benefits, financial assets (other than investments
in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) and
investment properties. These assets, even if held for sale,
would continue to be measured in accordance with the
policies set out elsewhere in Note 1.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale,
and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale,
are recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current
asset is classified as held for sale, or is included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale, the non-
current asset is not depreciated or amortised.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Accounting judgements and estimates

Key sources of estimation uncertainty in relation to the
preparation of these financial statements are as follows:

Goodwill

Note 15(b) discloses management’s judgement in relation
to the identification of the Group’s E-Commerce segment as
the appropriate cash generating unit for goodwill impairment
assessment. Further to that, management takes into
consideration the projected volume and activity level and cash
flows of the E-Commerce businesses, discounted to present
value at a risk-adjusted discount rate. These projections
are based on assumptions that take into consideration
management’s knowledge of the business environment and
their judgement on future performance. There is inherent
uncertainty in the estimation process and the underlying
assumptions relating to the future, and accordingly actual
performance may differ significantly from the projection.

Revenue

The principal business of the Group is the provision of
Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS”) for
processing certain official trade-related documents. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 75 to
the financial statements.

Revenue represents the value of services provided and goods
supplied to customers. All of the Group’s revenue is within the
scope of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers.
The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised
during the year is disclosed in Note 4.

Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from customers
are set out in Note 26(a).

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

1 75 ¥y 3= M

=t (48)

4 Segment reporting

The Board of Directors of the Group reviews the internal

reporting by segments to assess performance and allocate

resources. The Group has identified the following reportable

segments:

E-Commerce:

Identity
Management:

Other Services:

This segment generates income from the
Group’s Government Electronic Trading
Services and supply chain solutions.

This segment generates income from the
provision of digital certificate services,
security products and biometric-based
authentication solutions for identity
management.

This segment comprises handling fees for
paper-to-electronic conversion services,
income from payment technology solutions
and other projects.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable

segments with reference to fees and sales generated and the

expenses incurred by those segments. The measure used for

reporting segment results is profit before interest, taxation and

depreciation.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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4 Segment reporting (Continued) 4 SEERSES (4B)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by EREIANEREIIZEEEHNRE U
timing of revenue recognition, as well as information regarding REMFESFUEE RS KRS S RIRA
the Group’s reportable segments results as provided to the FENERAEEHE_S__ER-F
Board of Directors for the purposes of resource allocation and ZT—F+ZA=+—HLEFEETEZHKR DI
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31 EBEFIEHWT o

December 2022 and 2021 are set out below.

31 December 2022
“E--%+ZRA=t+-H
Identity Other

E-Commerce Management Services Total

EF¥HE  HMER  HtEH #it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ARTn EBfrn EBFfn  AETRn

Disaggregated by timing of revenue recognition $& 5 57 I 3% B 79 2 51

Point in time IS 129,053 13,757 16,346 159,156
Over time e B 43,112 33,954 22,593 99,659
Revenue from external customers ol 172,165 4771 38,939 258,815
Inter-segment revenue o Bk & - 7817 5,680 13,497
Reportable segment revenue 25 2 2 5 172,165 55,528 44,619 272,312
Elimination of inter-segment revenue BHIBEKE (13,497)
Consolidated revenue BakiE 258,815
Reportable segment profit CEY: Sk F ] 60,904 5,248 22,421 88,573
Depreciation e (8,479)
Other net loss BB FE (20,427)
Share of results of an associate Frib— M E AR EE (585)
Consolidated profit before taxation SakKaEN 59,082

BRBEEFESZERAR
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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4 Segment reporting (Continued) 4 SEEE(E)
31 December 2021
ZB_-f4+°R=+-H
Identity Other
E-Commerce  Management Services Total
ETHE ShER H A AR 75 a5t

HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BTt  BETRn  BEETm  BEBTrn

Disaggregated by timing of revenue recognition $% i 53 iy & B i 3 51

Pointin time kS 150,895 13947 20,692 185,534
Over time I B 37,494 39,871 10,926 88,291

Revenue from external customers Hor s 188,389 53,818 31,618 273825
Inter-segment revenue S EE K E - 7826 5471 13,297
Reportable segment revenue BES G L6 188,389 61,644 37,089 287122
Elimination of inter-segment revenue ESH D B (13,297)
Consolidated revenue BEWE 273,825
Reportable segment profit LY S bt 74,423 9,673 15,374 99,470

Depreciation e (8,484)
Other net loss HiES1E 28 (2,035)
Impairment loss on interest in an associate R—EHE R E RN R AR (834)
Share of results of an associate FE—RHEATER (1,899)
Consolidated profit before taxation SRR EEH 86,218

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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4 Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

As at 31 December 2022, there is no transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
under the Group’s existing contracts (2021: Nil). This
amount represents revenue expected to be recognised
in the future from services contracts entered into by the
customers with the Group.

The Group has applied the following practical expedients
in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
provision of services such that the above information
does not include information about the revenue if either
of the following conditions is met:

(@) the performance obligation is part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or
less; or

(b) the entity applies the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.B16 such that it recognises revenue at the
amount to which it has a right to invoice, which
corresponds directly to the value to the customer
of the entity’s performance completed to date (e.g.
a service contract in which the entity bills a fixed
amount for each hour of service provided).

Geographic information

No geographic information is shown as the revenue and
operating profit of the Group is substantially derived from
activities in Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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5 Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

@

(b)

(©

Staff costs:

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plan

Equity-settled share-based payment
expenses

Salaries, wages and other benefits

Depreciation: (Note 74)
Owned property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Other operating expenses:
Auditors’ remuneration
Directors’ fees and emoluments
Facilities management fees
Repair and maintenance fees
Office rental and utilities
Consultancy fees
Telecommunication costs
Promotion and marketing expenses
Impairment loss on trade receivables
and contract assets (Note 26(a))
Others

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Hith

2022
—=2__

HK$'000
BETR

3,298

440
114,872

118,610

5,496
2,983

8,479

1,039
2,280
4,805
5,777
3,903
3,564
1,711
2,518

173
7,695

33,465

2021
&
HK$'000
BT T

3,415

378
118,555

122,348

5,462
3,022

8,484

1,051
2,330
4,806
5,422
3,824

898
1,737

737

265
8,188

29,258

Annual Report 2022



6 Other net loss

=t (48)

Note
bt &%
Net loss on disposals of debt securities H £ % i Hth 2 & U %
measured at FVOCI (Note 72) BARBESTEN
BHEESNEETE
(Hta£12)
Reversal of impairment loss on other HMBEEEREREE
financial assets (Note 72) B E (Ma12)
Fair value loss on other financial assets FBERZIRAABEE
measured at FVPL: B H fth B4 75 & E /Y
NABEEISE:
- Units in investment funds —REEETEN
- Debt and equity securities — BB RRAES
Investment income on other financial FEBEZRAABENE
assets measured at FVPL: HNEMBEBEEEN
KERA :
- Units in investment funds —KREETEM
- An equity security ——HERAES
Interest income FEUWA
Net foreign exchange gain BE & U a5 5 KR
Government grants for Employment R ETE BT MEN &
Support Scheme (@)
(@ In 2022, the Group successfully applied for funding (a)

support from the Employment Support Scheme under the
Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the HKSAR Government.
The purpose of the funding is to provide financial support
to employers to retain their current employees or hire
more employees when the business revives. Under the
terms of the grant, the Group is required to employ a
sufficient number of employees with reference to its
proposed employee headcounts in each subsidy month.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 7 4 SHEFZRIFRER
profit or loss

(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or (a) ZEEHIRMRIES:
loss represents:

2022 2021
e T —fF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
AT BT T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BNEAMIE—FAFER
Provision for the year KEEEHE 5,899 13,172
Over-provision in respect of prior year UEEEBERE (50) (68)
5,849 13,104
Current tax — outside Hong Kong BNEAfR 18 — F B IR S
Provision for the year KEEEE - 4
Under - provision in respect of prior year UEFEEERERR 3 -
3 4
Deferred taxation IR IA
Origination and reversal of temporary EEREREGRELE
differences 897 (543)
6,749 12,565

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss (Continued)

(@

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss represents: (Continued)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 is
calculated at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year, except for the Company
which is a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered
Profits Tax rate regime. Taxation for subsidiaries outside
Hong Kong is charged at the appropriate current rates of
taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

For the Company, the first HK$2 million of assessable
profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable
profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax for the Company was calculated at the same
basis in 2021.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 and
2021 takes into account the enhanced Research and
Development tax deductions claimed on staff costs
incurred during the year, pursuant to Schedule 45 of the
Inland Revenue Ordinance. The qualifying expenditure is
entitled to enhanced two-tiered tax deductions, i.e. 300%
for the first HKS2 million and 200% for the remaining
amount.

7

FEHREROFREH(E)

(a)

SERImRORES: ()

CEZ_FENEENEGREBEDR
FEMGTERRNENN6.5% (ZF
T—F165%) T E EEAATB®
BEFEBRUENTHNEEERQA
HAtBTstE  SERBIMBLT
MREREAERNBERETRE
Bk o

MAERNBME > & 120000005
B FE SR 70 5 A1) 328.25% AR > MER T
B FERE M B #£16.5% 81 - st &
AATNEBHERBERFAN
HEBR T —FHF -

RIBCRFBEBIM RIS ZF ==
ERZZET—FENEAFNERERE
Bt AMEANCELERE K AFTEA
RMARKERAINEMNREN
e BERHAIER=ZEEIIMAE
I # #5038 - BN & & %2,000,0007T
F &R %8 5 B! 7T #300% K2 200% 2 75 40
o

BRBEEFESZERAR

S
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 3 2} MY 5% (/)

7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 7 4 &IEXERNERFEBHR(B)
profit or loss (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (b) MEARMEAENRIEZHSA
profit at applicable tax rates: sHEFIHEARMT -
2022 2021
g —E-—4F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
ABETR BT T
Profit before taxation Bk #52 &1 & # 59,082 86,218
Notional tax on profit before taxation, RIFMEFAERERBN
calculated at the rates applicable to FriE MM ELRM AT
profits in the countries concerned EAGENEEIRE 9,551 13,983
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR MBEEZNREEE 4,376 1,567
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue FRNENRNBZE (4,373) (1,409)
Tax effect of prior years’ unrecognised FRAUFEEERERRIE
tax losses utilised BENREEE (1,031) (366)
Statutory tax concession AERBEEE (1,727) (1142)
Over-provision in respect of prior years UAFEEBEES 47) (68)
Actual tax expense BRRIEZH 6,749 12,565
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

R %5 ¥ < MY 5E (48)

8 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 8

financial position

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a)

financial position represents:

2022

— T ——

HK$'000
AETR

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax
for the year
Provisional Profits Tax paid

Balance of profits tax provision relating to
prior years

Balance of tax provision outside Hong Kong
relating to prior years

Representing:

Taxation recoverable recognised
in the consolidated statement
of financial position

Taxation payable recognised
in the consolidated statement
of financial position

FEEEBHGSRER

BENE#FER

LUEF B R 1575 5 B 1 R

NEEEERRINGE
B A AR

5
ERGEMBRRER
B 53 89 AT UK [3] 7% 1R

ERGEMBRRIR
HE R BT IR IR

5,899
(9,196)

(3,297)

1,062

133

(2,102)

(2,953)

851

(2,102)

FEMBRRROMAEHR

GEMBRRIRNTBRES:

2021
e
HK$'000
BT T

13,172

(7,264)

5908

62

133

6,103

(309)

6,412

6,103

BRBEEFESZERAR
TETTFER



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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8 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 8 4SS B RERNRER(EA)
financial position (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: () BHEIZNECEREESEREGRHE:
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) ERNGEMBRARERNIEER
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial BEEE/(ABHNERBSRERN
position and the movements during the year are as EHUT:
follows:

Depreciation
allowances Fair value changes
in excess on other financial
of related  Creditloss  assets measured
Deferred tax arising from: RETHEENETRIE: depreciation allowance at FVPL Total
ElER
BAREERE

hEHER GEER NHEUMBEE
BdERTE BfF MNOAREED it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETRn #BTr AEBTR

As at 1 January 2021 KZZZ—-%—-A—H (1,072) 652 (95) (515)
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss RBER () /A (155) (446) 1144 543
As at 31 December 2021 KZE--%+-B=+-H (1,227) 206 1,049 28
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss RBHERFA /(K 221 (69) (1,049) (897)
As at 31 December 2022 KZE8-Z#+-B=+-H (1,006) 137 - (869)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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8 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 8
financial position (Continued)

(b)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
(Continued)

ARG MK R RSB ()

EHRINEERBAEERAMR:
(48)

(b)

2022 2021
S - B
HK$'000 HK$’000
BET BT T
Representing: i5:
Deferred tax assets in the consolidated SRERBRTRAN
statement of financial position IRERIBEE E 137 1,255
Deferred tax liabilities in the consolidated FERBRRARAN
statement of financial position FEERIBEEE (1,006) (1,227)
(869) 28

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has total
tax losses of HK$5,572,000 (2021: HK$11,820,000).
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of cumulative tax losses of HK$5,572,000 (2021:
HK$11,820,000) as it is not probable that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be
available. The tax losses do not expire under current tax
legislation.

MEREHR AEENREBEE
X A& A 15,572,000t (Z S = — £ :
7 #£11,820,0007T) o 7z & @ A # 5t
Rt R IBEE BB 5572000 (ZF
—— 4 #1511,820,0005T) B SRIE I
MEBEE ERHNAKAEEXR
RERVEFMASHRELESIE -
RIBRTRBEEGN RMEBEILE
[E im HA PR o

BRBEEFESZERAR

TETTFER
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Bf 5 3R & Bt 5% (7R)

9 Directors’ emoluments 9 EHM=E
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RIEE B(R B 1K BI)5E383(1) & (L
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the HEESFNAER KA F2HBIREN
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of EEMEUWT:
Directors) Regulation is as follows:
| 4

Other
emoluments
in connection
withthe  Basic salary,
management allowances  Contributions
oftheaffairs  andother to retirement Share-based 2022

Fees  of the Company benefits schemes Bonus*  payments Total
EBER Exkg. DL

BARERN  BMR  BHHE Rl ZB-C

fig AftHE  EthiER it TeAx %t @it

HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000

BRTR ARTn REfm  RBTn  ERTn  RBTn  ERTR

Executive directors BTESE

TSE Kam Keung Bk - - 5,187 18 2,903 154 8,262
CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew BhE - - 3161 18 366 62 3607
CHUNG Shun Kywan, Emily il ¥ - - 3740 - 636 64 4,440
Non-executive directors FHiTES

LEE Nai Shee, Harry £} 150 - - - - - 150
LEE Delman ZEK 100 - - - - - 100
YING Tze Man, Kenneth EFX 120 - - - - - 120
YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent RkE 100 - - - - - 100

Independent non-executive directors ~~ BUFHTES

CHAK Hubert P 350 - - - - - 350
CHAN Chi Yan BEH 330 - - - - - 330
CHAU Tak Hay BEE 370 - - - - - 370
CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy E4E 400 - - - - - 400
HO Lap Kee, Sunny g 360 - - - - - 360
’Total e 2,280 - 12,088 36 3,905 280 18,589
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9

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

9 EFM=E(R)

Other
emoluments
in connection
with the
management
of the affairs
Fees  of the Company
HHEE
ERAEHM
e e
HKS'000 HK$'000
BT BETR
Executive directors HrEs
TSE Kam Keung E ikt - -
CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew BB - -
CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily BIEH - -
Non-executive directors FHrES
LEE Nai Shee, Harry 3NhE 140 =
LEE Delman ZE% 100 2
YING Tze Man, Kenneth ETX 120 2
YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent k& 100 =
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHTES
CHAK Hubert Bits 350 =
CHAN Chi Yan R&& 330 2
CHAU Tak Hay BAER 370 =
CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy BEE 390 =
HO Lap Kee, Sunny Mg 350 2
Total @it 2,050 80
* Bonus represented actual bonus paid during the year

The above emoluments include the value of share options
granted to certain directors and chief executive under the
Company’s share option schemes, as estimated at the date of
grant. Details of these benefits in kind are disclosed under the
sections “Share Option Schemes” in the Directors’ Report.

Basic salary,
allowances  Contributions
andother  toretirement

benefits schemes
EfFs

BER Efaral

A 3%

HKS$'000 HK$'000

BB BRI

5187 18

3017 18

2,666 n

10,870 47

Share-based 2021

Bonus*  payments Total
NiRHA

WMy -3C-%£

i = fi wt

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

EBfrn EEfn  RETn

2,838 121
690 68
591 50

4m9 239

* TEAT 15 F 9 B 1189 B BREAT

8,164
3793
3,318

140
120
140
100

350
350
310
390
310

17605

M BEERBEEIQTBRES SR
FETEERTHASRNBRENRREE
ARG EE LABYAZENFBER
EEgHRESTHBRESE —HKE -

BRBEEFESZERAR
S
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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10 Individuals with highest emoluments 10 Rie#AL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three FR > AAREFATH=ZZH(ZE_—F:
(2021: three) are directors during the year whose emoluments SRAREE RENMES S KM HIK
are disclosed in Note 9. The portions of the emoluments that E-fABRMEEETESHEAZNEIT S
were not attributable to the period during which they were HTIXIKRE - Httma (CTEZ—F . Bm4)
in directorship were disclosed below. The aggregate of the ATZME4R5EMT:

emoluments in respect of the other two (2021: two) individuals
are as follows:

2022 2021
g —E-—F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
BETR BET T
Salaries and other emoluments e MhEMBE 3,810 3,276
Share-based payments UK ABERNZMN 53 65
Retirement scheme contributions BRAKET SRR 36 36
3,899 3,377

The emoluments of the above two (2021: two) individuals with tdmea(CEZ—F MB)EEHFAL

the highest emoluments are within the following bands: BN EFTEEE M T :

2022 2021
el 3 &
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
HKS BT A" ANE
1,000,001 - 1,500,000 1,000,001—1,500,000 - 1
1,500,001 - 2,000,000 1,500,001—2,000,000 1 1
2,000,001 - 2,500,000 2,000,001—2,500,000 1 =
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11 Dividends 11 KRS
(@) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (@) "EEEGFTL2TREFIEAN
Company attributable to the year g2
2021
HK$’000
BT T
Interim dividend declared and B B K &k 13 B9+ ER
paid of HK 1.83 cents per share i& B & 3&1.838
(2021: HK 2.8 cents per share) (& —%F:
=RR2.871L) 14,542 22,250
Final dividend proposed after the end REBESEEFERBSETR
of the reporting period of HK 4.67 cents AR ESHARBEIKN
per share (2021: HK 6.45 cents per share) R B ERR467EL
based on issued share capital as at the %
year end = 1%6.4558 1) 37,109 51,254
Special dividend proposed after the end REBEHEFREEHTRE
of the reporting period of HK 2.75 cents KSR ERIKN
per share (2021: Nil) based on issued BRI BER2758 1L
share capital as at the year end (ZEZ—F .8\ 21,853 -
73,504 73,504
The final dividend and special dividend proposed after the HHREHRERHIKNKRBR S &5
end of the reporting period have not been recognised as a ARE  TRKBRSHFREIAE
liability at the end of the reporting period. & o

BRBEEFESZERAR
TETTFER
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11 Dividends (Continued) 11 RE(EE)

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (b) BHLEL—EMBERE > ERFEAH
Company attributable to the previous financial year, BERREGFEATIREFEANE
approved and paid during the year T2

2022 2021
—E--HF —E-—%
HKS$'000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
Final dividend in respect of the previous B E—EMBEE >
financial year, approved and paid during A6 7S 4 P9 #t A KOTR A
the year of HK 6.45 cents per share (2021: MR HA G 28 R6.45
HK 7.25 cents per share) BU(ZEZ—F:
E8R7.25% ) 51,254 57,611
12 Other comprehensive income 12 Hfh2mik=
2022 2021
ol Sl - B
HK$'000 HKS$'000
AT BT T
Debt securities measured at FVOCI ERHMMEZEWEEAR
EEAENEHEES
Changes in fair value recognised during theyear ZHAEEERIRBZAAEE
2 8 (1,235) (2119)
Reclassification adjustments for amounts HEABRNRIEBET
transferred to profit or loss: EMOERAE:
- Net loss on disposals -HEBERE 1,534 4,777
- Reversal of impairment loss (Note 26(a)) - REEEEL
(Mt 5%26(a)) (1,447) (1,882)

Net movement in the fair value reserve during the B 75 E fth 2 T UX 2 FE 58 B
year recognised in other comprehensive income 7S 6 B /A 7 18 {E 4 & &

#EER (1,148) 776
There is no tax effect relating to the above components at 31 KRB —_gh_F"_—F+-HB=+—H >
December 2022 and 2021. FRABoUERBEE o
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13 Earnings per share 13 SREF

(@) Basic earnings per share (@ EREFERA
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on BERELRBINNDBERIATEBERE
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of ¥ 158 A FE 1k s 7 7 #652,333,0007T
the Company of HK$52,333,000 (2021: HK$73,653,000) ZE T — 4 B%73,653,0005T) KA
and the weighted average number of 794,634,000 FEEETEZERNMETESERE
ordinary shares (2021: 794,634,000 ordinary shares) in 794,634,0000% (— & ——4F : 794,634,000
issue during the year. REBR)SE o

(b) Diluted earnings per share b)) EREIERHN

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of
the Company of HK$52,333,000 (2021: HK$73,653,000)
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 794,634,000 (2021: 794,926,000) after adjusting for
the effect of the potential dilution from ordinary shares
issuable under the Company’s share option scheme,
calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

K+ZB=+—H®
HERMETHERH
RIERBELQE BERE
STEIEEZETRMO
=

=

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
as at 31 December

Effect of deemed issue of shares under the
Company'’s share option schemes for nil

=,
57

consideration

BK+ZB=+—H#®
HERMEFTIRY
(#%)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(diluted) as at 31 December

SEREBERINDRBELARAZTER
B& # 35 B A FE 1k & F1 78 152,333,000
T (ZEZ— 5 . #&¥73,653,0007T) &
LB R B9 0 4 39 B #0794,634,000
BB (Z T = — 4 :794,926,0008%) (B 7t
ANFEREA BT FTRHTZER

WEEHR S E2EUAR)HE W
TRAAS:
ZERMETI9RE(EE)
2021
B &
'000
TR
794,634 794,634
- 292
794,634 794,926
BRRETEZERAA

S
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14 Property, plant and equipment 14 ME- - BERRE
(@) Carrying amount (@ BRMEE
>

Platform
hardware and Ownership
software, interest in Other
computer landand properties
Leasehold and office Motor  Furniture  building held  leased for

improvements equipment vehicles andfixtures  for own use own use
FRERR ffEE R
HENE &f ZTER FRRk HitkEr HEEER
K WAZRE HE RE WAEEZ mHEMNEZ L E
HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
A¥Tn  BETn BETn BRTn  BMTn  EETn  BETR

Cost; R

Asat 1 January 2022 K-B--&-F-A 16914 167766 1278 3279 39,268 3381 231886
Additions %E 1337 3,467 - 3 - 897 5704
Disposals BE - (411) - - - - (411)

As at 31 December 2022 K-8-Z%
+-A=t+-H 18,251 170,822 1,278 3,282 39,268 4,278 237179

Accumulated depreciation:  BiHFE:

As at 1 January 2022 HKZ8--%-F—-H 14,066 157,038 1,278 3217 30,234 2,522 208,355
Charge for the year EREY 947 4,665 - 16 1,805 1,046 8,479
Written back on disposals EEED - (411) - - - - (411)

As at 31 December 2022 KZE-Z%

+-A=t+-H 15,013 161,292 1278 3,233 32,039 3568 216,423
Net book value: REFE:
As at 31 December 2022 KZBZZE

+-A=t+-H 3,238 9,530 - 4 7229 710 20,756

>
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 14 1% - BB R (8

(@) Carrying amount (Continued) (@) BREE(E)
Platform
hardware and Ownership
software, interest in Other
computer landand  properties
Leasehold and office Motor  Furniture  buildingheld leased for
improvements  equipment vehicles and fixtures ~ forownuse  ownuse Total
TaEHR BEBRAN
BEMx K EER BAR tHREF HEMFEA
£E  BAERE HE RE ERREZ MEAMYE by
HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
BETrn  BBTrm BETn A¥Tn  BETn BETn A¥Tx
Cost: RE:
As at 1 January 2021 KZF-Z-f-HF—H 15127 163,049 1278 3,248 39,268 3,381 225,351
Additions "B 1,787 6,129 - 43 = = 7959
Disposals EE = (1412) = (12) = - (1,424)
As at 31 December 2021 KIBZI-%
+ZB=+-H 16914 167,766 1278 3219 39,268 3,381 231,886
Accumulated depreciation: Bt E:
As at 1 January 2021 KZ%Z-5-F-H 13,219 153,719 1,278 3173 28,429 1,469 201,287
Charge for the year EFREY 847 4723 - 56 1,805 1,053 8,484
Written back on disposals & &[] = (1404) = (12) = - (1416)
As at 31 December 2021 KIBZ-%
+-A=+-A 14,066 157,038 1278 3217 30,234 2522 208,355
Net ook value: REFE
As at 31 December 2021 KZBZ-%
+-A=+-H 2,848 10,728 = 62 9,034 859 23,531
BREBFESERAT
TR THFR



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 14 ME - BB K& E(E)

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) EHESE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets FREEEREREERINS SN
by class of underlying asset is as follows: REZFEINOT
2022 2021
—BCFE B —F
Note HK$'000 HKS$’000

it & BETT AETT

Ownership interest in leasehold R EAFIEEAB

land and building in Hong HELHRIEFH

Kong held for own use, carried mEEED

at depreciated cost, with BITEMR AR >

remaining lease term between FIeRFHEA N T

10 and 50 years 10E505 () 7,229 9,034

Other properties leased forown fHEEFERANEMY % »
use, carried at depreciated cost 1% B Y & 51 BR (i) 710 859

Platform hardware and software, F&BEREMGH « BRI K

computer and office equipment, MIRAZTHHE > RITE
carried at depreciated cost % 25 Bk (iii) 154 286

8,093 10,179
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 14 1% - BB R (8

(b)

Right-of-use assets (Continued) (b)) FREEEGE)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

MEAEETEEANRDBNRAZEE SR
L

2021
—E-—fF
HK$’000
BT T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets fFA#E S ERIEMNEE
by class of underlying asset: A ST ESRE
Ownership interests in leasehold land and HELTHNIEFNES
building HERE R 1,805 1,805
Other properties leased for own use HEFERNEMYE 1,046 1,053
Platform hardware and software, TEEHERERMG - EEX
computer and office equipment, MAERME > BITE
carried at depreciated cost X Zs 51 Bk 132 164
2,983 3,022
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGEMNER 29 41
Expense relating to short-term leases EREHEENHEX 683 151
Expense relating to leases of low-value ERBREEEHREN
assets, excluding short-term leases of MY FAEEEE
low-value assets BEENGHHES 107 117

During the year ended 31 December 2022, additions
to right-of-use assets were HK$897,000, related to the
capitalised lease payments payable under renewed rental
agreements. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
there was no additions to right-of-use assets.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in the consolidated
cash flow statement and Note 27(d), respectively.

BE_T__F+-_B=t+—HLHF
B EREEERNEB8970007T »
DEARREBESEGHEREROH
BEXtBEHENR - BE_FT_—F
+ZA=+—HLEEFEE - EEBAER®
BREE -

HENREREBEREEERE
HESTHNFEINERGERE
MEBRRMZ21d) -

BRBEEFESZERAR
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

0]

(if)

(iif)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings held for own use

The Group holds a building for its office. The
Group is the registered owner of the property
interest, including part of undivided share in the
underlying land. Lump sum payment was made
upfront to acquire the property interest from the
previous registered owner, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the land
lease, other than payments based on rateable
values set by the relevant government authority.
These payments vary from time to time and are
payable to the relevant government authority.

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other
properties as its office, warehouse and service
centre through tenancy agreements. The leases
typically run for an initial period of two to three
years.

The leases do not include an option to renew the
lease for an additional period after the end of the
contract term. None of the leases contains variable
lease payments.

Other leases

The Group leases platform hardware and software,
computer and office equipment under leases
expiring for four years. Leases do not include
an option to renew the lease when all terms are
renegotiated and do not include an option to
purchase the leased equipment at the end of
the lease term at a price deemed to be a bargain
purchase option. None of the leases includes
variable lease payments.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

14 ¥ -~ BB R il (4R)

(b) fEF
0]

(if)

(iif)

eEE R
REEBRAEL M REFIGE
BiEEx
FEEFEEFELAERAE -
rEEAYMERTD (BERRBLT
WA DB EEN—FDNE
REEAN —EBRREEER
BoLEBEELEBABA
ME#D > BBAREBEMBRK
AE LB R MR AR R
AR ENREREMBEE
HBE I RRBR D - X F AR B
PR > M 7R XY F A8 BR BT 1
B o

HEFERNHEMME
FEFEEBHEHENSE
FEREMMESHEBAE
BERRBHRL - HE—&KHD
MRAME=SF -

HETARERGNERER
REBHEEIIMIFNEEE -

BEAEOTRAEMR

Hithfi &

AEBRBENRDEREROHELY
HETFTAEGRRE BEX
MAERE HAELFAEER
ENMEEMAEGRRKERNEE
RWEZE®# > BXFEEREE
FHERKERRAZRERE
RENEERREEHRHERBNE
EE- -MEAEESTEAE

(DE/E

P
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15 Interest in subsidiaries

(@

15 FRiGH B 2B

Details of the subsidiaries which principally affected

the results, assets or liabilities of the Group are as

follows:

Name of company

RE%HE

Digi-Sign Certification Services Limited
EFRERBERLT

Trade Facilitation Services Limited
Digital Trade and Transportation Network Limited

BEEREGMRERAR

Up Forward Technology Limited
EERRBRAT

Tradelink PayTech Solutions Limited
ERBERIAHKERAR

BRE(RR) —AFRAH

KRRARERFHRERERAD"

REEZRHRARAT

ENEASBETHEERLT

Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of
establishment and  issued and paid

operation up capital
AL/ BETR
RIREENE SRREFFE
Hong Kong 10,000 shares
& 10,0008 & {7
Hong Kong 50,000 shares
F# 50,0008 s 7
Hong Kong 41,000,000 shares
&8 41,000,000 &
Hong Kong 1 share
¥ 1z B £
Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares
A 1,000,000 i 2
Macau MOP25,000
P A PFIH25,0007
PRC HK$8,400,000
H 718,400,007
PRC RMB500,000
P AE 15000007
PRC RMB500,000
HE AE#500,0007

@ =*x

Proportion

of ownership
interest

held by the
Company

R NGIELE
WEEEER
A

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

TETEBRE -HEHER
HBARFRET :

Proportion

of ownership
interest

held by a
subsidiary
HELR
BENER
BRZERL

100%

Principal activity

IERH

Certificate authority services

REMERSE

Dormant

LEXE

Provision of electronic
messaging routing and
transformation services

RETFASEER
ENRS

Investment holding

REER

Payment technology solution

BANERE T AE S

Provision of e-commerce
services

RUBFHERS

Provision of e-commerce
and e-logistics services
RUEEFHERETYR

R%

Provision of e-commerce
and e-logistics services
REBFHEREFYR

R

Provision of e-commerce
and e-logistics services
RESTHERETNR

%

S

BREETFESERATD @
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15 Interest in subsidiaries (Continued)

(@

(b)

Details of the subsidiaries which principally affected
the results, assets or liabilities of the Group are as
follows: (Continued)

Each of these is controlled subsidiaries as defined under
Note 1(f) and have been consolidated into the Group’s
financial statements.

# Subsidiaries not audited by KPMG. The financial statements of
the subsidiaries not audited by KPMG reflect total net assets
and total revenue constituting less than 1% of the respective

consolidated totals.

* Companies registered as a wholly-foreign owned enterprise in
the PRC.

Goodwill

The goodwill recognised by the Group arose from the
acquisition of Digital Trade and Transportation Network
Limited (“DTTNCO0") in 2009 and is attributable mainly
to the technical expertise, intellectual property and the
synergies expected to be achieved from integrating
DTTNCo into the Group’s existing business and
customer base. The goodwill has a carrying amount of
HK$9,976,000 since the acquisition date of 26 March
20009.

The E-Commerce segment of the Group is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition of DTTNCo
in entirety, and there are no other units within the Group
that the goodwill can be appropriately allocated to.
Accordingly, the E-Commerce segment is identified as the
cash-generating unit (“CGU") containing the goodwill for
the purpose of impairment evaluation of the goodwill.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use the
CGU's cash flow projections based on financial forecasts
covering a six-year period. Based on the management’s
best estimates, cash flows beyond the six-year period
(2021: six-year period) are extrapolated at zero (2021:
zero) growth rate. The future cash flows are discounted,
at a discount rate specific to the Group of 10% (2021:
10%) for the assessment period, to determine the value
in use of the CGU. Based on management’s assessment,
there is no impairment loss recognised in respect of the
goodwill for the year (2021: Nil).

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

15 Fh 1 Bt /8 22 B) # 25 (48)

@

(b)

FEREXEEXG HEIRMA
HBARFRENT : (&)

WEHYBKAEZINDRRENZ ZEH

MiE AT » MBS A & BB BT F5 IR 3k

HREAANER

& B B I B 2 B It I By B S B B 5 AT
TR 2 o % IF BB E AT A
BN E LT FERZAR
MR EEFERABR ZHEEE
SRR T ©

* it 75 P B S) BB L EAY LA ©

[k
AEERINBELRRAKR-ZZZA
FRBEREEZEHRABERLT
MTTNCol) FREE T T EREFERK
it~ MBEENTES S HDITNCOE
SERBREEFRERERETER
HiZFEME BREHHR-_ZSTNE
=BZ+/BE > r aENEEEASB
#9,976,0007T °

HREHAEREFEEN TS
B EDTTNCOR SR EMELEN
WRME > MERESBEBEE D E
EREBEMEN WEFREDH
EFNACELABEENREELE
MREELEEM) UEBLHE
E2EHRETE -

IREEE EMR A IR E & EE T IR E
FTHREENELIETE  HEREEL
BUHEAFHEENMBZEINTE
HARERFAE- EREEENRE
Het NEHR(CE—F  NEH
MUENRERTIRES(ZE=—
FIR)EREREE - RKRIRER
ENTHBABANEENFERRE
10% (ZEZ—F:10%) BER > UEBTE
HEESXEMNEGR - REEER
WM RAFEEBEREERIE
AREBER(CE—F )
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16

Interest in an associate

On 26 December 2022, the Group entered into an agreement
to sell its entire interest of 20% of Guangdong Nanfang Haian
Science & Technology Service Company Limited (“Nanfang”) at
a consideration of RMB6,432,000 (equivalent to approximately
HKS$7,176,000) to ‘B EEF % (R E) BR A F, a subsidiary
of the controlling shareholder of Nanfang. Thereafter, the
Group's interest in Nanfang have been classified as non-current
assets held for sale as set out in Note 20.

As at 31 December 2021, the following list contains the
particulars of an associate, which is unlisted corporate entity
whose quoted market price is not available:

Place of Form of
establishment  business Particulars of issued
Name of associate and operation  structure and paid up capital
Rk BETRAR
RELTARE EENY ABRENL Rt
Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science & PRC Incorporated RMB10,000,000
Technology Service Company Limited HE 2 AE AR 10,000,0007

EREABFREREERLE

Note: Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science & Technology Service Company
Limited, a high-tech company providing advanced e-commerce
services in Guangdong area, enables the Group to gain exposure to
this market through local expertise.

As at 31 December 2021 and up to date of reclassification to
assets held for sale, the associate was accounted for using the
equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

16 FRis— M E 2 S M=

MNZEZZE+ZHZ+H > x&E@EFT
I U E AR 16,432,0005T (0 &
WA 17176,0007T) HEMMSENER™
FERERNERBEERAT(EANNEZI
20 R T BEETFRE(FRE) GRAR (B
FZERBRRAMEBAR)  cHE > A&H
HENEAREESBEAIFELENER
E&EE > FRME20 -

TR -—HBMEQADIRN T _—F+
B=+—H®#E .&’ 5] 7 It 8 T 3% IR
BHIFLHEEER

Proportion
of Group's  Proportionof  Proportion of
effective  sharesheldby shares held by
interest  the Company  asubsidiary Principal activity
FEEMGEE  FLAME HELFAME
REZEA  ROGESE  ROEAL IERE
20% 20% - Provision of e-commerce
services (Note)
RESTHERB W)
Wiet: BEBLEFERNERBEERAETEERY

EREARAETEFHERBNSEKLE B
HEBEMBFRENAELTEEE T ZEZ
s o

KN_E_—F+°"H=+—HKEEZEH
DEAFFHEEEZR  ZBEQRK
RAEDZENGEUBRRAR -

BRBEEFESZERAR

S
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16 Interest in an associate (Continued) 16 FRifE—MBE QB = (8)

(@ Summary of financial information on an associate (@ —HMEBEATHNMBERME
Summarised financial information of the principal TYXHBETEMEATNMBER
associate, adjusted for any differences in accounting MECECHREAREETAEZRFEHBA
policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in the EHoUWEHGAEHHERRPUVEREE
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below: HER) -

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$’000
ABETT BT T
Gross amounts of Nanfang’s assets BAFEENGEELEE:
and liabilities:
Current assets MEEE - 43,486
Non-current assets FERBMEE - 19,019
Current liabilities mEBaE - (15,068)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE - (948)
Equity HE - 46,489
Revenue g 11,807 18,129
Loss from continuing operations FERERBE (2,928) (9,495)
Total comprehensive income 2mU AR RE (2,928) (9,495)
Reconciled to the Group's interest in BAREEKEAERN
Nanfang HER
Gross amounts of net assets of Nanfang BMEEEFEERE - 46,489
Group'’s effective interest rEEERER - 20%
Group's share of net assets of Nanfang SEBFRLEANEEFE - 9,298
Impairment loss AR - (8,016)
Carrying amount in the consolidated REEAMBERRAPBN
financial statements IREE - 1,282

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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16 Interest in an associate (Continued)

(b)

Impairment loss on interest in an associate

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
carried out impairment assessments for the recoverable
amount of Nanfang. As the recoverable amount of
Nanfang was less than the carrying amount, additional
provision for impairment loss of HK$834,000 was made
for the year ended 31 December 2021. The estimates
of the recoverable amount of Nanfang were based on
the present values of the budgeted future cash flows,
discounted at the market risk-adjusted discount rate of
14%, by reference to the projected volume, activity level

(b)

16 Fh {5 — R B & 22 B 4 2 (4R)

BR—HBRELARERNRERE

BE-_Z-—HF+-HA=+—HL=E
B> AEBMBEANAKE S EE
TRETSG B#E_S-_—F+-8
=t+—HLEFE > r  BEANATKE
SEHEERIREE > WEHREINEE
155 18 5 14 5 #5834,0007T © A AT UL
CI&BELE2EEAEE_S=Z/\EW
HEAEFNFERNRE EZHBKERA
FHMBEEIEBNERARSEE &
HREERRKREEREMNWRE > %14%

By T 45 L I 8 B B TR B TR T 00 X
fisdt o

and future zero growth rate beyond the five-year period
financial forecast of the underlying business of Nanfang
up to 2038.

17 B EE

17 Other financial assets

2022 2021
g —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Kzt BT T BT T
Financial assets measured at FVOCI ERHEMZAWEEAR
EBEAENHEEE
- Listed debt securities -LtHEHES @) - 9,430
Financial assets measured at FVPL ERBERAABENE
HHBEE
- Listed debt and equity securities - tHEBEREREES (b) - 161,188
- Units in investment funds -KREETEN (c) - 95,984
- 257172
- 266,602
Representing: i5:
- Non-current -JERH - 35,238
- Current - mE - 231,364
- 266,602

BRBEEFESZERAR
S
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17 Other financial assets (Continued)

©)

(b)

As at 31 December 2021, the amount represented USD-
denominated corporate bonds. The debt securities
were issued by corporate entities with credit quality
commensurate with the return as considered acceptable
to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did
not acquire any corporate bonds (2021: Nil) but disposed
of all corporate bonds at a consideration of HK$8,253,000
(2021: partially disposed of corporate bonds at a
consideration of HK$92,676,000).

All corporate bonds held as at 31 December 2021 were
non-investment grade or non-rated and tradable in open
market.

As at 31 December 2021, there was no debt securities
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. All debt
securities did not have significant credit risk at 31
December 2021. Loss allowance was measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 7(k)(i).

As at 31 December 2021, the amount comprised the
investment in a USD-denominated discretionary Asian
investment grade single bonds portfolio and shares of a
Hong Kong listed equity security.

As at 31 December 2021, the former had a carrying value
of HK$157,589,000. The portfolio was managed by the
Group'’s financial service provider. It consisted of listed
bonds with fixed maturity dates and listed perpetual
bonds. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group disposed of all its investment in the portfolio at a
consideration of HK$142,620,000 (2021: Nil).

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

17 Bt EE (B

@)

(b)

KRZE_—F+-B=+—H %%
EAUETHAENGCEEBS - b X
BERMETEBESNGEEERA
WAREERABAZEZTHERMEE o

BE_T-_—_F+-HA=+—HL#HE
B> AEBIEEBATACERS (=
T—F I E) BEBLRERBEENZ
&S o EAE58,253,0005T
T —F HEMSTENSO X
&% > K1B%A B %92,676,0007T) °

KIS -_—&E+-_RBA=+—HEEW
FrEtXBSAERERNHE
PR TR ARTIEES

KRZE_—%+”"H=+—H8#E
BEEESHEENR2HERGEES
BENEEAE NZE-_—F+=-A8
=+t—B > FEGESESHUEEKAE
SR BEBERBENZIK(O)FR
BBEREER2BEREESE
&R E o

KRZE_—F+-B=+—H %%
FOREUETAENZESZTEMN
RERE—GFEREHENEENR
—IEEALLTHRABZSNRG -

KZEZ—F+="HA=+—H’8i#&
AR T {8 73 3 15157,589,0007T %R &
HETHEAERNSHRBIREEE
B> @ AETEIHENLETESR
EhkxfEESsE BHE_T-__F+=
B=+—HIEEE  Z&EBALEHK
ZREHEENFBRE  REABE
142,620,000 (Z B - — 4 : ) o
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17 Other financial assets (Continued) 17 Hthii & E (8)

(b)  (Continued) () (@
As at 31 December 2021, the latter had a carrying value K_E_—%+-_B=+—H %%
of HK$3,599,000. During the year ended 31 December IREE A B 3,599,000 - HEE_ZT
2022, the Group did not acquire any shares of the equity —_ZE+ZHBA=+—BLEE Fx&E
security (2021: acquired the shares in the equity security ElEEEZRAESNEMBKEHN (2
at a cost of HK$4,415,000), but disposed of all the shares T —F P A 154,415,000t BY BY 45
of the equity security at a consideration of HK$3,254,000 BEZRAEBZSHPNRM  EEWH
(2021: Nil). EZRAZBATNZEHRG > KER

H13,254,000c (ZBZ—F 1 §|) °

(c) As at 31 December 2021, the amounts represented USD- ) MZEBEZ—%+ZHB=+—H &%
denominated investment funds. They mainly invested BAUETHENKREES  TER
in equities, bonds, and might invest in other funds and BERREESF > TMHERERHEM
financial derivative instruments. BEEsREMITETR -
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did BE_SE_—_F+-"HA=+—HIL#E
not acquire any units in investment funds (2021: acquired Ex&EBIRBERRAKERES
units in investment funds at a cost of HK$69,926,000), BA(ZTZ—F: U #H169,926,000
and disposed of all the units in investment funds at a THREABEEREESENMN) EE
consideration of HK$79,961,000 (2021: Nil). HEMBEREESE M KEABK

79,961,000t (ZE - —F { ) o

18 Trade receivables and contract assets 18 BINERRRAENEE
2022 2021
g —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Jiog= BT BT T
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance FEUTBE 3% » 0 B& &5 18 & & (a) 27,134 24,969
Contract assets, net of loss allowance &#HEE > MREEEBE (b 14,959 15,241
42,093 40,210

BRBEEFESZERAR
TETTFER
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18 Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

(@

(b)

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

Less than 1 month YH—EA
1 to 3 months —Z=@A4
3 to 12 months =E+Z@EAB
Over 12 months BE+—@EA

All the above balances are expected to be recovered
within one year and some of them are covered by deposits
from customers (see Note 27).

Further details on the Group'’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 26(a).

Contract assets, net of loss allowance

The Group's contracts include payment schedules which
require stage payments over the contract period once
milestones are reached. These payment schedules
prevent the build-up of significant contract assets.

All of the revenue recognised during the year are from
performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied)
in the current year.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

18 BUWIRAR KR EHEER)

(@

(b)

FEUR AR TR - HIBRASIE MR

AR S 53 4R

RREHR > REZBHRNBRER
BHEFE > BURIRRBREOTNT :

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
ABET T BT T
13,751 15,769
8,132 4,614

4,851 3,970

400 616

27,134 24,969

TEHR b SRR AT i —E R WE - B
ETHIZEREMNERESHARE(R
H15227) o

ERAEREERRNERERE
ENEERMNE— D HEBEE M
5#26(a) °

BHNEE > NIRGREE
FEENGHNEEIREREER > RE
EERERERRRNAGOBREMIME
BB ZFARERRRLER K
EXEHNEE-

FREINAEREERAREEE
BER(RBRERNBIERE -
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18 Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

(b)

Contract assets, net of loss allowance (Continued)
The amount of contract assets expected to be recovered
after more than one year is HK$1,901,000 (2021:
HK$4,936,000). All of the other contracts assets are
expected to be recovered within one year.

19 Other receivables, prepayments and other

contract costs

Other receivables and prepayments
Other contract costs

(@

(b)

Hth &K a7

Other receivables and prepayments
All other receivables and prepayments are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs capitalised as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 relate to the costs to fulfil contracts with
customers at the reporting date. Other contract costs
are recognised as part of “cost of purchases” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period
in which revenue from the related sales or services is
recognised. There was no impairment loss recognised in
relation to the opening balance of capitalised costs or the
costs capitalised during the year (2021: Nil).

All other contract costs are expected to be recovered or
recognised as expenses within one year.

18

19

H At FE IR IE K TR R IR

FBUWARFR RS HEE (&)

SHNEE > MREBEREE)
EHrEBBE—EBRKENEHNEE
& 28 A5 161,901,000 (ZBEZ—4F:
75 1%4,936,0007T) c FRTBEEHM GO &
EREER—FERKE -

(b)

HthEUhIE « A RIERE
fth & 49 A 2

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—%F
Note HK$'000 HKS$'000
Htat A FT BT T
1G] 12,479 7,638
(®) 7,078 4,518
19,557 12,156

(@) EfthFEU k18K TE S FHRIE

FREHEMBEKRERRNREES
R—ERlEx#EREHR% -

Hith & 4Rz

NZEZZERZE=-—%+=H
=S+—HEXLOWEME LMK 24 E
RBEAHBITEERSNMNKEE
B o Hth S MM ANKEHEMAEER
RENBEERDARNGESER
RABRATRBRAIN—89 o F
Ao TEARE AR AR RS
BRABERCBBEBE(CE_—F:

#®) o

(b)

FREEMENMRARBR—FERUE
HERBFAX

BRBEEFESZERAR
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20 Non-current assets classified as assets held 20

for sale

On 26 December 2022, the Group entered into an agreement to

sell its entire interest of 20% of Nanfang at a consideration of
RMB6,432,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,176,000) to
BEEFLE(RBR)BR AT, a subsidiary of the controlling
shareholder of Nanfang. As at 31 December 2022, the process

of transfer of shares was not completed and the interest in

an associate with the carrying amount of HK$567,000 was

classified as assets held for sale.

21 Trade creditors, contract liabilities and other 21

payables

Trade creditors

Customer deposits received
Accrued charges and other payables
Contract liabilities

Lease liabilities

Representing
— Non-current
— Current

P& 3 BR 7K

BREREE

P& 51 58 32 K EL A FE A TR IR
BHER

HE&R

SEAKMEHEEENIER
'5E
KRIEZZHFE+ZHAZ+ B x&E3FT
Tt UKEA AR 16,432,0005T (16
BB E7176,0000) HEFRRFENRm A
20%MEREZFEEETFLEMFRE
RBABR(AAZERKENKB AT K
ZE_FE+ZHA=+—H K EER
FiERTER FME—MEE QE# =GR
H{E %A B H567000T) P EARFFLRESE
o

RS  SHBRREME
RE Q]

2022 2021
—E-F T —F

Note HKS$'000 HKS$'000
Ktz BT BT T
(a) 8,784 9,098
(b) 111,859 116,188
30,376 34,031

(©) 11,578 14,939
(d) 884 1,200
163,481 175,456

190 269

163,291 175,187

163,481 175,456
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21 Trade creditors, contract liabilities and other 21 FE{JRF - SN G EBERHtE

payables (Continued) 3 7% 18 (48)
(@) Trade creditors (@) PFE(FERFR
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis MRS R MEZHRAASE > BN
of trade creditors, based on the invoice date, is as follows: IRAERE DT :
2022 2021
—¥-_C —E—F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
BETR BT T
Less than 1 month DE—ER 8,758 8,972
1 to 3 months —Z={@A4 26 126
8,784 9,098
(b) Customer deposits received (b) BWERESE
Deposits received are monies received from customers BEWEEATRFEEAFTRASEEN
before they are allowed to make trade transactions AMETEZIRZHBE R WEH R
through the use of the Group’s systems. Generally, He —MAKR > FRAAMNRBBHIRS
customers are only allowed to incur transaction charges B EUBRRAAERZMNEES
up to the amount deposited with the Group. Deposits are ReoBENEERERTURE

refundable to customers on demand.

() Contract liabilities ) &H&EfE
When the Group receives a deposit before the production AEBEREETERBIRERS »
activity commences this will give rise to contract liabilities R ENRENERSNEaE B
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised FERANEEKZBEREEE
on the project exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Al -BRENEEWMB)HEREEZR
amount of the deposit, if any, was negotiated on a case by BEREMESY -

case basis with customers.

B RETFEZERAT
TETFER
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21 Trade creditors, contract liabilities and other 21 FE{JRF - SN G EBERHtE

payables (Continued) 3 7% 18 (48)
() Contract liabilities (Continued) ) &H&EEE)

Movements in contract liabilities

BHNRRENED

2021
—E-—fF
HK$’000
BT T
As at 1 January B“—B—H 14,939 15,335
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result SHNEREERFANREDR
of recognising revenue during the yearthat HB#Ist A SN EEHN
was included in the contract liabilities at the U 2 M &t 2
beginning of the period (14,528) (14,781)
Increase in contract liabilities as aresult of A EEEIRH T EM
billing in advance i 11,167 14,385
As at 31 December K+ZB=+—H 11,578 14,939

As at 31 December 2022, the amount of billings in
advance of performance expected to be recognised as

income after more than one year is HK$256,000 (2021:
HK$411,000).

KT+ =-HA=+—H8 EH
BHR—FEBRIARANBLORE
5T & & % A B 256,000 (2B = —
£F 1 #%411,0007T) ©

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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21 Trade creditors, contract liabilities and other

payables (Continued)

(d)

Lease liabilities

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group's lease liabilities at the end of the

reporting period:

Within one year
More than one year but within
five years

Less: total future interest expenses

Present value of lease liabilities

—£R
BE—FELER

AR ERZBE

HE&ERE

21 BHERMAR - SHEREREME
{7k 18 (48)

d) HEARE
TRETFEERBREHREAEER
NRERS QA :

2022 2021
“ECCE ZEZ-F
Present Present
value of the 1(EIN  value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHE REHE REHE REHEE
FRRE IR A fTRRE INEEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR AR BETT BETT

694 709 931 948

190 191 269 272

884 900 1,200 1,220
(16) (20)

884 1,200
BRBETESBRAR

“ETTFER
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23

24

=t (48)

Provision for long service payments 22 REARRTEE B
2022 2021
g B
HK$’'000 HKS$'000
AT BT
As at 1 January B“—B—H 2,805 3,012
Released B# K - (12)
Provision charged/(credited) to profit or loss HEZENR(GTA)
Y 5 1 5 (195)
As at 31 December K+ZB=+—H 2,810 2,805
Employee retirement benefits 23 EEEBAKEHN
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the AEERB(EERGIMELBEHEGRE)
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident ARB(EARBEEIBRENEES » RiL
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the EHMABEE(aBEEE) - BE
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF EHEABIZTTAEENARATEHIEAK
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered e RERBESHE BRTHEEES
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer BREEHBESEREEBRA B5%H #
and its employees are each required to make contributions to M mABERRAERMUEABE30000TAH L
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a fRoAEEMGAEFENERNEGREES
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to RS -
the plan vest immediately.
Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 URKEEBLEURKRMDAERD

(@) Share option scheme

The Share Option Scheme currently in operation was
adopted on 9 May 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme
2014"), whereby options will be granted to eligible
persons, including Directors, employees, consultants,
business associates or advisers as the Board of the
Company may identify from time to time (“Grantees”),
entitling them to subscribe for shares of the Company,
subject to acceptance of the Grantees and the payment
of HKS$1.00 by each of the Grantees upon acceptance
of the options. Each option gives the holder the right to
subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

X5

(@) HERetEstEl
RITBRESER-_Z—NFREAAN
HERM (" —NEERESE)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
B 75 3 2} MY 5% (/)

24 Equity-settled share-based transactions
(Continued)

(@

Share option scheme (Continued)

The share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme 2014 vest after 12 months (25%), 24 months
(50%), 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%)
respectively from date of grant and then exercisable
within a period of 10 years. The Grantee may exercise
the share options subject to the conditions in respective
option offering letter. The subscription amount payable in
respect of each share upon the exercise of an option shall
be determined by the board of directors and shall be not
less than the greater of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares on the SEHK as
stated in the SEHK's daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of such option; and

(i)  the average closing price of the shares on the SEHK
as stated in the SEHK’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant of such option.

24 URESHLEURBAERD
X5 (1)

(@

RB e R 5t B (4R)

RE_Z-—HNFERESIELD
Bk EREBHES+ZEA -
“t+HER =+ EAKRIE+/\E
B %> 7 5l 5 E25% ~ 50% ~ 75% &
100% > BEEERA K+ FEHBAITE - XK
& AN ] 12 BR48 B s AR 1 A9 oK 1 P 8
ETEBRE - FITEBREM
ARBREROZIMNNDBRESH
EFRETE  BABIRTIRSE:

() HERERLABHNREBHR
FieEA®REXRMINRDKER
BRPAEIR T E ; &

(i) EEBRERLBHHAEE
(B REBBMXFSRRKRE
PR 5 BR 19 1S & B Bk X PR B9 F
B HE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 LIRESHETLLUKRMDAERB

(Continued) R 5% (48)
(@) Share option scheme (Continued) (@) FEERGRESTEI(AE)
The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during TXHINERNEENERENER
the year are as follows, whereby all share options are RGEHs B FREEREURGNE
settled by physical delivery of shares: MERNEER :
Number of Contractual
instruments Vesting conditions life of options
BRI
TEEBE HBEH EHER
Options granted to directors:
BIEFEENBRE:
—on 30 June 2014 4,600,000 12 months (100%) from 30 June 2014 10 years
-HRZE—WmENRB=1+H BE-Z—MWEA=+HiEs12EA +4&
(100%)
- on 30 June 2014 1,700,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-KZE—WESRA=1+H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +
from 30 June 2014
BE-Z—MWEA=+HiEs12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%)
T2 481E B (100%)
- on 2 July 2015 800,000 100% on 2 July 2015 10 years
-RZE—AFtHAZH KIZE—HEFtHAZHE100% + &
- on 2 July 2015 1,700,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZE—AFEtHAZH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&

from 2 July 2015
B-E—AFtHAZHE12/E8(25%) *
2418 B (50%) ~ 361& A (75%) & 481E B

(100%)

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

R %5 ¥ < MY 5E (48)

24 Equity-settled share-based transactions

(Continued)

(@) Share option scheme (Continued)

X5 (1)

() FERRHEEEI(R)

24 UREGE L URMGSERN

Number of Contractual
instruments Vesting conditions life of options
FERZ R
TH¥BE HEBEHRHG AHNER
- on 4 July 2016 3,000,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZE—X"EtAMNA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + &
from 4 July 2016
BEZZ—XEtBAMmA®E12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%)
K2 481E B (100%)
- on 28 April 2017 3,900,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-KZE—tHFEWmAZ+/\H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + &
from 28 April 2017
BEZZ—t&E&mAZ+/\BiEst12EH
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%)
K:4818 B (100%)
- on 4 May 2018 4,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZE—-/\FRHAM@H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 4 May 2018
B-ZE—/\FHEAMNHE12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%)
K24818 B (100%)
—on 12 April 2019 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZE-hAEmEA+ZH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 12 April 2019
BZZE—NFHWOA+ZHE12@A
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%)
K2 481E B (100%)
BRRETEZERAA
TR THFR
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 LIRESHE T LURMDAERB

(Continued) X5 (8)
(@) Share option scheme (Continued) (@) FEERGRESTEI(AE)
Number of Contractual
instruments Vesting conditions life of options
FERZ R
TH¥BE HEBEHRHG B EH
- on 17 April 2020 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZEZEFEMB+tH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 17 April 2020
BEZZ_ZFMA+tHEH12EAR
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%) &
4818 A (100%)
- on 16 April 2021 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-KZEZT—FMB+~H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + &
from 16 April 2021
BEZZ-—FMA+/BEFH12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%) &
481E B (100%)
- on 19 April 2022 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZZEZ-_fmA+hH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4&

from 19 April 2022

B-E__FWA+NBE12EAR
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 361& B (75%)
24818 A (100%)

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 LIRESHETLLUKRMDAERB

(Continued) R 5% (48)
(@) Share option scheme (Continued) (@) FEERGRESTEI(AE)
Number of Contractual
instruments Vesting conditions life of options
FERZ R
TH¥BE HEBEHRHG AHNER
Options granted to employees:
BETFRENEBRE:
—on 30 June 2014 1,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-HRZE—WmENRNB=1+H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 30 June 2014
BZE—WEA=+HE12@A
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%) &
4818 A (100%)
- on 2 July 2015 1,200,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-KZZE—HEFtHAZH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + &
from 2 July 2015
BZZ—AFEtAZHE12EB(25%)
2418 B (50%) ~ 361& B (75%) k4818 B
(100%)
- on 4 July 2016 1,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-HRZZE—AREtHA@H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4&

from 4 July 2016
BZZ—"ELtHAMHEES 1288 (25%)
2418 B (50%) ~ 361E A (75%) X% 481& B

(100%)

BRBEEFESZERAR
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 LIRESHE T LURMDAERB

(Continued) X5 (8)
(@) Share option scheme (Continued) (@) FEERGRESTEI(AE)
Number of Contractual
instruments Vesting conditions life of options
FERZ R
TH¥BE HEBEHRHG AHNER
- on 28 April 2017 1,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZE—tH&EMmB=+/\H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 28 April 2017
BZE—tHFMAZ+/\HEF12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%) &
4818 A (100%)
- on 4 May 2018 2,000,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-HKIE—-/\EHEHAMWEA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + &
from 4 May 2018
BZZE—/\SHAMAEs12{@8 (25%) *
2418 B (50%) ~ 361E A (75%) & 481E B
(100%)
- on 12 April 2019 2,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
- ZE—AENB+=H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4&
from 12 April 2019
BE-E—NFHNA+-HEs12@A
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%) &
481& A (100%)
—on 17 April 2020 2,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZIEZZEEMB+tH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + &

from 17 April 2020

BEZZ_ZFMA+tHEFH12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 361& B (75%) &
481E A (100%)

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
Annual Report 2022



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 LIRESHETLLUKRMDAERB

(Continued) R 5% (48)
(@) Share option scheme (Continued) (@) FEERGRESTEI(AE)
Number of Contractual
instruments Vesting conditions life of options
FERZ R
TH¥BE HEBEHRHG AHNER
- on 16 April 2021 2,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-HRZEZ—FWMA+XH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 16 April 2021
—E_—FMA+/BEEH12ER
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%) &
4818 A (100%)
- on 19 April 2022 3,000,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RZEZ-FWA+AhAH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + &
from 19 April 2022
BEZZ-_FWMA+ABE12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%) &
481E B (100%)
Options granted to ex-employees:
BEFHERENERE:
—on 30 June 2014 2,400,000 100% on 30 June 2014 10 years
-KIZZE—HmERA=1+H RZZE—MNEXA=+H5100% +&F
- on 30 June 2014 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
-RIE—mEAB=+H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4&

from 30 June 2014

BZZE—MNEFEA=1+HE12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%) &
481& A (100%)

BRBEEFESZERAR
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

R %5 ¥ < MY 5E (48)

24 Equity-settled share-based transactions

(Continued)

(@) Share option scheme (Continued)

- on 2 July 2015
-HRZZE—HAFEEHAZH

- on 2 July 2015
-HRZZE—HAFELHATH

—on 4 July 2016
-RZE-—AREtHAOH

—on 4 July 2016
-RZE-—AREtHAOH

- on 28 April 2017
-RZE—tH&mMBZ=+/\H

Number of

instruments

IAR%AB

2,400,000

500,000

1,600,000

500,000

500,000

63,400,000

24 URESHLEURBAERD
X5 (1)

() FERRHEEEI(R)

Contractual

Vesting conditions life of options

IR
55 B 1R 1 BHEH
100% on 2 July 2015 10 years
RZE-—HEFEHAZHF100% + &
12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years

36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&F

from 2 July 2015
BEZZ—AEtHAZHEF12E8(25%)

241E B (50%) ~ 361 B (75%) & 481 B

(100%)
100% on 4 July 2016 10 years
HRZE—AR"EtBMEHE100% +4&
12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years

36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + £
from 4 July 2016
BEZZ—A"EtAMBEH12EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%)
24818 B (100%)

12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + 5
from 28 April 2017

BE-E—tHE@mBZ+/\HE12BH
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 3618 B (75%) &

481& A (100%)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions

(Continued)

(@) Share option scheme (Continued)

The number and weighted average exercise prices of

share options are as follows:

Outstanding as at 1 January
Granted during the year
Forfeited during the year

Outstanding as at 31 December

Exercisable as at 31 December

K—B—BHRTE
FRFH

ERRK
RtZB=+—HHKTE

R+_R=+—-Ha{Tf

No share options was exercised during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

The options outstanding as at 31 December 2022 had
exercise prices ranging from HK$1.09 to HK$1.90 (2021:
ranging from HK$1.09 to HK$1.90) and weighted average

remaining contractual life of 5.2 years (2021: 5.7 years).

24 URREGHLEURHASERD
X5 (1)

(@

2022
—ECCE

Weighted
average
exercise

price
ik o)
fTEE

1.47

R et 5t 8 (4R)
BRENZERINEFTEENT

2021
—Z-F

Weighted

average
Number of exercise Number of
options price options
i §::4 M FY BB
L] TRE ¥B
'000 HKS '000
T BT Tk
56,000 1.52 52,400
7,400 1.22 6,800
- 1.46 (3,200)
63,400 1.51 56,000
45,825 39,175

BE_ZE__F#+-_HA=+—HBHKZ
E-—F+-_HA=+—HLEEEAK
EITHEEABRAE -

MZZEZZH&+ZA=+—H> #HXk
TEERENTEEN EEK1.097T
ERBBIOT(ZEZ—F . NFEBE
1.097T E & ¥#1.907T) » H N # F 15
BENERAE(CZE—F:57
F) o

BRBEEFESZERAR

“ETTFER
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions
(Continued)

(b) Fair value of share options and assumptions
The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair value
of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value
of the share options granted is measured based on Black
Scholes Model. The contractual life of the share option is
used as an input into this model.

24 UREGE L URMGSERN

X5 (1)

(b)) BRENQALEBEERER
FARLBEREAEMESHORS
ARBE DH2RERHBRENR
ABENE BERHERENMGSQ
ABEDREBODRTEIRNAE -
EEXTEARERENSOER -

Fair value of share options and assumptions BRENAREERRERR
2022 2021
—g-C B
Fair value at measurement date Rt EHHEMN QA AEE HK$0.080 HK$0.063
#&0.0805T 7 1£0.0637T
Share price [ HK$1.16 HK$1.22
#A¥1.167T AHE1.227T
Exercise price TEE HK$1.17 HK$1.22
A7 AHE1.227T
Expected volatility (expressed as weighted ~ FEHE K 18 (32 1A N R &7 8
average volatility used in the modelling HrE P A 2 I T35
under Black Scholes Model) KiEE25) 20.2% 19.9%
Option life (expressed as weighted EREARBGERANR
average life used in the modelling under FHHENXTAZ miE 5 years 5 years
Black-Scholes model) FHERHEN) 5% 5%
Expected dividends TEERRG B 6.9% 6.9%
Risk-free interest rate (based on the yield of & & [ | & (32 & B T
Hong Kong Government Bonds) BEHEREEXFTEH) 2.49% 0.60%

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions
(Continued)

(b)

Fair value of share options and assumptions
(Continued)

Fair value of share options and assumptions (Continued)
The expected volatility is made with reference to the
daily historical volatilities of the Company with period
commensurate to the expected option life. Expected
dividends are based on historical dividends. Changes in
the subjective input assumptions could materially affect
the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition.
This condition has not been taken into account in the
grant date fair value measurement of the services
received. There were no market conditions associated
with the share option grants.

24 URESHLEURBAERD
X5 (1)

(b)

fBlRENLAREERRER(E)

BREN2RGEER KRR
FHKEDR2E S B BERAER
BREARHRERARZHBNSE
HELKEFEL - FHREDESB
TREME - AFstENETERBRU
BEN JEHQAABENGHEE
-2

BREZENERERBNKEGER
He stEPMBRMURBRRLIBHAZ
NABEER > MEEBZEGEGTG - &
HRERERTINER -

BRBEEFESZERAR
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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25 Capital and reserves 25 BXki#fE
(@) Movements in components of equity (@) H#HmEGZEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing TEBRFYIRFREBONGEE#
balances of each component of the Group's consolidated mAERRHERE I A SR TR o
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes KRBABIUERSTBEFVNEFELDN
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s EEFEBEHIIWMT

individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out as below:

The Company b /N |
Share Capital Retained Total
capital reserve profits equity

RE HAxHEE REEMN EZEE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ABTx EBTr EEBTn AEETX

As at 1 January 2021 BK=ZE=-—%
—HB—H 296,093 7176 64,182 367,451
Dividends approved in respectof ~EEEBHLERE
the previous year (Note 71) (Hta£11) - - (57,611) (57,611)
Equity-settled share-based DURG #E A E T Y
transactions BHRAERNRKRS = 378 - 378
Lapse of share options BRERN = (337) 337 -
Total comprehensive income for AN EE 2 H K &
the year 4 2R = = 77,368 77,368
Dividends declared in respect of ~ AN EEBRZH K%
the current year (Note 77) BB (A aE11) = - (22,250) (22,250)
As at 31 December 2021 RoE-—%
+=B=+—H 296,093 7,217 62,026 365,336
Dividends approved inrespect of EEEBHERE
the previous year (Note 77) (Kta£11) - - (51,254)  (51,254)
Equity-settled share-based LURG ¥ 45 Bt L
transactions RO ABERNRS - 440 - 440
Total comprehensive income for 7 &£ E 2 @ UL &
the year 4EEE - - 63,774 63,774
Dividends declared in respect of  Zs £ FE B R :5% Ik %
the current year (Note 71) BB B (M aE11) - - (14,542) (14,542)
As at 31 December 2022 BR-ZEZZ
+=-B=+—H 296,093 7,657 60,004 363,754

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
Annual Report 2022



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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25 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(b) Share capital

0]

(i)

Issued share capital

Ordinary shares, issued and
fully paid:

K—B—Hx&
+-A=+—H

As at 1 January and 31 December

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the
Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared from time to time and
are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of
the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Shares issued under share option schemes

During the years ended December 2022 and 2021,
no share options have been exercised to subscribe
for ordinary shares of the Company.

LER BROTRAR:

25 EXERFEGE)
(b) Re#
(i) BBRITERE
2022 2021
—E-C —E_—&
Number of Number of
shares Amounts shares Amounts
Kin B E & E 8
in'000 HK$'000 in'000 HK$'000
T BETT T BETT
794,634 296,093 794,634 296,093
RIEFT BB E BN E135F »
KRB EBERILEREE
ZERIFEARERIKERER
FIRENRE  TEERER
AAGLMERE—REREMNRE
—E-FIEZAERBAAARR
TEEZERS#R o
(i) IRBERESIRTHRG

BE_BE__FR-BEZ—F
+ZB=+—HLEE > #ifE
BEREETEUDBEAQAE
‘g e

BRBEEFESZERAR

TETTFER
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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25 Capital and reserves (Continued) 25 HEFXKf#E(E)
(b) Share capital (Continued) (b) BRZ(48)
(iii) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options (i) PSRRI KITER
at the end of the reporting period: BRIERI R TR :

2022 2021

—=E-C —E-—f&F

Number of Number of

Exercise period Exercise price options options

THEH THEE 121 EREHE

30 June 2014 to 29 June 2024 HKS$1.90 10,500,000 10,500,000
—E—NEAB=+HHEZE_MOEASB=-+ANH A#1.907T

2 July 2015 to 1 July 2025 HKS$1.78 6,600,000 6,600,000
TE-AFtAZHEZZE-AEtHA—H #1787

4 July 2016 to 3 July 2026 HK$1.57 6,500,000 6,500,000
—E-RNFEtHANBE_ZE-_FEtHA=H A #1575

28 April 2017 to 27 April 2027 HKS$1.592 5,800,000 5,800,000
—E—tEMBZ+/\HE #H51.5925T

“ETtEHFEMAZ++tHH

4 May 2018 to 3 May 2028 HKS$1.34 6,300,000 6,300,000
- )\FHERANBE_ZE-_/)\FHA=H A 1£1.345T

12 April 2019 to 11 April 2029 HK$1.406 6,700,000 6,700,000
—hEmMBE+-_HE_E_hEMB+—H 7B #1.4067T

17 April 2020 to 16 April 2030 HKS1.09 6,800,000 6,800,000
TECEFNA+EHEEZIZE=FMA+<H B 11.097T

16 April 2021 to 15 April 2031 HK$1.22 6,800,000 6,800,000
—E - FNMA+AHE_ZE=—FMA+AHH HiE1.225T

19 April 2022 to 18 April 2032 HK$1.17 7,400,000 =
_E__HFNA+ABEZZE="_#WA+/\H BEE1TTT

63,400,000 56,000,000
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25 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(©

Nature and purpose of reserves

0]

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the grant date
fair value of unexercised share options granted
to directors, employees and ex-employees of
the Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policies adopted for share based
payments set out in Note 1(q)(ii).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 1(r).

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net
change in the fair value of debt securities measured
at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 held at the end of the
reporting period (see Note 1(i)).

Other reserve

The other reserve is non-distributable and
represents transfer from annual profits up to a
maximum of 50% of the issued and paid up capital
of the Macau subsidiary in accordance with the
Macau Commercial Code.

25 EaxKki#fE (&)

(©

HENEERAR
() &ExfHE
EXARBERBEERTERAE

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

ZE-RBENFTEBELRBFEHN
M 1)) TR B 8 7= B R
32 A T R 4% B9 & 51 B3R PR 52
BEARTEBRENKRSEBH
NREE -

ERE
ER#GEEEBERESEIQF
MBRERFMEENAEERZ
B ARRBERBHEKME
1NN EETHRER -

NAEEMEE
AABEEREEERBRSHEX
FREFNRB(ERBMBHRSER)
FOREBEMEANRTRARN
BEFENEHEESFAAEME
REt@sFE(BME)) -

H{th % 8
HithEEAROT DK LR
BEMEZHE BEMAKBA
AEETRBEREAUES
50% AR FEEHEFEE o
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25 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(d)

()

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount
of reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company was HK$60,004,000 (2021:
HK$62,026,000). After the end of the reporting period, the
directors proposed a final dividend of HK 4.67 cents per
ordinary share (2021: HK 6.45 cents per share), amounting
to HK$37,109,000 (2021: HK$51,254,000). The directors
also proposed a special dividend of HK 2.75 cents per
ordinary share (2021: Nil), amounting to HK$21,853,000.
These dividends have not been recognised as a liability at
the end of the reporting period.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to enable the Group to meet its liabilities as
they fall due for the foreseeable future. The Group has no
external borrowing at the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s capital structure is regularly reviewed and
managed with due regard to the capital management
objectives of the Group.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

25 EaxKki#fE (&)

(d)

(®

A {4 53 ik {8

KZEBE__&#+-HA=+—H - 8t
DIRFRNBDEETEANEERLE
% B 60,004,000 (ZE=Z—F: 8
#£62,026,0007T) ° IR EHAFR 2% >
EERKERAREER ZBERLO7
BU(ZEZ—F . 8K6.45%81W) > &
+ & #37109,000c (B - —F :
75 #551,254,0007T) - EETNE & Ik &
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26 Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risk

arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. These risks

are limited by the Group’s financial management policies and

practices described below.

@

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade receivables, contract assets
and investments in debt securities. The Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and
deposits with banks is limited because the counterparties
are major banks, for which the Group considers to
represent low credit risk. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from refundable rental deposits is considered
to be low, taking into account (i) the landlords’ credit
rating and (ii) the remaining lease term and the period
covered by the rental deposits.

Trade receivables and contract assets

Credit terms offered by the Group to customers are
based on individual commercial terms negotiated with
customers. Credit periods generally range from one day
to one month.

When the Company registers a customer as a subscriber,
the customer is automatically assigned with a credit limit
based on the amount of its deposit or bank guarantee.
The amount of deposit is determined on a customer-by-
customer basis, depending on its usage of the Company’s
services. Generally, if a customer reaches or exceeds
its credit limit before the normal billing cycle, an ad
hoc bill will be issued to the customers for payment by
bank direct debit. However, if a customer is in default of
payment for whatever reason, its account is automatically
suspended from operation until all outstanding charges
have been fully settled. For that reason, customers may
also, and often do, place deposits with the Company from
time to time to cover their charges.
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26 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

(@

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

There is, however, no credit policy for the Company’s
ad hoc customers who are required to pay the relevant
charges (including service charges, service centre
handling fees and Government fees) in full when using the
Company over-the-counter services.

The Group'’s exposure to credit risk from trade receivables
and contract assets is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather than the industry
or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise
when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 23.8%
(2021: 16.5%) and 26.0% (2021: 30.0%) of the total trade
receivables and contract assets was due from the
Group'’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group'’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
contract assets are set out in Note 78.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
indicates different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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26 Financial risk management and fair values 26 H#EAKEERAAEE(E)
(Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued) (@) fEEREGE)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) WS RSHNEE(E)
The following table provides information about the TRIEHEHAEBRFERNES
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade BABUNREKRESRRENEETELRS
receivables and contract assets: EEBRENER

2022
kSl -
Provision
Gross on
carrying individual ECL Total loss

amount basis rates ECLs allowance
IR A% FHEE FEHEE BEEE
B BfE BEE §518 {858

HK$'000 HKS$'000 % HKS'000 HK$'000
AT BYETw % BETRT BETR
Current (not past due) BRER (k@ HA) 26,914 (129) 0.1% (20) (149)
Less than 1 month past due mOK—MEA 5,265 - 0.4% (23) (23)
1 to 3 months past due BmE—Z==@EA 4,801 - 0.7% (34) (34)
Over 3 months past due mABE=EA 5,941 (385) 4.3% (237) (622)
42,921 (514) (314) (828)
2021
BT &

Provision

Gross on
carrying individual ECL Total loss
amount basis rates ECLs allowance

fRE 85 FREGEE BHMEE GRER
e B BEX BE B

HK$'000 HKS$'000 % HK$'000 HKS$'000

BETT BETT % AT BEFR

Current (not past due) ENEA (R H) 28,945 (126) - - (126)
Less than 1 month past due BHALR—MER 4,580 - - - -
1 to 3 months past due BPE—Z=fA 2,564 - - - -
Over 3 months past due BHAEE=EA 4,948 (305) 8.5% (396) (701)
41,037 (431) (396) (827)
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26 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

@

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)
Expected credit loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past one year. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group's
view of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Receivables that were not past due relate to a wide
range of customers for which allowance is made on an
individual basis based on expected loss rate determined
on the basis described above.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management considers that allowance is made in respect
of balances on both individual and collective basis
based on expected loss rate determined on the basis as
described above.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
trade receivables and contract assets during the year is
as follows:

As at 1 January
Amounts written off during the year

As at 31 December

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

K—B—H
FERMEEEE
Impairment losses recognised during the year £ A B F =28 {8 5 18
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26 Financial risk management and fair values

(Continued)

(@) Creditrisk (Continued)

Investments in debt securities

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of

debt securities measured at FVOCI during the year is as

follows:

Balance as at 1 January
Reversal of impairment loss during
the year

Balance as at 31 December

(b) Liquidity risk

12-month
ECL

12{A BT
EEER
HK$'000
BB

K—B— B
ERAERRED

1447

(1,447)

K+ZR=t+—-BR&H# -

All cash management of the Group, including the

short term investment of cash surpluses and raising

of loans, if needed, to cover expected cash demands,

are managed centrally by the Company. The Group’s

policy is to regularly monitor current and expected

liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending

covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves

of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and

adequate committed lines of funding from major financial

institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short

and longer term.

26 MBEAMKREERAIAEEGR

EE R (8)
ABESFRE
FERFHAZBEMZERERAR
BEMAENREESFNGEHEERK

(@

BEsMT:
2022 2021
- Jonenk - “EC-F
Lifetime 12-month Lifetime
ECL Total ECL ECL Total
2BEY 2MEREHR 2HES
EEER BN FEFR  EEER st
HK$'000  HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AETT BELET:L S-S
- 1,447 2,140 1,189 3,329
- (1,447) (693) (1,189) (1,882
- - 1,447 = 1,447
(b) RENE R

FEENMEREEEIF(BER
TEHRNEAREREEERMWME
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26 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s current liabilities
was HK$164,142,000. Except for contract liabilities of
HK$11,578,000, all trade creditors and other payables of
HK$151,713,000 as indicated in Note 27, were due to be
repaid during the next financial year or repayable upon
demand. The Group will address the short-term liquidity
requirement inherent in this contractual maturity date
with internal resources.

(c) Interestrate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest
rate risk arises primarily from floating rate bank balances,
which expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits
by approximately HK$1,271,000 (2021: HK$3,728,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group's consolidated equity that would
arise assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period. In respect
of the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising
from floating rate bank balances held by the Group at the
end of the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s
profit after tax (and retained profits) is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest income of such a change
in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2021 for cash flow interest rate risk.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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26 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

(d)

(©

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through other financial assets denominated in United
States dollars and investments in PRC and Macau
established entities. Given the fact that the exchange
rates of United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars
are currently pegged, management does not expect that
there will be any significant currency risk associated with
the investment in debt securities denominated in United
States dollars. The Group has not hedged the foreign
exchange exposure in relation to its investments in PRC
and Macau established entities.

Fair value measurement

HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement categorises fair
value measurements into a three-level hierarchy. The
level into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
disposed of all the units in investment funds, corporate
bonds, single bonds portfolio and equity investments.
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26 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (Continued)
At 31 December 2021, the units in investment funds
measured at FVPL (Note 77) held by the Group fall into
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, whereas all other
financial assets (Note 77) held by the Group fall into Level
1 of the fair value hierarchy.

At 31 December 2021, the fair value of corporate bonds,
single bonds portfolio and equity investments traded in
active markets are based on quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period and included in Level 1.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of investment funds is determined using the
unadjusted net asset value provided by the fund manager.
The units in the investment funds are redeemable at the
reportable net asset value at, or approximately at, the
measurement date.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, nor transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the
date of the event or change in circumstances that caused
the transfer.

27 Capital commitments

Capital commitments contracted for as at 31 December 2022
not provided for in the financial statements amounted to
HK$1,851,000 (2021: HK$277,000). They were mainly in respect
of the purchase of computer equipment for the Group.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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28 Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered into
the following material related party transactions:

(@) Recurring transactions
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
generated revenue of HKS$15,000 (2021: HK$18,000)
from TAL Apparel Limited (“TAL"), an associate of a
substantial shareholder, for providing electronic solutions
in processing certain government related documents.

(b) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the Company’s executive directors
as disclosed in Note 9 and certain of the highest paid
employees as disclosed in Note 70, is as follows:

28 EXRBMALRS
MUEHERRE S HRBORS R

@

(b)

Short-term employee benefits RHEERA
Post-employment benefits rIEZREEN
Equity compensation benefits B A E R A

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note

5@)).

29 Charges on assets and contingent liabilities

Pursuant to the terms of the contracts with the Government, the
Group has obtained two bank guarantees totaling HK$2,176,000
(2021: two bank guarantees totaling HK$2,176,000) from
banks for the due performance of the contracts by the Group.
The bank guarantees and performance bond are secured
by a charge over deposit totaling HK$2,176,000 (2021:
HK$2,176,000).

RS REBTETUTERBEBALR
5.

BREETHRS

BHE-Z--HF+-H=+—HL=E
EAEBMREHEESE THRE
RAXHENEFRRAARRHENRE
RAB(TAL)(BEEREFHNHEAN)
B A 15,000 (ZBE-—F:
#118,0007T) ©

FEEEASHME

TEEBEASME (BERMZIFK
EEMAQRBRTEEIMNRER
KA ZIOFIRBERE TRE 5B

BXAHNRIE)NT:
2022 2021
—E-Cf —E-—&
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET T
19,803 18,265
72 83
333 304
20,208 18,652

B & 42 %8 5t ATE 8 i &~1(R o7 72
5@)) o
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30 Company-level statement of financial

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

position
2021
—E-—fF
Note HKS$'000
K&t BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BRERSKE 19,533 22,828
Interest in an associate Frit—EBE A #ES 16 - 1,282
Interest in subsidiaries B MY /8 A B #E &= 15 89,302 89,475
Other financial assets HMMBEE - 19,235
Deferred tax assets IRIERIBEE E 38 1,088
108,873 133,908
Current assets mENEE
Trade receivables and contract assets EWERNENEE 29,877 31,564
Other receivables, prepayments and HihEW I ~ FEIMIE
other contract costs K Efth & 49 B 25 13,169 7,068
Other financial assets HMBBEEE - 231,364
Taxation recoverable Al Uy [E] 18 2,855 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE UK B B X B I8 3,845 657
Deposits with banks RITER 69,977 44,576
Cash and cash equivalents B hBEEEE 363,860 147,787
483,583 463,016
Non-current assets classified as assets D EAFEHEZTEN
held for sale EREEE 20 567 -
484,150 463,016
Current liabilities mHEE
Trade creditors, contract liabilities and FE{JERF - BN EBER
other payables Hih (T IE 147,718 156,157
Amount due to subsidiaries FE1S B B R B FR 18 78,028 65,329
Taxation payable FEt#RE - 6,358
225,746 227,844
Net current assets mENE EEE 258,404 235,172
Total assets less current liabilities SEHBERARHEE 367,277 369,080
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30 Company-level statement of financial 30 2 5 [E &M ik RE (&)
position (Continued)

2022 2021
—EHF B
Note HK$'000 HKS$'000
Kt &t BT T BT T
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Provision for long service payments RERBEEE 2,383 2,393
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEEE 967 1,186
Other payables Hih (SR8 173 165
3,523 3,744
NET ASSETS HEEE 363,754 365,336
Capital and reserves B REE
Share capital & 2 25(b)(i) 296,093 296,093
Reserves =X 67,661 69,243
TOTAL EQUITY Wi EE 363,754 365,336
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on REFEN_T_=F=BA"+H#tAEX
20 March 2023. HWRETIE o
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P. FE
Chairman ENEEL > sBs,uP
TSE Kam Keung HiTEE
Executive Director 5 38 08
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Non-adjusting events after the reporting
period

After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a
final dividend of HK 4.67 cents per share (2021: HK 6.45 cents
per share) for the year ended 31 December 2022, amounting
to HK$37,109,000 (2021: HKS$51,254,000). The directors also
proposed a special dividend of HK 2.75 cents per share (2021:
Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2022, amounting to
HK$21,853,000. These dividends have not been recognised as a
liability at the end of the reporting period.

Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but not
yet effective for the annual accounting period
ended 31 December 2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2022 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following which
may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts 1 January 2023

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation 1 January 2023
of financial statements: Classification

of liabilities as current or non-current

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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32 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued but not

yet effective for the annual accounting period
ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation
of financial statements and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements: Disclosure of
accounting policies

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting
policies, changes in accounting
estimates and errors: Definition of
accounting estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income
taxes: Deferred tax related to assets
and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

1 January 2023

1 January 2023

1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what

the impact of these developments is expected to be in the

period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the

adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the

consolidated financial statements.

32 BE_FT-_—_F+-BA=+—
B Ik 5 £ & 51 B FH B 58 i B I
REMBIIERT « LR KRERE

AJREEENTE(R)

(BB G ER)E195E
(1E51) » M EBHZHI
EIRBEBMBRE
ZRABHHREH2NM
TEH EXH B - & 5t
B Y # 2B

(BEGsHER)FR
(1E5]) » BatH &

e TV TR
& 51 13 5109 E 5

(BB G ER)E125%
(1&3]) > FriZ#% -
HE—X5ELH
BEREBEFRML

KRT5BEMS
Z&RRWEE
BEHREER
—E-=
—H—H
B =
—H—H
==
—RB—H

AEEREFEZSENTEERBAMB
REELENTE ZSEEEARR > K
ZEEUNRAARAIEEHGEMBRER]EN

EARE-

BRBEEFESZERAR

S

<



Five-Year Financial Summary
hEFEMBHE

Results
(vear ended 31 December)

Revenue

Profit from operations

Other net (loss)/income

Impairment loss on interest in
an associate

Share of results of associates

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company

Profit for the year

Assets and Liabilities
(as at 31 December)

Total non-current assets
Total current assets

Total assets

Total non-current liabilities
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

2022
—B-C
Note HK$'000
i AT
B4

(BE+=F=+—HILFE)

g 2 258,815
TR 124 80,094
2t (B8)  BMABE 4 (20,427)
K—EBERDEENRE

il -
R NG E (585)
bR IR A 59,082
RE 123 (6,749)
KEERH 52,333
BFALRE:

ERRREREA 52,333
KEERR 52,333
BERGHE

(F+=HA=+—-A)

ERBEELE 13 30,869
MEEELE 123 501,692
EENLE 532,561
ErRBaGLE 123 (4,006)
MBAELE 12 (164,142)
BREE (168,148)
BEFE 364,413

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

2021
ZEI-F
HK$'000
BRI

273,825

90,986
(2,035)

(834)
(1,899)

86,218
(12,565)

73,653

73,653

73,653

71,282
493,248

564,530

(4,301)
(181,599)

(185900)

378,630

2020
g g 2.2
HK$'000
ARETT

261,213

77,625
15,161

(9,000)
(1,395)

82,391
(9,591)

72,800

72,800

72,800

109,148
477,097

586,245

(5,379)
(196,539)

(201918)

384,327

2019
“E-hE
HK$'000
BETT

337175

86,694
13,222

(4,500)
798

96,214
(14,013)

82,201

82,201

82,201

328,011
264,282

592,293

(4,614)
(216,752)

(221,366)

370927

2018
“E)\E
HK$'000
BETT

271,930

88,186
16,424

1,540

106,150
(16,382)

89,768

89,768

89,768

363,859
188,743

552,602

(4,382)
(197463)

(201,845)

350,757
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Five-Year Financial Summary (Continued)
EFFEMBERE (&)

Notes to the five year summary:

7

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 16, Leases, with effect from 1 January
2019, the Group has changed its accounting policies in respect of the
lessee accounting model. In accordance with the transitional provisions of
the standard, the changes in accounting policies were adopted by way of
opening balance adjustments to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as at 1 January 2019. After initial recognition of these assets
and liabilities, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise interest
expense accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the previous policy of
recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Figures in years earlier than 2019 are stated in
accordance with the policies applicable in those years.

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with
customers, with effect from 1 January 2018, the Group has changed its
accounting policies in respect of revenue recognition. In accordance with
the transitional provisions of the standard, the changes in accounting
policies were adopted by way of opening balance adjustments to equity as at
1 January 2018. Figures in years earlier than 2018 are stated in accordance
with the policies applicable in those years.

The Group adopted HKFRS 9, Financial instruments from 1 January 2018.
As a result, the Group has changed its accounting policies in relation to
financial instruments. As allowed by HKFRS 9, the Group has not restated
information relating to prior years. Differences in the carrying amounts of the
financial assets resulting from the adoption of HKFRS 9 were recognised in
retained earnings and reserves at 1 January 2018. There was no difference
in the carrying amounts of the financial liabilities. Figures in years earlier
than 2018 are stated in accordance with the policies applicable in those
years.

The following comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss have been reclassified to conform with the year 2022’s presentation:

= Reclassification of other net loss (2021: HKS9,595,000) and other net
income (2020: HKS6,137,000, 2019: HKS1,611,000, 2018: HKS405,000)
to a line below profit from operations.

- Reclassification of reversal of impairment loss on other financial
assets (2021: HKS1,882,000, 2020: HK$99,000) and impairment loss
on other financial assets (2019: HKS1,303,000, 2018: HKS156,000) to
other net (loss)/income.

- Reclassification of interest income (2021: HKS3,340,000, 2020:
HKS10,450,000, 2019: HKS14,985,000, 2018: HKS15,152,000) to other
net (loss)/income.

- Reclassification of net foreign exchange gain (2021: HKS2,338,000,
2018: HKS1,023,000) and net foreign exchange loss (2020:
HKS1,525,000, 2019: HKS2,071,000) from other operating expenses
to other net (loss)/income.

The reclassification made to the comparative figures better present the
operating activities of the Group and there is no significant impact on the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December
2021, 31 December 2020, 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.
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Investor Relations and Key Dates

REEMBLREZHE

The Company encourages two-way communication with both our
institutional and individual investors. Extensive information about
the Company’s activities is provided in the Annual Report. There is
regular communication with institutional and individual investors.
Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to their shareholdings
and the business of the Company are welcome and are dealt with in
an informative and timely manner.

Financial Calendar

Closure of Register of Members:

- to ascertain shareholders 9 May 2023 —-12 May 2023

entitlement to attend and vote (both days inclusive)
at the 2023 Annual General

Meeting

- to ascertain shareholders 19 May 2023 - 23 May 2023

qualified for the Final and (both days inclusive)

Special Dividends

2023 Annual General Meeting 12 May 2023

Payment Date for Final and On or about 31 May 2023

Special Dividends

Listings

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 28 October 2005.

Annual Report 2022

This Annual Report 2022, in both English and Chinese, is now
available in printed form as well as on the Company’s website at www.
tradelink.com.hk and the website of HKEXnews at www.hkexnews.hk

Stock Code

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited — 00536

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Investor Relations and Key Dates (Continued)

REEMGREZHE(E)

Investor Relations

Ms. Wong Siu Yee, Grace

Vice President (Investor Relations and Corporate Communications)

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
11/F & 12/F

Tower B, Regent Centre

63 Wo Yi Hop Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2161 4370

Fax: +852 2506 0188

Email: ir@tradelink.com.hk

Website

www.tradelink.com.hk
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Corporate Information
NEIR=§

Board of Directors EEY

Chairman and Non-executive Director TERIENTES

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P. ETLERE L > sBS,JP
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer) B 87 58 St (7T ECAB &)
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew (Chief Technology Officer) BB ER ST & (BT AR &)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily (Chief Operations Officer) BB T (EEHE)
Non-executive Directors JEHITES

Dr. LEE Delman FEAEL

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth BFXHRE

Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent RKELRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITESE

Mr. CHAK Hubert BEaksE

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay BEEELE

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan BRERERZ L

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy EHEBELE

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. AL E %, > MH, JP.
Board Committees EHGETZEY
Audit Committee EZEZE®

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman) BHEESLE (FE)

Mr. CHAK Hubert BEBitsE

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay BAEEREE

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan ERZ T

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P.

Remuneration Committee

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay (Chairman)
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

AL E LS, > MH,JP

FNEESE

@B L& (£/E)
EThIEE L > sB.S, JP.
EMEE R E
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Corporate Information (Continued)

a & (4])

Nomination Committee

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. (Chairman)
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Investment Committee

Mr. CHAK Hubert (Chairman)
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth

Corporate Governance Committee

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman)
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P.

Senior Management

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew (Chief Technology Officer)

Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily (Chief Operations Officer)
Ms. PANG Kit Fong (Chief Financial Officer)
(was appointed with effect from 1 January 2023)

Company Secretary

Mr. TAI Kwok Hung

Auditor

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor

Registered in accordance with the

Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

Bankers

Dah Sing Bank, Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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Corporate Information (Continued)
Al &8 (&)

Registered Office EE L Y

11/F & 12/F BEERF

Tower B, Regent Centre MESE635E

63 Wo Yi Hop Road BE&POBE

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong 1MER121&

Telephone: +852 2599 1600 #E 5% © +852 2599 1600
Fax: +852 2506 0188 {8 H : +852 2506 0188
Share Registrar i RiB R EEE
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited BEEPRESZLRERAT
Shops 1712-1716 EREF

17/F, Hopewell Centre EFEKEHR183FE

183 Queen’s Road East S MAPO71E

Wan Chai, Hong Kong 1712F1716E
Telephone: +852 2862 8555 E 5% | +852 2862 8555
Fax: +852 2865 0990 {8 H : +852 2865 0990

In case of inconsistencies between the English and Chinese versions, H XMW XZEEHZXRAFT > IFRFTXEZ
the English version shall prevail to the extent of such inconsistencies. Bz L 3 S HR & # o

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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Tradelink

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

11/F & 12/F, Tower B, Regent Centre,

63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2599 1600 Fax: (852) 2506 0188

Corporate Website: www.tradelink.com.hk Business Portal: www.tradelink-ebiz.com

BREETESERAT

EAZERNESE 63 RERH0 BE 11 18K 1218

EaE: (852) 2599 1600 fHE: (852) 2506 0188

AT www.tradelink.com.hk EFEZH4H: www.tradelink-ebiz.com
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